STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

CASE 07-E-0523 - Proceeding on Motion of the Commission as to the Rates, Charges, Rules and Regulations of Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. for Electric Service.

ORDER ESTABLISHING RATES FOR ELECTRIC SERVICE

(Issued and Effective March 25, 2008)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
The Parties' Positions	
1. Con Edison	2
2. New York City Government Customers	3
3. Westchester County	
4. Consumer Protection Board	5
5. New York Power Authority	5
6. Local 1-2	5
7. Retail Energy Supply Association	6
8. NYSERDA	6
9. NRDC and Pace Energy Project	6
10. Consumer Power Advocates	
11. ARE-East River Science Park, LLC	
12. New York Energy Consumers Council, Inc	
13. Reliant Energy, Inc	
Public Statement Hearings	
Comments and Correspondence	
Overview	10
REVENUES	11
Revenue Decoupling	11
Discussion	23
Transmission Congestion Credits	25
Sales Forecast Adjustments	
First Avenue Property Proceeds and Other Credits	32
EXPENSES	32
World Trade Center Costs	32
Finance and Auditing Department Personnel	36
Management Compensation	37
1. Deferred Compensation	37
2. Variable Pay Plan	39
Health Insurance Costs	41
Group Life Insurance	43
East River Repowering Project	43
Vehicle Fuel Costs	44
Informational and Institutional Advertising	45
Interference Expense	48
Customer Service - Field Operations	50
Director and Officer Liability Insurance	50
Site Investigation and Remediation	52
Reserve Accounting For Storms	55
Labor Expense - Normalizing Adjustment	55
Tax Matters	56
1. Property Tax Reconciliation Proposal	56
2. Property Tax Refunds	57
3. New Property Tax Estimate	58
4. Economic Stimulus Act of 2008	58
R&D Costs	59
Productivity Adjustment	60
Emergency Preparedness	61

Mandatory Hourly Pricing (MHP)	63
Electric Production	
Depreciation and Amortization	
Transmission and Distribution	75
1. Underground Inspection Program	76
a. Average Cost per Inspection	
b. Number of Inspections	77
2. Distribution Line Clearance and Danger Tree Removal	
3. Double Wood Program	
4. Mobile-Stray Voltage	
CPB Exceptions	
1. Five-Year Overhead Inspection Program	
2. Network Transformer Vault Cleaning	
3. System and Transmission O&M	
Westchester County	
RATE BASE	
Average Rate Base	
Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI)	
Transmission and Distribution Capital Program	
Exceptions	
Discussion	
Updated T&D Capital Expenditures	
Streetlight Isolation Transformers	
Demand-Side Management and Construction	
Advanced Technology	
Reconciliation for Shortfalls between Budget and Actual	
Expenditures	
Reconciliation of Capital Expenditures from the Current R	
Plan	
Exceptions	
Discussion	
COST OF CAPITAL	
-	
Cost of Equity	
1. The Exceptions	
2. The Responses	
3. Discussion and Conclusion	
COCH. ATTOCAMIONO	126
COST ALLOCATIONS	
NYPA Cost Allocations	126
NYPA Cost Allocations	126
NYPA Cost Allocations	126 127
NYPA Cost Allocations	126 127 129
NYPA Cost Allocations	126 127 129 132
NYPA Cost Allocations 1. NYPA 2. NYC Government Customers 3. Westchester County 4. Con Edison and Staff Responses 5. Discussion and Conclusion	126 127 129 132 132
NYPA Cost Allocations 1. NYPA 2. NYC Government Customers 3. Westchester County 4. Con Edison and Staff Responses 5. Discussion and Conclusion Street Lighting	126 127 129 132 132 133
NYPA Cost Allocations 1. NYPA 2. NYC Government Customers 3. Westchester County 4. Con Edison and Staff Responses 5. Discussion and Conclusion Street Lighting RATE DESIGN.	126 127 129 132 132 133 135
NYPA Cost Allocations 1. NYPA 2. NYC Government Customers 3. Westchester County 4. Con Edison and Staff Responses 5. Discussion and Conclusion Street Lighting	126 127 129 132 132 133 135 137

CASE 07-E-0523

Monthly Adjustment Clause (MAC)/Market Supply Charge (MSC).	140
RETAIL ACCESS	145
New Customers	145
Customer Information for ESCOs	145
Customer Information for Non-ESCOs	147
DEMAND SIDE MANAGEMENT (DSM)/ENERGY EFFICIENCY	148
Parties' Positions on Exceptions	151
New Programs	151
Interim Programs	153
Incentives	155
Other DSM Issues	156
Discussion	158
RELIABILITY PERFORMANCE MECHANISMS	161
General RPM Issues	162
SAIFI and CAIDI Target Levels	164
Major Outage Mechanism	167
Remote Monitoring System (RMS)	169
Special Projects	172
Restoration	174
CUSTOMER SERVICE STANDARDS	175
Ordering Clauses	177

STATE OF NEW YORK PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

At a session of the Public Service Commission held in the City of New York on March 19, 2008

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

Garry A. Brown, Chairman Patricia L. Acampora Maureen F. Harris Robert E. Curry, Jr. Cheryl A. Buley

CASE 07-E-0523 - Proceeding on Motion of the Commission as to the Rates, Charges, Rules and Regulations of Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. for Electric Service.

ORDER ESTABLISHING RATES FOR ELECTRIC SERVICE

(Issued and Effective March 25, 2008)

BY THE COMMISSION:

INTRODUCTION

On May 4, 2007, Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. (Con Edison or the Company) proposed to increase electric rates by \$1.2 billion. We suspended the rate filing through March 30, 2008 and instituted a proceeding to consider new electric rates to go into effect on April 1, 2008.

On January 8, 2008, the administrative law judges assigned to this case issued a recommended decision. In it, they recommended that Con Edison be allowed to increase electric rates by \$601.4 million and that \$330 million of the rate increase be made temporary pending a further review of the

Case 04-E-0572, Consolidated Edison of New York, Inc. Electric Rates, Order Adopting Three-Year Rate Plan, (issued
March 24, 2005) (the 2005-08 Rate Plan). Pursuant to the
2005-2008 Rate Plan, new electric rates for Con Edison would
not be effective until April 1, 2008.

Company's construction program process. The parties who participated in this case were provided an opportunity to submit briefs on exceptions in accordance with 16 NYCRR 4.10.

The Parties' Positions

In their briefs on exceptions, various parties state alleged errors believed to be contained in the recommended decision, but they do not challenge the judges' overall approach to this case. The briefs filed by Department of Public Service (DPS) Staff and the State Consumer Protection Board (CPB) are two examples of such briefs. Other parties, like Con Edison and Westchester County, challenge the judges' approach and urge us to decide this case not on an issue-by-issue basis.²

1. Con Edison

The Company does not believe that the amount recommended by the judges is sufficient to maintain its financial integrity, to serve customer interests well, or to provide reasonable returns to investors. Con Edison states that it must serve the growing demand for electricity in the greater New York City area and it must maintain system reliability. In so doing, the Company states that it must substantially increase its infrastructure investments. For the energy system to remain strong, resilient and reliable, Con Edison urges us to maintain its financial integrity and allow it a reasonable amount of profit. According to it, this is the key issue for us to consider.

Con Edison does not believe that an issue-by-issue analysis of the contested matters provides the best framework to address the adverse financial impact and dire consequences were it to receive an electric rate increase that is too low. In

_

Notwithstanding the opportunity to provide briefs on exception and replies to the briefs on exception, a request was made for oral argument of this case before the Commission. This request was denied in a Notice from the Secretary issued on March 5, 2008.

order to maintain an "A" rating for its debt securities, Con Edison states that it must receive a higher return on equity and more equity capital must be recognized in its capital structure. According to it, the rate increase must be consistent with the amount it has requested.

The Company is aware of the challenges facing customers in the prevailing economic climate and it does not doubt that the Commission will take into account the customer impacts from increasing electric rates. It also observes that the residential customer electric bills in its service area are lower than those experienced elsewhere. It states that, on an inflation-adjusted basis, the Company's unit cost per kilowatt hour has remained essentially flat over the last ten years. Consolidated Edison believes that our decision in this case should serve the long-term interests of the service area by providing the resources it needs to remain financially strong.

2. New York City Government Customers

The City of New York (NYC), the Metropolitan

Transportation Authority and the Port Authority of New York

(collectively appeared and are jointly referred to as NYC

Government Customers) support many of the adjustments made by

the judges and other adjustments that were not accepted. NYC

Government Customers believe that the rate increase should be

about \$166 million less than the amount the judges recommended.

They support an expansion of demand-side management programs to

control energy usage, and the implementation of advanced

metering and mandatory hourly pricing. They oppose the

Company's embedded cost of service study which indicates that

the New York Power Authority should pay higher prices. They

urge us to implement a cost reconciliation mechanism for

expenditures made for site investigation and remediation work at

locations where manufactured gas plants once operated.

3. Westchester County

Like Con Edison, Westchester County disagrees with the issue-by-issue analysis the judges used to examine the rate filing. Given the magnitude of the rate request, it believes that the major drivers of the proposed rate increase require critical assessment. It proposes that Con Edison's unprecedented infrastructure program proposals be denied. Westchester doubts that the Company needs to spend \$7.5 billion on capital improvements over the next five years and it believes we should substantially limit the amount of funds provided for capital expenditures.

Westchester County believes that Con Edison has decided to grow its business and earnings by making large investments in transmission and distribution (T&D) facilities. In its view, the capital programs and operation and maintenance (O&M) budgets are bloated not for safety and reliability purposes but to improperly benefit stockholder earnings. The County fears that Con Edison will obtain funds for infrastructure improvements and other programs that it may not spend and will use instead for stockholder earnings.

Westchester County also believes we should only allow \$50 million for new O&M programs. The County states that such a limit would not harm safety or reliability. It points out that the 2006 O&M budget was \$1.15 billion and the actual expenditures were \$1.3 billion. Since then the Company's O&M programs have increased to \$1.47 billion and Westchester County does not challenge this amount. It believes Con Edison should receive \$1.52 billion for O&M programs in the rate year and not the \$1.7 billion it requested.

Westchester further believes that capital expenditures should receive strict scrutiny and project costs should be spread over a long time to match their use and the benefits provided to customers. The County questions whether all of the proposed projects are truly necessary, and it believes the Company should provide more detailed explanations to support them. It claims that the capital projects and budget were

presented in a confusing manner and the total amount of funding is in doubt.

Westchester County also addresses in its brief the costs Con Edison is incurring to restore facilities at the World Trade Center location in Manhattan, site investigation and remediation costs for locations where manufactured gas plants once operated, depreciation matters, and the use of the proceeds obtained from the sale of certain real estate on First Avenue in Manhattan.

4. Consumer Protection Board

Consumer Protection Board (CPB) claims that the rate increase should be below the \$600 million recommended by the judges. It also believes that more auditing and investigation should be performed before the Company is allowed to include \$1.6 billion of capital spending, and \$200 million of environmental remediation costs, in rates. CPB advocates, as well, for changes to the Company's energy efficiency proposal. It also addresses various expense items and capital costs.

5. New York Power Authority

The New York Power Authority (NYPA or the Authority) filed five exceptions. They concern Consolidated Edison's embedded cost of service study; the audit of capital expenditures suggested by the judges; the application of an earnings base/capitalization adjustment; the judges' rejection of the working capital calculation it proposed; and, the revenue decoupling mechanism's impact on NYPA customers' incentive to pursue demand-side management.

6. Local 1-2

The Utility Workers Union of America, AFL-CIO, Local 1-2 (Local 1-2 or the Union) filed exceptions to the recommended decision concerning certain expenses, rate base and other matters.

7. Retail Energy Supply Association

The Retail Energy Supply Association (RESA) excepts to the judges' recommendations concerning the changes proposed to the Monthly Adjustment Clause (MAC) and the Market Supply Charge (MSC). RESA is also interested in the expansion of mandatory hourly pricing to customers whose maximum demand is greater than 500 kW per month. It has proposed a modification of the customer referral program that would allow new customers to obtain their electricity from an ESCO when they initiate their delivery service. The Small Customer Marketer Coalition supports the positions RESA has taken.

8. NYSERDA

The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA) participated in this case. It filed a letter which states that it does not take exception to the recommended decision. NYSERDA supports the judges' recommendation to extend, for a year, Con Edison's targeted energy efficiency program.

9. NRDC and Pace Energy Project

The Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) and Pace Energy Project (Pace) participated jointly in this case. They have filed exceptions to the judges' recommendations concerning demand-side management and energy efficiency matters.

10. Consumer Power Advocates

Consumer Power Advocates (CPA) has filed exceptions on four matters. CPA supports a higher rate of return on equity for Con Edison and seeks an additional allocation of low-cost electricity for non-profit biomedical research facilities. CPA addresses the transmission congestion credits that are available to customers and proposes that a date be set for ending the collection of stranded costs.

11. ARE-East River Science Park, LLC

ARE-East River Science Park LLC excepts to the judges' recommendation to allow Con Edison to implement tariff revisions that encourage customers in the Business Incentive Rate program to use steam service rather than electric service for the equipment they install and operate.

12. New York Energy Consumers Council, Inc.

The New York Energy Consumers Council, Inc. (NYECC) a group of commercial property owners and managers, do not consider the Company's demand side management program costs to be just and reasonable. They believe that these costs should not be imposed on ratepayers.

13. Reliant Energy, Inc.

Reliant Energy, Inc. engages in the sale and marketing of electricity at retail in various places through the United States. Its brief on exceptions addresses the changes proposed for the Monthly Adjustment Clause and the Market Supply Charge.

14. Joint Supporters

The Joint Supporters encourage the use of energy efficiency, demand responses and clean distributed generation to address the growth that is occurring on the Con Edison system.

Public Statement Hearings

Public statement hearings were held at six locations between January 8 and 23, 2008. The first was held in Manhattan and Commissioner Robert E. Curry, Jr. attended, with the presiding officer, to hear the public statements. Customers spoke at the hearing about high bills and expressed concern about stray voltage and the recent steam main rupture. The Manhattan Borough President commented on the large amount of the proposed rate increase and he urged the Commission to consider a rate freeze for customers who cannot afford to pay higher

utility bills. He also addressed the need for renewable sources of energy and for more energy conservation.

In Brooklyn, the Commissioner and the presiding officer heard from the Borough President and the Deputy Borough President who urged Con Edison to make system improvements and provide the highest possible levels of reliable and safe service. They also supported the use of alternative energy sources.

In Westchester, about 150 persons attended an afternoon hearing and another 100 attended the evening hearing. Almost everyone was opposed to the proposed rate increase. Representatives of the elderly, disabled veterans, the unemployed and persons on fixed incomes explained the difficulties that these customers would have to pay any higher bills for electric service. Local officials and various customers identified specific neighborhoods that are experiencing frequent service outages. They urged us to require the Company to provide more reliable facilities and system improvements. A business customer detailed the problems he experienced in his dealings with the Company and various customers complained about not being able to get through to customer service representatives when they telephone the Company about their service difficulties. Some customers complained about repeatedly receiving estimated bills for service even when they have observed a meter reader on their premises.

Various customers spoke in favor of energy conservation and some believe the Company should do more to establish efficient consumption practices in the service area. A petition signed by customers who oppose the proposed rate increase, but who could not attend the hearing, was received and included in the record. At the evening hearing the County Executive provided both prepared comments and extemporaneous remarks about the proposed rate increase and its adverse consequences for residents, businesses and municipalities in Westchester.

In Queens, several local elected officials stated their displeasure with Con Edison and the Company's handling of the Long Island City service outage, the gas leak explosion in Sunnyside and the steam pipe rupture that occurred in Manhattan. Assemblyman Gianaris obtained signed cards from more than 1600 of his constituents stating that they believe that the proposed rate increase is unfair and it should be rejected. Representatives of a coalition of customers, Western Queens Power for the People, attended the hearing and commented on the company's rates and service. They also provided petitions signed by about 100 individuals who oppose the proposed rate hike and were unable to attend the hearing.

On Staten Island, two members of the New York City Council, and a local customer, stated their opposition to the proposed rate hike and the need for more reliable and safe electric service. No one attended the two hearings convened in the Bronx.

Comments and Correspondence

Throughout this proceeding, we have received many comments from customers, and local officials, about the electric rate increase proposal. The letters began when the rate filing was received in May 2007 and the volume of correspondence grew steadily in 2008 when the public statement hearings were held. By electronic mail, voice mail and postal service, customers have registered their opposition to the proposed rate increase; they have expressed concerns about system reliability and safety; and they have identified specific company practices that they question. Customers have stated concerns about the size of the electric bills they will have to pay this year. believe that the Company's officers and managers receive too much compensation. Many urge that the Company be made more responsible for its actions and failings. Also, expenditures for advertising have been questioned and some customers believe the Company's employees could work harder.

Overview

We have fully considered the parties' arguments presented in their respective briefs on exceptions and, in doing so, we have not limited ourselves to the issue-by-issue analysis provided by the administrative law judges assigned to this case. We have taken into consideration the strongly held views of the public, and the local officials who represent them, who state that the amount of rate relief requested by Con Edison would have negative impacts on customers who find it difficult to pay the increased delivery prices sought by the Company. In this case, and in a series of investigations and formal proceedings that are ongoing, we are taking a hard look at the safety, reliability and the quality of the service that Con Edison provides and we are taking all the steps needed to ensure that the public receives good service.

To establish reasonable rates, we are not permitting the \$1.2 billion that Con Edison has requested in this case. Instead, we have decided to allow the Company to implement a \$425.0 million electric rate increase. This amount, in addition to the revenues the Company already receives, will provide Con Edison the resources necessary for it to continue to improve the electric energy infrastructure that is vital to the well-being of customers, businesses and commercial operations in New York City and Westchester.

In addition to authorizing significant infrastructure spending to improve and maintain the reliability of service, this rate order enhances public safety by increasing inspections to detect stray voltage, facilitates efficient use of energy, implements customer service and reliability performance incentive mechanisms and includes provisions to moderate rate impacts on low-income customers.

We have also taken proper steps in this rate order to have the Company account for the capital improvements it has been making since the last time the Commission passed on its electric rates and approved the three-year rate plan that is now coming to an end. We are also taking action to stabilize the

upward pressure on electric rates that the Company's construction requirements and operations are currently producing. We are concerned about the potential for rate increases in the future and we recognize the need for all interested parties to have a clearer understanding of the trajectory of Con Edison's overall electricity prices as well as the underlying cost components when developing positions regarding the proper level of the Company's rates in future proceedings. In the next electric rate case that Con Edison files, it will have to provide, for a five-year horizon, its best estimate of its annual capital program (including changes to net plant), all its forecast delivery and supply costs, its sales and associated revenue requirements, and the future level of both T&D and Supply Prices for each major service classification over that time period. We also require that the Company demonstrate, as part of its next filing, that it has considered all the potential means available for mitigating the size of any rate increase, while at the same time balancing its need to maintain access to the financial markets at reasonable terms.

In the sections of this order presented below, we consider and address the issues raised and the points presented by the parties in their respective briefs on exceptions.

REVENUES

Revenue Decoupling

On April 20, 2007, the Order Requiring Proposals for Revenue Decoupling Mechanisms (Cases 03-E-0640 and 06-G-0746, "the RDM order") was issued. In compliance with this order, Con Edison included in its rate filing a revenue decoupling mechanism (RDM) called the "revenue accounting and rate incentive mechanism" (RARIM). Con Edison's proposed RARIM would reconcile revenues on a per-customer basis and included a weather normalization provision.

The judges found that the Company identified no substantial reason for its weather normalization proposal except

that it would maintain the status quo and that the Company earns money from hotter-than-normal weather. They concluded that, "if the Company has historically earned money from weather fluctuations, at the expense of ratepayers, then correction of that flaw in the ratemaking process was justification enough for establishing an RDM that removes weather variations from the Company's revenues." They recommended that the weather normalization proposal be rejected, because the complexity of the mechanism was self-evident and customer interests would suffer from requiring Staff to monitor the mechanism.

The judges stated that, the revenue-per-customer issue cast two legitimate concerns against each other - reducing the impact of gaming and uncertainty in forecasting versus encouraging the company to promote economic development. found however that both concerns were theoretical in that Staff provided only general concerns regarding gaming of customer counts, while the Company did not identify any economic development programs that it would not pursue. stated that, even in the absence of specific economic development programs, there was an intangible benefit in having the Company's interests aligned with the economic interests of the service territory. They noted our approval of revenue-percustomer mechanisms in other recent cases and thus recommended that the Company's proposal be adopted here. They added that the Company should be ordered to produce for Staff any reports on customer account activity that Staff deems necessary for monitoring its gaming concerns.

In response to NYPA's opposition to its treatment as a single service class, the judges found that (1) NYPA customers would still have a significant opportunity to save through a reduction in supply costs and (2) assuming NYPA passes any RDM adjustments to all NYPA customers and not only to those who pursue DSM, NYPA customers would still be able to reduce their delivery costs due to reduced usage.

Exceptions to the RD were filed by the Company, Staff and NYPA.

The Company argues that the RD errs in recommending a revenue decoupling mechanism without also recommending an energy efficiency program. According to the Company, the two programs are inextricably linked and implementation of revenue decoupling without contemporaneous implementation of a Company energy efficiency program would not accomplish our policy goals.

The Company contends that the goal of revenue decoupling is to align investor and consumer interests, and revenue decoupling that is not coupled with a program for energy efficiency promotion by the utility does no such thing. Edison argues that the RDM mechanism "caps" revenues, disconnects the Company's revenue stream from the economic growth its service territory is experiencing, and puts the Company in an endless annual go-round of revenue increase "updates" in order to keep its revenues in synch with the spending it must incur to keep pace with system growth. It states that revenue decoupling is simply not worth the effort unless coupled with a robust energy efficiency program in which the Company has a central role. Con Edison thus requests if we delay consideration of the energy efficiency issue, we also should delay decoupling; conversely, if we determine that the Company should not have a central role in promoting energy efficiency, then we should not adopt an RDM mechanism for the Company.

If we decide to implement revenue decoupling without adopting the Company's energy efficiency program, the Company excepts to the RD's rejection of the weather normalization component of its proposed RDM. Referencing its arguments below, Con Edison asserts that the RD's rejection of its weather normalization provision is neither required by, nor consistent with, the RDM Order, or otherwise warranted based on the record in this proceeding.

The Company contends that the RDM Order (p. 2) is clear that the purpose of requiring utilities to develop RDMs is to reduce or eliminate any rate structures that discourage utilities from actively promoting energy efficiency, renewable

technologies and distributed generation. The Company states that, since weather is a factor over which it has no control, there is no need or reason for the RDM to address weatherrelated sales variations in order to reduce or eliminate a disincentive the Company may otherwise have to encourage energy efficiency. Con Edison adds that since the RDM Order (p. 8) indicates no preference as to including or excluding weatherrelated sales but expresses a preference for the development of utility-specific RDMs, the only fair reading of the RDM Order is that each utility's existing rate structure should serve as the starting point for such evaluation. Con Edison states that its proposal does not reintroduce weather variability; rather it preserves the existing rate structure, except to the extent necessary to address the potential disincentive to encourage energy efficiency or other reasonable and appropriate policy objectives. In the latter regard, Con Edison continues, the record is devoid of any other reasonable basis for eliminating its exposure to weather-related sales variations.

Con Edison argues that the RD errs in stating that "[i]f the Company has historically earned money from weather fluctuations, at the expense of customers, then correction of that flaw in the ratemaking process is justification enough for establishing an RDM that removes weather variations from the Company's revenues." According to it, the fact that, in some years, it experienced weather-related revenues that exceeded its weather-related costs does not support a finding that its existing rate structure is somehow "flawed." The Company argues that its exposure to weather-related sales variations has been fully and carefully considered by us, Staff and other parties to many Company rate proceedings for each of its utility services, resulting in a weather normalization clause for its gas service and no weather normalization for its electric and steam services. Absent consideration of revenue decoupling, the Company asserts that no party to this proceeding has alleged any basis for a change in the status quo in this regard.

The Company adds that the recommendation to correct this "flaw" to provide a customer benefit is fundamentally inconsistent with the RD's recommended 10 basis point RDM-related adjustment to ROE. It contends that the two recommendations are not only mutually exclusive, but they support the Company's position that eliminating its exposure to weather-related sales variations requires an increase to its ROE, since investors would lose prospectively what the RD considers to be a financial benefit. The Company asserts that its testimony explains that the link between the RDM and ROE is exactly the opposite of what Staff and the RD presume, in that there is no investor benefit from an RDM and in fact, it introduces regulatory risk and increases financial risk.

The Company claims that the record does not support the RD conclusion that the "the complexity of the mechanism is self evident." It states that the parties arguing that the mechanism was overly complex are fundamentally opposed to the concept of weather normalization and, therefore, are not inclined to explore and consider any modifications to the mechanism to address their concerns. The Company states that it remains open to reasonable adjustments to address these parties' concerns, so long as any modifications to its procedures do not sacrifice accuracy for simplicity.

The Company states that the RD (at 10) errs in concluding that earnings from weather-related revenues are not a competing concern against which these allegations of complexity and gaming must be balanced. The Company argues that this statement demonstrates an unreasonable disregard for the interests of the Company's investors and asserts that the decision in this case must strike a proper balance between the interests of customers and investors. It states that there is no basis for eliminating the current treatment of weather-related revenues and certainly no basis for compounding this error by further reducing the allowed ROE as a result of this action.

The Company concludes its exceptions by stating that the RD properly rejects the remaining objections to and criticisms of the Company's RDM. It also confirms that it does not object to the adoption of Staff's proposal to perform the true-up every six months, based on its understanding that, as noted in the RD (at 7), there could be interim surcharges or credits if the cumulative actual reconciliations equal or exceed \$10 million at any point during the rate year.

Staff argues that the RD correctly recommends rejection of the Company's weather normalization proposal but errs in recommending the Company's revenue-per-customer methodology over Staff's total class revenue methodology. According to Staff, the recommendation endorses a mechanism that will not provide a distinct level of allowed revenues to be retained by the Company for the rate year. Rather, the precise level of allowed revenues to be retained by the Company is not known until the conclusion of the rate year, when actual customer numbers are known and allowed revenues can be calculated by multiplying actual customer numbers for each service class by their respective revenue-per-customer factors.

Staff explains that under the revenue-per-customer method, the Company retains 100% of the average revenue for each customer over the forecasted level, regardless of the actual incremental revenues generated by the additional customers or, more importantly, the Company's incremental cost of serving the additional customers. Staff adds that, allowing the Company to retain 100% of the average revenue each additional customer produces above the forecast over-compensates the Company for the incremental costs of serving those additional customers. Conversely, if actual customer numbers are less than forecast, Staff asserts that the resulting downward adjustment to the revenue target by the revenue-per-customer value would be excessive, thereby producing a significant incentive for the Company to conservatively (under) estimate customer numbers when the forecasts are prepared and litigated. Staff argues that the subsidy created by the use of the revenue-per-customer method on the upside outweighs the potential incentive to encourage economic development.

In response to the RD's statement that "there is an intangible benefit in having the Company's interests aligned with the economic interests of the service territory," Staff reiterates its arguments that economic development incentives should not and need not be intertwined within an RDM. notes, however, that in the interest of supporting a perhaps more cost effective way of addressing potential incremental costs incurred by the utility when customer growth exceeds the level assumed in the forecasts, it outlined a proposed modification to its total class revenue methodology which called for the creation of a separate mechanism that would allow the Company to retain a portion of the excess revenues that would otherwise be captured under Staff's total class revenue reconciliation method and fully returned to ratepayers.³ According to Staff, under its modified proposal, the Company would be more appropriately compensated for the costs of adding customers at levels different than those assumed in its customer forecast, without the added incentive provided by retaining the full average revenue per customer.4

Given what Staff states are "inherent flaws" in the proposed revenue-per-customer RDM, Staff urges us to consider adopting some form of total class revenue RDM. Staff further adds that we should direct the Company to make a filing, in compliance with our decision in this proceeding, which fully describes the revenue decoupling mechanism and reconciliation

-

Staff indicates that this proposal mirrors the one proposed in the ongoing O&R rate case, Case 07-E-0949, Proceeding on Motion of the Commission as to the Rates, Charges, Rules and Regulations of Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc. for Electric Service, Prepared Testimony of Staff Rate Panel, December 2007, pages 17-22.

⁴ Staff adds that if we ultimately decide to employ either a revenue-per-customer RDM or modified total revenue-per-class RDM, the Company should use Staff's customer number forecast, consistent with the RD's recommendation to utilize Staff's sales forecast.

process to be ultimately employed, including, at a minimum, the information to be used to calculate the allowed monthly revenue targets that will readily enable the eventual comparisons with actual monthly amounts and require the Company to maintain monthly customer counts by service class.

NYPA argues that the RD erred by endorsing a proposal that largely negates the revenue savings achieved through NYPA's demand side management ("DSM") programs. NYPA reiterates its previous arguments that, since the Company proposes to treat NYPA as a single service class, the recommended RDM would impose a delivery service surcharge equal to the revenue savings achieved through energy efficiency programs like DSM. NYPA provides an example of what it refers to as a one-for-one offset and concludes that its example indicates that the Company's mechanism clearly diminishes the incentive to participate in NYPA's DSM programs.

NYPA also argues that the RD erroneously concurs with the Company's argument that NYPA customers might still have an incentive to pursue DSM programs because they would ultimately pay less for commodity. NYPA contends that this is hardly relevant in determining whether the RDM's effects on delivery rates are just and reasonable and is merely a residual benefit that does not repair the deterrent effect that Con Edison's RDM would impose on DSM programs.

-

In NYPA's example, the rate case establishes that \$100 is to be recovered from NYPA as a class, NYPA uses 1000 kWh, and the initial delivery rate is \$0.10/kWh. If NYPA institutes a DSM program that saves 100 kWh, the Company will only recover \$90 (900 kWh times \$0.10), which will trigger the RDM and a surcharge for the subsequent rate year. Assuming NYPA is expected to consume 1000 kWh in that year, the surcharge will be \$10 (the amount of the first year shortfall due to the DSM program) divided by 1000 kWh which means that the second year rate will be \$0.11/kWh and Con Edison will recover \$110 in year 2. Thus, in NYPA's example the \$10 saved by the NYPA DSM program in year 1 is simply added to the bill in year 2 so that ultimately there is no savings for NYPA customers from the DSM program.

The Company states that no party other than Staff excepts to the RD's adoption of the Company's revenue-percustomer mechanism over Staff's total class methodology. It argues that none of Staff's arguments provides a basis for the rejecting its revenue-per-customer mechanism. The Company asserts that Staff's argument that the revenue-per-customer mechanism is flawed because "the precise level of allowed revenues to be retained by the Company is not known until the conclusion of the rate year" was made for the first time by Staff in its Brief on Exceptions and should be rejected as an attack on revenue-per-customer mechanisms per se, which were recognized in the RDM Order and confirmed in the most recent Con Edison's gas case. 6 The Company adds that Staff does not provide any reason why knowing in advance of the rate year the precise level of revenues to be retained by the Company at year's end is a necessary feature of an RDM. The Company argues that the RD properly rejected Staff's general and theoretical concerns regarding any gaming of the customer forecast in favor of the more compelling need to have the Company's interest aligned with the economic interest of the service territory.

With respect to which customer forecasts to use, the Company does not object to Staff's proposal to use the Staff forecasts for SCs 1, 4, 2 and 7, but it notes that, to its knowledge, Staff did not, in the course of this proceeding, provide customer forecasts for all service classifications. The Company states that if we adopt the RD's recommendations regarding the sales forecast, then Staff's concerns about the Company gaming the customer forecast are moot.

The Company asserts that Staff also argues for the first time that the revenue-per-customer mechanism is flawed because it may enable the Company to retain additional revenues in excess of incremental costs incurred in serving new customers. The Company contends that such concerns are not

⁶ Case 06-G-1332, <u>Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc.</u>, Order Adopting in part the Terms and Conditions of the Parties' Joint Proposal (issued September 25, 2007).

specific to it or to its proposed RARIM; nor are they in line with Commission precedent or policy. Instead, says the Company, they constitute a general attack on revenue-per-customer mechanisms and ignore the symmetrical nature of the revenue-per-customer mechanism (<u>i.e.</u>, the Company could incur costs to attach new customers and still be required to return revenues to customers at the end of the rate year pursuant to the revenue-per-customer mechanism).

The Company also claims that it may incur incremental costs for particular customers that exceed the revenue-per-customer revenue target for those customers. The Company states that the suggestion it be precluded from retaining any revenues above incremental costs of attaching new customers would defeat the very purpose of the revenue-per-customer method, as recognized in the RD, to provide it an incentive to promote economic development on its system.

The Company argues that Staff's offer, belatedly made for the first time in its reply brief on exceptions, of a modified RDM with a separate mechanism to address customer growth only serves to highlight the inherent defects in Staff's position. The Company states that, from a procedural standpoint, there is no record basis for adopting Staff's severely untimely proposal, which originally was proposed for another utility in a still pending proceeding; is characterized in a single sentence with no supporting detail or analysis; and is presented after the record in this proceeding has closed, thereby denying the Company the opportunity to test Staff's proposal through discovery and/or testimony. The Company adds that Staff's proposal also fails from a substantive standpoint because, by proposing that the revenues retained by the Company approximate its marginal cost in serving incremental new customers, Staff would effectively remove all incentive for the Company to pursue economic development in its service territory.

According to the Company, Staff's focus on hook up costs as the sole source of increased system costs is wrong and will not even keep the Company whole as it ignores (1) the added

costs such as metering, billing, and customer service; (2) the fact that O&M expenses increase as customers are added; and (3) the potential for system reinforcement costs to increase above forecasted levels (for which Staff proposes a one-way, downward-only true-up). The Company adds that Staff's proposal to fund this cost recovery out of excess revenues that would otherwise be returned to customers under its RDM (1) belies its assertion regarding the importance of knowing in advance of the rate year the precise level of revenues to be retained by the Company and (2) fails to explain how the Company would be compensated if there were no "excess revenues" to be returned to customers under its proposed mechanism.

The Company argues that NYPA's claims were properly considered and rejected by the RD which recognized that treating NYPA as a single customer would not negate the revenue savings achieved through NYPA's DSM programs. The Company asserts that, while NYPA claims that, if it were not treated as a single customer group, this disincentive would evaporate, it has yet to explain why. The Company contends that, contrary to NYPA's assertions, NYPA as a single class may not experience a surcharge if the reduced load attributable to its customers' DSM measures is offset by increases in load by other customers that constitute the NYPA class.

Staff and CPB argue that an RDM should be implemented for the rate year irrespective of the implementation of a Company administered energy efficiency program. Staff states that the goal of revenue decoupling, as defined by the RDM Order, is to significantly reduce or eliminate any disincentives caused by the recovery of utility fixed delivery costs via volumetric rates. It contends that the RDM Order did not tie the implementation of an RDM with the requirement of the Company playing a "major role" in energy efficiency programs. Staff asserts that we allowed for the expansion of energy efficiency, demand response, or distributed generation, without specifically relying on the Company to administer such programs or allowing for positive incentives to be retained by the Company. CPB adds

that without an RDM, Con Edison would have the incentive to take actions that would undercut the benefit of ratepayer-funded energy efficiency programs, thereby jeopardizing consumers' acceptance of ratepayer-funded demand side management activities.

Staff observes that the RDM Order (at 16) clearly states that design issues, such as weather normalization, should be addressed in individual rate proceedings. Staff states it demonstrated that the Company's weather normalization provision is overly complex and flawed, noting that the Company's weather impact calculation begins with a sophisticated statistical methodology, which involves various allocations between sales and sendout, calendar days and billing days, days and months and quarters, as well as service classes. The adds that these multistage allocations at such high frequencies introduce mismatches and create complexities and areas of disagreement, making the proposal operationally cumbersome, if not entirely unworkable. Staff asserts it demonstrated that, absent the weather normalization provision, the incentive to use weather to game the sales forecast in the rate case is greatly reduced or eliminated, but with such a provision, a significant amount of on-going regulatory oversight auditing efforts would be required.

NYC Government Customers also argue that the RD correctly rejected the Company's proposed weather normalization provision. They assert that the Company wants the provision because it expects to make money from it. They state that the record supports the Company's expectations, citing testimony and exhibits establishing that if the provision were operational during 2005 and 2006, revenues would have increased \$68 million. NYC Government Customers share the previously discussed concerns regarding the complexity of the provision, stating that such complexity supports its elimination.

⁷ Staff cites to Record Exhibit 161.

With respect to the Company's arguments against the RD's 10 basis point adjustment to the ROE, Staff asserts that over the long haul, the weather variability should be symmetrical given a correct forecast of the normal weather. It adds that, without the weather normalization provision in the RDM, the weather risk is removed from the Company's revenue stream and thereby further stabilizes the revenue and lowers the risk premium on ROE. Given these factors, Staff states that the RD correctly recommended a 10 basis point adjustment to the ROE.

Discussion

The Company's argument that adopting a revenue decoupling mechanism without also adopting a Con Edison energy efficiency program would not accomplish our policy goals is incorrect. The RDM order does not require utility administered energy efficiency promotion programs as a prerequisite to the adoption of a revenue decoupling mechanism. Rather, it states that the purpose of a revenue decoupling mechanism is to eliminate or substantially reduce the linkage between sales and utility revenues and/or profits.8 It also states that one of the reasons for supporting the proposals to have the design and implementation of RDMs take place in individual utility rate cases was "the need to move expeditiously in addressing remaining disincentives to the implementation of energy efficiency and public benefit programs...." As a result, the Company's request that we not implement a revenue decoupling mechanism without also implementing a Con Edison energy efficiency program is denied. We are adopting the judges' recommendation that a revenue decoupling mechanism should be implemented for the rate year and we further direct that it will remain in effect until otherwise directed or modified by the Commission.

⁸ RDM Order at 7.

⁹ Id., at 14.

Con Edison argues that rejection of its weather normalization provision is not required by or consistent with the RDM Order and is not otherwise warranted by the record. however note that the RDM Order expressly provides (at 8) that "whether to include or exclude weather related sales fluctuations" is one of "a number of design and implementation issues that would need to be considered in the development of an effective revenue decoupling mechanism." We also note that several parties have persuasively argued that the proposed weather normalization provision here at issue would be overly complex, create an incentive for gaming and require a significant amount of oversight and auditing. In light of such concerns, we find that the disadvantages associated with approving such a provision would outweigh any benefits that its approval might have. We therefore deny the Company's exception and adopt the judges' recommendation that the weather normalization proposal be rejected.

The claim that the Company's revenue-per-customer approach will over-compensate it, along with the judges' finding that the Company did not identify any economic programs that it would not pursue, lead us to reject the revenue-per-customer approach. In the final analysis, we are not persuaded that theoretic economic development arguments overcome the need to eliminate or at least mitigate the deleterious effects of gaming and of approving a potentially inflated level of revenues per customer. Accordingly, we are approving a total class revenue approach.

NYPA provides no record evidence for its claims that treating it as a single class will negate the revenue savings achieved through its DSM programs. We therefore find that NYPA's arguments are speculative and unconvincing. As a result, they provide insufficient basis for granting NYPA's exception.

We find the Company's arguments against the recommended ROE adjustment unpersuasive, unsubstantiated and effectively rebutted by the Staff's arguments in reply. The Company's exception is therefore denied.

Transmission Congestion Credits

Con Edison sells transmission congestion credits (TCCs) and obtains revenues from the New York Independent System Operator (NYISO). Currently, \$60 million is built into base rates and any additional amounts are provided to customers through the Monthly Adjustment Clause (MAC). This arrangement was implemented in the three-year rate plan adopted in 2005. In this case, the judges recommended that \$150 million be projected and included in the revenue requirement calculations for the rate year. Over the last three years, this is the average amount the Company has obtained.

On exceptions, Con Edison and DPS Staff claim that \$150 million of TCC revenue should not be assumed. Staff believes that only \$60 million need be included in base rates and the remainder can continue to be provided through the MAC. Staff urges a conservative projection to avoid the risk that customers would have to pay back any TCC revenues that do not materialize. Staff also believes it is unfair to allow the New York Power Authority to share in \$90 million more of the transmission congestion credits, particularly if the Authority would not have to pay them back if \$150 million is not reached. 10

Like Staff, Con Edison believes that the results of a proceeding before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission could reduce the amount of transmission congestion credits. 11 The Company also points out that network congestion, and the amount of TCC revenues, can decline. From a high of \$207 million in 2005, the TCC revenues were only \$149 million in 2006. The Company expects revenues to decline with the additional in-City generation capacity from the Poletti expansion and Astoria Energy LLC.

The MAC does not apply to NYPA and another means would have to be established to obtain from NYPA any TCC revenues that do not materialize. In any event, NYPA recognizes this unfair situation and it is willing to pay its share of any TCC revenue shortfall if it receives a share of the \$150 million estimate.

¹¹ FERC Docket ER07-521.

Con Edison also objects to NYPA receiving any more TCC revenue than the 14.22% share it receives from the \$60 million currently included in base rates. The Company states that the TCC revenues pertain to the transmission facilities owned by Con Edison that are used to serve full service and retail access customers. According to the Company, the TCCs are not related to the transmission facilities that are used to serve NYPA and Economic Development Delivery Service (EDDS) customers. It states that the transmission congestion credits associated with the transmission facilities that NYPA uses are not sold. Rather, the NYPA-related congestion rents collected by the NYISO are used to reimburse NYPA for the congestion payments it pays. Thus, NYPA is kept whole.

Consumer Power Advocates agrees with Con Edison that NYPA enters into TCC contracts on its own account. It doubts that NYPA should receive any share of the TCC revenues that are derived from contracts entered into for the benefit of the full service customers.

NYPA supports the judges' recommendation to estimate \$150 million of TCC revenue for the rate year. It opposes the Company and DPS Staff proposals to exclude the Authority from sharing the TCC revenues. NYPA disagrees with Con Edison's assertion that the Authority would enjoy a "double benefit" by sharing in the TCC revenues and by receiving reimbursement for the congestion costs it pays. It states that the reimbursement agreement is not relevant to the TCC revenues. Further, it would distinguish the congestion rents that are collected by Con Edison from the NYISO from the TCC auction revenues.

NYPA points out that it pays about 14.22% of the costs of the Con Edison transmission and distribution system. It therefore believes that it should receive a proportionate share of the \$150 million. NYPA does not believe that it should be limited to a share in the first \$60 million of TCC revenues. Responding to Consumer Power Advocates, NYPA asserts that there is no record evidence to support the claim that the TCCs should only benefit full service customers. It believes that the Con

Edison transmission system benefits all customers and states that the Authority pays its fair share for using the transmission system.

NYC Government Customers support the use of the \$150 million estimate of TCC revenues for the rate year. They recognize that there will be new in-City capacity to decrease congestion; however, they note that the amount of TCC revenues has remained high. They point to the retirement of the 850 MW Poletti power plant, and growing load in New York City, as contributing to system congestion. Also, in advance of a FERC decision on the long-term sale of TCCs, NYC Government Customers state that no one knows how the decision will impact the TCCs.

Westchester County considers the \$150 million to be the best estimate of TCCs supported by recent, historical data. It doubts that new in-City capacity will decrease the value of TCCs that depend on the level of energy prices. It believes that energy prices in the City may not decline in the next two years. Further, since the results of the FERC proceeding remain unknown, Westchester states that there is no way of knowing if the TCC revenues will decrease or increase.

We are aware that before the NYISO was formed, NYPA and Con Edison entered into a 1989 Delivery Service Agreement that required the Company to provide NYPA transmission and delivery services for the power that the Authority generated and purchased for its customers in the greater New York City area. When the NYISO began, the 1989 agreement was converted into "grandfathered" TCCs. The grandfathered TCCs are not offered for sale in the TCC auctions and NYPA is reimbursed by Con Edison for the congestion rents it pays. These points are significant in that they strongly suggest that NYPA's interest is limited to and are addressed entirely by the grandfathered TCCs. We do not believe that the Authority has an interest in the TCC revenues obtained from the sale of TCCs pertaining to Con Edison's native load that have no relationship to the TCCs associated with NYPA's load. Why NYPA was previously allowed to share in the first \$60 million of the TCC revenues is unclear to us and there is no basis on the record here for continuing to allow NYPA to participate in the TCC revenues. We therefore conclude that NYPA should not share in any amount of the imputed TCC revenues.

For ratemaking purposes, we will use the \$150 million estimate which represents the recent three-year average of these revenues. The rate design we are employing will apply the \$150 million to Con Edison's full service customers and retail access customers. If the amount of TCC revenues for the rate year is less than the \$150 million, the Company is permitted to recover the short fall using the Monthly Adjustment Clause. If the actual TCC revenues for the rate year are higher than the amount included in base rates, the additional revenues should be flowed to customers through the MAC.

Sales Forecast Adjustments

The Company presented forecasts for its sales volume, delivery revenues, and sendout. Staff proposed adjustments to the Company's sales forecast which, in total, would have resulted in an upward revision of 220 GWhs to the Company's sales forecast (equivalent to an increase of \$12.2 million in delivery revenues). The City proposed that the sales forecast be increased as a result of eliminating the Company's DSM adjustment. In relevant part, the judges recommended that the City's proposed DSM adjustment and Staff's cooling degree days (CDDs) adjustment not be adopted. The overall impact of the judges' sales forecast recommendations resulted in an upward adjustment of 145 GWhs or \$9.3 million.

Exceptions were filed by Staff and NYC Government Customers.

Staff asserts that the RD fails to recognize that the Company used CDDs in all months of the year to estimate its econometric models. Staff states that when an econometric model is estimated using the data of all months, but the input is estimated using truncated data, the resulting forecast will be biased; in this case, resulting in an understated sales

forecast. Staff sets forth in detail its views on the proper construction of econometric models and explains that its proposed adjustment is based on the principle of consistency. It further explains why, in its view, Con Edison's methodology violates that principle, resulting in the exclusion in the months of November through April of about 23 to 27 CDDs (Exhibit 264, p. 2).

Staff characterizes as misleading the Company's argument that we should use a sales forecast based on econometric models relating total monthly or quarterly sales to total CDDs. It asserts that the total CDDs in each month or quarter of the year is what is relevant to the forecast of total sales, because electric sales are related to total CDDs in the Company's econometric models, including those in the non-summer months.

Staff argues that the RD's recommendation to reject its proposed adjustment for CDDs in non-summer months is erroneous because it is narrowly based on the Company's explanation as to why CDDs are calculated to measure the use of air conditioning appliances over the course of the year and fails to fully consider how CDDs are used in econometric models to forecast electric sales.

The City argues that the RD erroneously adopted the Company's contention that DSM programs did not have a continuously growing impact within Con Edison service territory. It argues that this contention cannot withstand scrutiny. The City asserts that the Company has not satisfied its burden of proving that a specific DSM adjustment is needed because it conceded that it had not done analysis to support its assumption that its model had already adjusted for DSM spending. As a result, the City states that the RD should be reversed.

The Company replies that the RD correctly rejected Staff's adjustment for cooling degree days in non-summer months and the City's DSM adjustment.

The Company contends that, in continuing to pursue its adjustment, Staff misstates the Company's treatment of CDDs in

non-summer months. The Company states that it did not use truncated data, but made a reasonable judgment that the forecast for CDDs in certain months should be zero, notwithstanding historical CDDs data that may show some level of CDDs. 12

The Company argues that its assumption of zero normal CDDs in non-summer months has a rational and reasonable basis in that CDDs are generally used to capture the impact of weather on the customers' use of air conditioning appliances, normally in the months of May through October (Tr. 585). It cites to its testimony explaining that, although CDDs may occur in April, it is reasonable to assume zero normal CDDs for non-summer months because of the manner in which the CDDs are calculated and customer behavior patterns (Tr. 623-626). That is, just because the temperature reaches a level in a non-summer month that constitutes a cooling degree day does not mean that customers reacted to that temperature by turning on their air conditioners. 13 The Company states that Staff is taking an unreasonable "all or nothing" approach in assuming that every cooling degree day in the non-summer months would result in air conditioning load (Tr. 118). It argues that, for the reasons it cited, its assumption of zero normal CDDs in non-summer months does not result in an understated sales forecast.

The Company adds that Staff also mischaracterizes the Forecasting Panel's testimony in stating that "Con Edison explained that it used daily CDDs to measure the impact of customers' use of air conditioning appliance over the course of

12 The Company adds that Staff's misinterpretation is also evidenced in its Westchester analogy, from which one might conclude that the forecast is missing a variable. The Company explains that this is not the case, rather the variable was included and its forecast value for non-summer months was 0.

The Company states that the testimony at issue explained, for example, that customers "are not going to find their air conditioners and put them in a wall" on a warm day or two in April (Tr. 624) and, more importantly, where the temperature flips back and forth, as is common in shoulder months like April, "businesses themselves take a couple of days to heat up before you are going to require any kind of cooling" (id.).

the year." According to the Company, the Forecasting Panel explained that cooling days are intended to capture air conditioning during the summer months including May through October (Tr. 622).

The Company asserts that there is also no merit to the City's DSM adjustment, stating that the City continues to erroneously argue that the Company's adjustment for the impact of future DSM programs "represents a double-count of the impact of DSM because the impact of DSM already is reflected in the models used to determine sales revenue." The Company states that, as correctly recognized by the RD, the City assumed without justification that past DSM programs have a continuously and uniformly growing impact on sales throughout the estimation period and also ignored the ARIMA terms, which are an important component of the sales forecasting models.

Con Edison asserts that the City's continued arguments ignore the Company's explanation that the manual adjustment to the sales forecast for DSM reductions was made only for incremental reductions that have not already been realized (Tr. 632-636). The Company states that, for the existing targeted DSM program, reductions that are already achieved are not included in the manual adjustment; that is, the Company's sales forecasting models are premised upon historical sales data through December 2006, which reflect the impact of prior DSM programs (Tr. 592; 633). The Company contends that it is only manually adjusting the resulting sales forecasts for incremental DSM reductions above the historical level already reflected in the sales forecast, and, as a result, there is therefore no basis for accepting the City's adjustment.

_

The Company adds that it reflected the projected DSM reductions in this rate filing in the same fashion as the projected DSM reductions related to the targeted program in the 2004 rate filing, and notes that the incremental DSM reductions for the Rate Year in this rate proceeding are 17 times larger, in terms of kWhs, than in the 2004 rate proceeding, where manual adjustments to the model forecasts were accepted.

We have reviewed the arguments offered by Staff, the City and the Company. On this record, we do not find the arguments raised by Staff and the City persuasively overcome the Company's arguments and explanations. We therefore adopt the recommendation to reject the CDDs adjustment proposed by Staff and the DSM adjustment proposed by the City.

First Avenue Property Proceeds and Other Credits

Con Edison will pass back to ratepayers the gain it obtained from selling certain property located on First Avenue in Manhattan. The Company proposed to provide the First Avenue proceeds to customers over three years, consistent with the period that the judges have recommended be used for other one-time revenue sources. On exceptions, Westchester County urges us to pass back a total of \$199 million during the rate year rather than spread this amount over three years.

We find that the amount of the rate increase allowed in the case can be mitigated adequately by using other means than the one suggested here by Westchester County. We are aware, from the Company's rate filing, that it will be applying to increase rates in succeeding years. Were we to use all of the available credits and proceeds to reduce the rates for 2008-09, we would exacerbate the ratemaking circumstances for 2009-10 and for 2010-11. For this reason, Westchester's proposal is rejected and its exception is denied.

EXPENSES

World Trade Center Costs

Con Edison currently collects \$14 million annually in rates for costs incurred due to the collapse of the World Trade Center. The Company proposed, and the judges recommended, that the amount be increased to \$37.3 million. DPS Staff and CPB take exception to the judges' recommendation.

Staff points out that the Commission has not formally authorized the use of deferral accounting for the World Trade Center costs. In 2004, the Commission decided to hold off such

treatment because cost recovery from other sources was available to the Company. ¹⁵ In the interim, the Company has received a modest amount in rates, and it has been accruing interest on the balance of the deferred costs, pending the receipt of reimbursements and supplemental ratemaking action.

Staff states that Con Edison recently submitted an application to the federal government for a \$197 million reimbursement that was not factored into the rate request presented in this case. Staff also points out that the Company's most recent figures would only support a \$33.5 million rate allowance and not the \$37.3 million figure the judges adopted.

For these reasons, Staff believes that it is premature to provide the Company any greater rate allowance than it is currently receiving. Staff points out that it has not audited this cost category pending the Company's receipt of the available reimbursements.

Like Staff, CPB believes that we should maintain the current ratemaking and any additional rate allowances for World Trade Center costs should be considered in a future rate case. According to CPB, it is in the consumers' best interests to allow the Company to collect the federal reimbursements before we provide any additional rate recovery. CPB also believes that the World Trade Center costs should be fully audited by DPS Staff, and other parties, before they are included in rates. According to CPB, there may be reasons for disallowing some of these costs.

Westchester County also urges that the World Trade Center costs not be recovered at this time. It believes there is no harm for the Company to wait another year to exhaust other sources of funding. Westchester also addresses the amortization period for the World Trade Center costs. Rather than use three

2004).

Case 01-M-1958, Consolidated Edison of New York, Inc. - Costs Related to the World Trade Center Disaster, Order on Treatment of Electric Interference Costs (issued January 30,

years as the Company has proposed, the County believes that they should be recovered over ten years.

In response to the parties' assertions about federal funds, Con Edison states that it does not expect to obtain any additional, material reimbursements. The Company's recent filing was for Category 3 reimbursements that are limited to a total of \$60 million for all qualified applicants. To the extent it obtains any additional reimbursements or any recoveries from insurers, Con Edison is committed to returning them to customers.

Responding to the assertion that the World Trade
Center costs require additional auditing, Con Edison states that
these costs have been audited by the Empire State Development
Corporation and that its support for the claims has been
available since 2004. It points out that the Empire State
Development Corporation rejected some of the Company's claims,
not because they were improper, but because they were for work
that was not within the definition of an event for which federal
reimbursement is available. Pointing to the fact that \$14
million is currently built into rates for World Trade Center
costs, the Company argues that the time is ripe to adjust the
rate allowance upwards.

With respect to the use of deferral accounting for these costs, Con Edison states that the 2005-08 rate plan explicitly recognizes that deferral accounting should apply to the World Trade Center costs. It also notes that Staff has not opposed the continued accrual of interest on these costs. In sum, the Company believes there is no basis for delaying the recovery of World Trade Center costs. Given its Herculean effort to restore lower Manhattan quickly, Con Edison believes that the recovery of the costs it incurred should not be postponed.

Finally, the Company considers the ten-year amortization period suggested by Westchester County to be far too long for the costs related to the World Trade Center collapse that occurred over six years ago.

We find that the best course of action, in the circumstances presented here, is to continue to allow Con Edison to recover \$14 million annually for World Trade Center costs pending the final resolution of the Company's most recent filing for federal reimbursement. This will provide Staff, and other interested parties, an adequate opportunity to complete an audit and examination of the World Trade Center costs and to present this matter in a future rate proceeding. When next we consider this cost, we will set the proper amount to be recovered from ratepayers, including accrued interest, and the amortization period that should be used.

In a related matter, in order to achieve the amount of rate mitigation required in this case, we are removing deferred costs for the World Trade Center from rate base to reduce revenue requirements by \$16 million. The record reflects \$156.5 million of World Trade Center-related costs included in rate base on an after tax basis. The \$16 million of carrying costs associated with this treatment have been considered part of Con Edison's electric revenue requirement. We are reducing the revenue requirement by this \$16 million for two reasons. The Company has received additional funds from the federal government and insurance claims to offset the expenses it incurred and it has transferred some of its World Trade Center expenses to plant in-service. The combined effect of these items is a reduction in the amount included in rate base to \$85 million. Second, we find no strong reasons to provide current recovery of the carrying costs related to the \$85 million at this time. These costs have yet to be reviewed and verified, and the Company's income is not affected because it would accrue carrying costs on the deferred balance while the analysis of the costs is pending. 16 We find that portion of this adjustment reflecting known changes related to insurance and federal proceeds is necessary to prevent the Company from over earning, and the removal of the remaining \$85 million from rate

_

 $^{^{16}}$ Carrying charges should continue to accrue at the AFUDC rate.

base reasonably reflects the status of the review of these expenditures.

Finance and Auditing Department Personnel

Con Edison hired an outside consulting firm (KPMG) to provide it recommendations for its Finance and Audit Departments. To implement the results of the audit, Con Edison has sought to include in rates twelve new positions -- seven in the Tax Department, three in the Treasury Department and two additional accounting positions. The judges determined that the new positions were recognized in the rates set for Con Edison's gas operations. 17 They also observed that all but three of the positions were filled. Accordingly, they recommended against DPS Staff's proposal to eliminate the twelve positions from rates.

On exceptions, Staff states that the acceptance of the joint proposal in the gas rate case should not control the decision here. According to Staff, the terms of the gas joint proposal are not a precedent for the electric department matters presented in this case. Staff further explains that its position on the twelve positions differs because it recently obtained additional information about the outside auditor's report. The auditor's benchmark analysis supporting the new positions considered a peer group consisting mostly of manufacturing firms. If an electric utility company peer group were used, Staff doubts that the benchmark analysis would support the additional positions.

Con Edison states that it has accepted the consultant's recommendation to add staff and reorganize its tax department functions. The Company states that the auditor considered electric industry survey information in addition to the peer group Staff has criticized. Moreover, it considers the

¹⁷ Case 06-G-1332, Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. - Gas Rates, Order Adopting in Part the Terms and Conditions of the Parties' Joint Proposal (issued September 2007), Joint Proposal p. 43.

peer group useful and informative, and it does not believe that it must contain a large number of utility companies. Con Edison doubts that a different peer group, or any more current data, would alter the consultant's recommendations or change the Company's actions to implement the audit results.

Con Edison also denies that it withheld any information from Staff about the outside auditor's report. Further, it believes that it would be improper for the Commission to consider the same hiring plans in two cases and reach different outcomes. It asserts that Staff is second-guessing the outside auditor's expert opinion and recommendations for improving its performance on tax matters to benefit customers. The Company has filled almost all of the new positions and it believes that Staff has not provided a good basis to exclude the twelve positions from rates.

We find no firm evidence for disallowing the twelve new positions in the finance, audit and tax departments. We accept Con Edison's representations that the outside auditor, and its management, gave due consideration to how such work is performed at other utility companies and at large firms. We also note that utility companies were not entirely omitted from the benchmark analysis that the outside auditor employed. We have decided, therefore, to adopt the same treatment for the twelve positions that was allowed in the recent gas rate case.

Management Compensation

1. Deferred Compensation

Con Edison's officers and management employees receive a portion of their pay in the form of deferred compensation stock options. The judges determined that comparable compensation was previously allowed in rates and they recommended that we allow \$14 million for this expense. DPS Staff excepts.

According to Staff, the fact that the Commission may have previously allowed a portion of such costs in rates should not control the decision here. It acknowledges that, in 1992,

Con Edison was allowed to recover half the cost of its Management Incentive Compensation Plan. However, this resulted from the Commission's acceptance of a joint proposal, the terms of which do not provide any precedent. Staff also points out that there was also a general reduction made to expenses claimed in the 1992 rate case that covered items in dispute, including management compensation matters.

Staff considers the stock-based, deferred compensation to be "incentive compensation" that should only be provided to officers and managers who enhance corporate productivity and improve the Company's performance. Staff does not consider this compensation to be "base pay" that Con Edison's officers and managers routinely receive. In addition to opposing the inclusion of the stock-based deferred compensation in rates, DPS Staff considers the \$14 million to be overstated by \$6.7 million that was paid to two senior officers who have since retired.

Con Edison states that the 1992 decision demonstrates that the Commission is willing to recognize incentive compensation in rates as a legitimate business expense. Company also states that the benefits the deferred compensation plan provides customers do not lend themselves to precise measurement. It insists that this compensation is an integral component of the annual compensation package that is offered to officers and management employees. It states that the total package is designed to be competitive with the median level of compensation provided to the officers and managers of a peer group of companies. Further, it states that the total amount of compensation recognizes the high cost of living in the New York City area and is designed to attract and retain talented persons who are needed for long-term success. It believes that Staff's adjustment does not recognize the many elements needed for a proper compensation package in today's business environment. Moreover, the Company believes that the compensation it provides should be considered a legitimate business expense.

Case 91-E-0462, Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. - Electric Rates, Opinion No. 92-8 (issued April 14, 1992).

Con Edison notes that it is not seeking to recover in rates the cost of the annual bonuses that its executives receive even though they, too, according to the Company, are a legitimate cost of doing business that could be recovered from customers.

We find that Staff has properly sought in this case to apply a valid and important distinction between "incentive compensation" and "base pay." We also find that Con Edison has sought to blur this distinction and frustrate Staff's review. The Company has not provided a good basis for us to consider the components of the compensation packages it provides to officers and managers, or the reasonableness of the entire compensation package provided for individual positions and the management team. On the record before us, it appears that the Company has generally provided incentive compensation without requiring clear and convincing demonstrations that the officers' and managers' performances, in their respective departments and units, have produced any specific results to warrant incentive payments. For these reasons, we are adopting Staff's adjustment and rejecting the judges' recommendation.

2. Variable Pay Plan

The judges recommended that \$11 million be allowed for the Company's variable pay plan. Staff excepts and states that Con Edison has admitted that the variable pay plan is "incentive compensation" and, for this reason, it believes the plan should be excluded from rates. According to Staff, all incentive compensation should be covered from improved corporate performances that are sufficient to justify the additional payments to officers and managers. It points to Commission decisions involving three utility companies to support its

assertion that the Commission does not permit incentive compensation to be included in rates. 19

CPB also proposes that the costs of the variable pay plan be excluded from rates. If this expense were to be recognized, CPB believes that the Company must first demonstrate the ratepayer benefits that the plan provides. Also, according to CPB, the evidence provided in this case does not support a finding that the variable pay plan is part of the base pay the Company provides its officers and managers.

According to Con Edison, the variable pay plan adjusts management compensation for the achievement of such corporate goals as good service, reliability, customer service, safety and system operations. The Company believes that it met its burden of proof and has adequately supported the plan in its testimony and with its responses to the parties' discovery.

Similar to its support for the deferred compensation plan, Con Edison states that the variable pay plan is an essential part of the total compensation package for officers and managers. Without it, the Company states, base pay levels and merit increases would have to be higher than they are now. The Company asserts that the merit pay amount was reduced when the variable pay plan was adopted. Con Edison believes that variable pay encourages and rewards good performance by management employees and it helps the Company compete for talented persons. It denies that the variable pay is incentive compensation and asserts that the amount of discretion that managers have to award such amounts is similar to the discretion that managers have to award base pay merit increases.

Cases 90-G-0737 and 91-G-0019, National Fuel Gas - Rates, Opinion No. 91-16 (issued July $\overline{19}$, $\overline{1991}$); Cases $90-S-09\overline{3}8$ and 90-G-1001, Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. -Steam and Gas Rates, Opinion No. $9\overline{1-20}$ (issued October 3, 1991); and, Cases 02-E-0198 and 02-G-0199, Rochester Gas & Electric Corporation - Electric and Gas Rates, Order Adopting the Recommended Decision with Modifications (issued March 7, 2003).

According to Con Edison, the variable pay plan is comparable to plans offered by other utility companies. It also states that performance payments are universally accepted as a proper approach to compensation. It asserts that the plan produces many benefits for customers, including the provision of reliable service and the development of innovative and productive business practices. The Company states that the plan helps to align employees' goals with customers' interests in safe and reliable operations, good service and public safety. It believes that these benefits are not easily measured and the costs of the variable pay plan should not be disallowed for this reason.

Similar to our determination concerning the deferred compensation plan, we find that the variable pay plan has attributes of an "incentive compensation" program and it should be evaluated as such. In this case, the Company has not shown that the variable pay payments were justified by any specific or quantified productivity that the directors and managers were able to obtain. Absent such demonstrations, we are unwilling to allow this expense as any enhancement to the base pay the Company is obligated to provide. Incentive compensation and base pay should not be confused with each other, and we will require that both be adequately justified for inclusion in rates. The Staff and CPB exceptions are granted.

Health Insurance Costs

Con Edison asks us to examine the Commission's standard practice that includes health care costs in the expense group to which we apply the general inflation rate. Like many other utility companies, Con Edison would prefer that we allow specific cost estimates and projections for its health care costs.

Addressing the original rationale for the prevailing practice, the Company observes that the approach has failed to save time or avoid litigation in rate proceedings. Instead, Con Edison states that it has achieved the opposite effect by

engendering continuous, administrative litigation by utility companies. Con Edison believes that the practice is out-dated, arbitrary and illogical.

As to the facts of this case, Con Edison states that its health insurance costs are expected to increase at a rate well above the general inflation rate. It estimates an 8.0% annualized increase in health care claims and a 16% increase in the rates charged by three of its major HMO plans. Rather than use the general inflation rate, Con Edison urges us to take its forecast information for health care costs. Specifically, the Company proposes a labor factor of 6.39% to escalate employee welfare costs; a non-labor factor of 4.7% to escalate employee welfare costs that are unrelated to salaries and wages; and, projected health care cost trend rates of 8.0% and 9.5% for hospital/medical costs and prescription drug costs, respectively.

DPS Staff points out that the Commission has in recently-decided rate proceedings affirmed the use of a general inflation factor for health care costs. According to Staff, it is sufficient in this case to apply the inflation factor to the 2008 health insurance premiums and to use the number of health plan participants as of September 2007. This will provide the Company about \$101.5 million, which is \$3.9 million more than it first requested for health insurance costs. Staff argues against the escalation rates proposed by the Company given the increases being experienced in aggregate operations and other maintenance expense items.

We find no need to reconsider or to change the Commission's standard ratemaking practice in the circumstances presented in this proceeding. We are satisfied that the standard practice is proper and rational within the complete ratemaking context and that the Company is being treated fairly. The practice uses the recent costs and the current employee count to capture the present operating conditions. It also acknowledges that the costs in this and many other categories are expected to increase. Overall, the Company is expected to

manage the cost increases in the entire group and to keep them, as best it can, to the general inflation rate. By this time, we would expect the utility companies to have accepted the standard practice and to apply their resources more productively to other matters.

Group Life Insurance

Con Edison provides management and union-represented employees group life insurance. The judges adjusted downward the costs that the Company claimed for its insurance policies. The Company receives dividends on the insurance polices that serve to reduce their costs. The adjustment was sponsored by CPB and supported by DPS Staff. The judges failed to mention that CPB contributed substantially to the development and consideration of this matter.

East River Repowering Project

Con Edison currently has available \$8.7 million for major maintenance at the East River generating units. The judges recommended that the Company hold on to these funds and continue to use them for the East River Repowering Project. In addition to this sum, the Company will also be collecting \$7.5 million annually in rates for major maintenance at the Repowering Project. The major maintenance at ERRP is currently expected to cost \$24 million in total over the next three years.

As with the \$8.7 million previously collected, Staff proposes that the additional \$7.5 million per year be applied exclusively to major maintenance at the Repowering Project. Any unused funds should be kept for the on-going work on the Project. Staff states that a new expense estimate will be necessary when sufficient operating experience is established.

Con Edison did not respond to the Staff position stated in its brief opposing exceptions. Thus, it does not appear to object to the Staff proposal. The judges' recommendation, and the Staff proposal, is adopted.

Vehicle Fuel Costs

With its rebuttal testimony, Con Edison sought to update its estimate of vehicle fuel costs. At the evidentiary hearings, Staff moved to preclude the use of the new estimate; however, the judges allowed the updated information into evidence. In its briefs to the judges, Staff objected to the new estimates provided with rebuttal. The judges recommended that we use the more recent figures.

On exceptions, DPS Staff insists that the applicable policy statement should be followed and the update should not be allowed. 20 Staff states that Con Edison provided for the record an increase in its budget and it did not provide any properly developed price information and volume changes with the assumptions, factors, contingencies and activity levels that are needed to support the new estimates and volume changes. Staff criticizes the Company's workpapers for not showing the vehicle fuel expense for 2006 or the method that was used to forecast this expense. According to Staff, the Company has not provided a proper basis for us to consider the change.

In response, Con Edison asserts that it provided the vehicle fuel expenses for 2006 for the record and a summary of its fuel costs from 2001 to October 2007. 21 According to it, the exhibit shows that fuel costs and consumption have increased. The Company believes that the exhibit provides a sufficient basis for accepting a volumetric change in consumption. It also notes that vehicle usage and fuel consumption will increase during the rate year due to the large amount of capital construction and O&M projects it has planned.

We are granting Staff's exception because it has demonstrated that the Statement of Policy on Test Periods in Major Rate Proceedings has not been followed and the Company has not shown otherwise that it fulfilled the stated requirements. We accept Staff's assertion that the update is not tied to the

Case 26821, Statement of Policy on Test Periods in Major Rate Proceedings (issued November 23, 1977) 17 NY PSC 25-R.

²¹ Exhibit 363.

original estimate provided in this case, and the development of the update is not clear. While the Company can point to an exhibit reflecting the amounts for 2006 and previous periods, it has not shown how its update was developed from the historic base or how it relates to the previous estimate. Nor has it shown that the revised estimate is based on data that were not available at the time of the original filing, nor has it identified a significant and unforeseen intervening event to justify the consideration of any such revision.

Informational and Institutional Advertising

DPS Staff has proposed that Con Edison only be allowed 0.06% of its operating revenues for informational and institutional advertising. Staff arrived at this percentage by applying the Commission's applicable policy statement. 22 Thus, Staff would hold the Company's electric operations to \$4.47 million for informational and institutional advertising. During 2006, Con Edison spent more than twice as much on advertising, \$10.5 million, and it has proposed to spend \$19 million, on a total company basis, during the upcoming rate year. The judges agreed with Staff that the policy statement should apply.

On exceptions, Con Edison claims the 1977 policy statement is out-of-date and the Company's efforts to inform the public about energy conservation, emergency preparedness and other matters would be substantially frustrated if the expense level advanced by Staff and recommended by the judges is adopted. The Company believes it should enhance and expand communications on important topics rather than cut back. The Company states that it is prepared to consult with Staff on the design of a proper communications program, and make appropriate changes to its plans, in order to obtain approval for its communications program rather than go forward with an inadequate program.

Statement of Policy on Advertising and Promotional Practices of Public Utilities (issued February 25, 1977) 17 NY PCS 1-R. Addressing the 1977 policy statement, Con Edison notes that the Commission stated that it would review its policy periodically and revise its practice to reflect any new or changed circumstances. The Company states that much has changed in the intervening years, including electric industry deregulation, the sale of utility property and assets, and the introduction of competitive energy suppliers and retail access. In the current environment, the Company claims that the public requires more information about service conditions, energy conservation and doing business with electric companies. It considers the policy statement to be an artifact of the past that has no valid application today.

If the policy statement were to continue, Con Edison suggests that its allowance should be increased. Rather than receive a 0.06% allowance, the Company argues for the 0.1% allowance that would put it at the top of the range established in 1977. In any event, by examining the Company's 2006 expenditures, Con Edison believes that we should see that a higher expense allowance is necessary for useful information programs. It also points out that doing business in the New York City area is more costly than in many other locations.

Con Edison also states that the communications requirements that have been adopted for service outage conditions require that greater funding be provided for information advertising. It notes that customers will receive notification of service conditions through bill inserts, advertisements and public service announcements. The Company observes that it must reach many diverse communities and use ethnic publications.

In response, Staff supports the application of the advertising policy statement and states that important information and public messages need not be curtailed. Staff also distinguishes from informational and institutional advertising the Company's outreach program that is used to inform customers of their rights, responsibilities and safety matters, and to provide pertinent information about contacting

the Company. These efforts will not be affected by the application of the policy statement to curtail the Company's use of ratepayer provided funds for self-serving advertisements.

We agree with Staff that reliance on the 1977 policy statement on informational and institutional advertising should not affect Con Edison's important consumer outreach efforts, which are separately budgeted and accounted for in rates. The application of the policy statement to Con Edison will not adversely affect any new or important informational programs that the Company will implement for any valid public programs we may mandate. In any future rate proceedings, the Company is encouraged to document its outreach program needs on the record so that these programs can continue in an effective and efficient manner.²³

Separate from these outreach funds, however, is the funding for this informational and institutional advertising category. Because evaluation of the appropriate level of such advertising is a much more subjective enterprise, reliance on the policy statement's guidelines has continuing merit and application here. The policy statement continues to have a valid purpose and it can be put to good use in today's circumstances and conditions. We are therefore adopting Staff's proposal for a 0.6% allowance that is the standard for a company of Con Edison's size. If the Company believes that the funds available to it through the standard allowance are insufficient for it to accomplish proper objectives, the program plans that

_

The Company's rate case presentation contained a line item amount for informational advertising that was not based on any percentage allowance. This line item reflected both advertising and outreach and education expenditures. Further, we have determined that general outreach and education, and the outreach and education for retail access and energy efficiency was also included in the "Other" operations and maintenance expense line of the Company's presentation. In the future, Con Edison should clearly and separately state all such amounts in its rate case presentations and it should minimize the inclusion of any such expenses in the "Other" category.

it submits for our review in the future should include the Company's funding request for any additional informational and institutional advertising it believes is warranted.

Interference Expense

Con Edison incurs expenses to protect and replace electric facilities when municipalities install or repair water mains, sewers, drainage, roads, sidewalks and curbs. The judges recommended that Con Edison be allowed about \$93 million in rates to perform the amount of work expected during the rate year. Exceptions have been filed by CPB and DPS Staff.

CPB believes that the expense estimate should be reduced to \$78 million. It developed this figure by using the amounts Con Edison budgeted and incurred for interference work in 2006. CPB states that its calculation conforms with standard ratemaking practices. It also believes that a \$24 million (44%) increase for interference work is adequate and reasonable.

In response, Con Edison states that there is no record support for the amount of interference work estimated by CPB and the estimates provided by the Company and Staff are in keeping with New York City's projections of planned capital expenditures. The Company also disagrees with the method that CPB used to project this expense which relies exclusively on historical data and does not consider new or different information such as the City's work projections. According to Con Edison, 2006 was an anomalous year. It notes that interference expenditures have increased since 2002, and in any year, the expenditures can either exceed or be below the budget amount.

On exceptions, DPS Staff addresses the \$1 million difference between its expense estimate and the Company's. Staff explains that its expense estimate is \$92 million because it adjusted the Company's incremental interference labor to avoid a double count. According to Staff, Company personnel will be shifted from one area to another to provide the workers

needed to perform the interference work. This will bring about a reduction in another labor expense item.

Staff also supports the use of a one-way expense reconciliation mechanism. It recognizes that \$92 million for interference work is 27% greater than the four-year average expense that the Company has incurred. Due to this substantial cost increase, Staff proposes that any portion of the \$92 million not spent for the intended purpose be preserved for ratepayers. Were Con Edison to spend more than \$92 million on interference work during the rate year, Staff would not allow the Company to recover the excess expenditures from ratepayers.

We accept the \$92 million estimate that Staff has provided for interference work in the rate year. This figure is supported by the parties' knowledge and review of New York City's plans for infrastructure improvements and it is not limited to a review of the historic information. We recognize that this is a large sum and we are willing to include it in rates but only for the intended purpose of paying for the protection and restoration of electric facilities that are impacted by municipal works. Consequently, we are adopting Staff's proposal to require the Company to return to ratepayers any portion of the amount that is not spent for this work.

Customer Service - Call Centers

The judges recommended a compromise between the Con Edison and DPS Staff positions concerning the need for additional call center staff. The Company proposed to increase the staff at the call center by 36 representatives and two supervisors; Staff proposed to eliminate the new positions. The judges recommended that half of the positions be included in rates and that this matter be revisited in the next Con Edison rate case to determine whether any additional positions are needed. Local 1-2 excepts.

According to the Union, all the call center positions are needed. It points out that, during a recent service outage, the representatives worked 16 hour shifts. From its experience

and observations, Local 1-2 believes that there is a clear need for all the call center representatives proposed by the Company to provide adequate customer service.

We adopt the judges' recommendation to provide additional staff for the call center in a gradual manner to see how well the Company implements the new positions. This will provide a useful basis for determining whether any additional employees are needed in the future should we examine this matter again in the Company's next rate proceeding.

Customer Service - Field Operations

The judges recommended that the Company be allowed to increase its field representatives by 15 positions as it proposed. No party has taken exception to the judges' recommendation. In its brief, Local 1-2 states that it agrees with the proposal because the field representatives provide a valuable, direct link between customers and the Company. In addition to investigating accounts and helping to protect the integrity of the electric network, the Union observes that the field representatives provide customers a good means to communicate with the Company and to obtain satisfaction that their dealings with computers and telephones may not be able to provide.

Director and Officer Liability Insurance

The judges recommended that Con Edison be allowed to include in rates the cost of the liability insurance that the Company purchases to protect its directors and officers. CPB proposed that these costs be disallowed; however, the judges were not aware of a Commission policy, practice or precedent for disallowing such costs. On exceptions, CPB urges us to consider Con Edison's current circumstances and to require shareholders, rather than ratepayers, to pay for the recent increase in the cost for the liability insurance.

CPB states that the liability insurance protects directors and officers from inappropriate activities and

decisions that are adverse to shareholder interests. It also states that ratepayers provide directors and officers fair compensation in the rates they pay for utility service. CPB considers it to be unfair for ratepayers to also be called upon to pay for the insurance to insulate directors and officers from their responsibility for any inappropriate decisions.

Addressing Con Edison's current circumstances, CPB states that the cost of the liability insurance for directors and officers significantly increased in recent years. According to CPB, it represents over one-fifth of the Company's total corporate insurance costs. CPB believes that the Company is capable of controlling this cost and the recent increase may be attributable to pending lawsuits and investigations of the Company's actions. CPB believes that customers should not be required to fund the higher insurance costs and pay for any corporate officer liability for recent events. It specifically proposes that the amount included in rates for director and officer liability insurance be set at the cost level incurred before 2006.

In response, Con Edison asserts that director and officer insurance is a legitimate business expenditure that is incurred to provide service to customers. It states that this insurance is necessary to retain its officers and directors and to attract qualified individuals to these positions. It denies that there are any new facts or circumstances to warrant a change in the established ratemaking practice. And, rather than attribute any cost increases for this liability insurance either to the 2006 power outage or the 2007 steam rupture, Con Edison states that, through no fault of the Company's management, and due to forces outside of its control, the liability insurance rates have been on the rise since 2001.

The judges are correct that a review of past cases shows that the Commission has not previously made an adjustment like the one CPB has proposed here. For this reason, we will accept the judges' recommendation. However, the parties are on notice that if adequate, detailed support for such an adjustment

is provided by CPB, or any other party interested in this matter, we will entertain a cap on the amount of basic liability insurance that ratepayers would be expected to cover in the rates they pay.

Site Investigation and Remediation

The judges accepted DPS Staff's estimate for the cost of the site investigation and environmental remediation (SIR) work that will be performed where manufactured gas was once produced. On exceptions, CPB argues for a full audit of the SIR program and the potential disallowance of some of the costs that the Company has claimed for this work.

According to CPB, the amount that Con Edison expects to incur (\$134.5 million from April 2007 to March 2009) should be examined to determine the Company's ability to perform the work in a cost-effective manner. CPB believes that the reasonableness of the Company's SIR cost estimates; the Company's bidding procedures; and the adequacy of Con Edison's management to minimize overall costs should all be examined. It believes that the funds for SIR work should be subject to reconciliation to the audit results. According to CPB, the amount ultimately paid by customers should be no more than is determined to be reasonable by a complete review of the SIR program. CPB believes that temporary rates might be used for the portion of the rate award for SIR work pending the audit results.

Con Edison states that the issues listed by CPB were not examined in this case and the record contains no evidence casting any doubt on the reasonableness of the SIR costs that it incurs. To the contrary, it points to the testimony of a Company witness concerning the steps that the Company takes to control the SIR costs.

In contrast to the reconciliation mechanism suggested by CPB, Con Edison proposes that a reconciliation process be used to provide full recovery of the prudently incurred SIR costs. It states that the Commission previously provided full recovery for SIR costs through a reconciliation process and by using deferred accounting. The Company believes that this practice should continue so it can aggressively pursue environmental remediation and further the State's and New York City's environmental policies. Absent a reconciliation and deferred accounting, the Company states that it would not be able to recover unanticipated costs for contamination that may be found during field work. The Company is unwilling to incur unrecoverable liabilities and expenditures.

New York City fully supports the Company and agrees that a reconciliation mechanism and deferral accounting are warranted. It does not believe that Con Edison's remediation efforts should be discouraged. It states that the manufactured gas plant sites pose a serious health and safety problem that inhibits redevelopment efforts in local communities. The City states that it has worked with State government officials on the development of cost-effective and expeditious clean-up efforts.

Westchester County proposes to extend to ten years the amortization period used to recover SIR costs. The County observes that the Commission recently adopted a ten-year amortization of such costs in approving the merger of KeySpan Corporation and National Grid PLC.²⁴

In opposition to Westchester, Con Edison states that there has been no showing that its circumstances are comparable to those presented in the National Grid/KeySpan merger case. It also states that there is no basis for believing that a ten-year recovery period would be reasonable for the costs the Company expects to incur during the rate year. It prefers that we use a three-year amortization period for the SIR costs.

In response to the Company and New York City, CPB states that it supports the need to investigate and remediate manufactured gas plant sites in accordance with the directives issued by the State Department of Environmental Conservation.

²⁴ Case 06-M-0878, <u>National Grid PLC and KeySpan Corporation - Acquisition and Rates</u>, Order Authorizing Acquisition Subject to Conditions (issued September 17, 2007).

It believes that the Company should not have any financial incentive to postpone or avoid environmental efforts and it supports the proposal for a cost reconciliation process and deferral accounting. Nonetheless, it also states that an investigation of the actual SIR costs is necessary for there to be a thorough review of the program and assurances that the projects are performed in a cost-effective manner.

We find that the judges erred and they should have recommended that the rates provided for the SIR program will be reconciled with amounts the Company incurs. Deferral accounting has previously been used for the SIR program and it will continue to be used for these costs. This much is not in any substantial dispute among the parties who believe that Con Edison should be allowed to recovery prudent and reasonable SIR costs.

The amortization period to be used for cost recovery purposes, and the need for additional review of the management and execution of the SIR program have been seriously debated by the parties. We agree with Westchester County that the length of the amortization period should be in keeping with current conditions which, in the case of KeySpan and National Grid, led us to adopt a ten-year amortization. We find that a ten-year amortization is also warranted for Con Edison given the proximity of its service area to KeySpan's and the rising rate levels that the Company is experiencing.

With respect to CPB's proposal calling for additional auditing of Con Edison's oversight and execution of the SIR program, we are requiring the Company to address fully in its next electric rate increase filing its bidding process, management practices and efforts to operate a cost-effective SIR program. Inasmuch as we have decided to use a ten-year amortization period for SIR costs, there is no need to adopt any other ratemaking mechanisms for the recovery of the Company's prudent and reasonable costs that will be fully examined in the next rate proceeding.

Reserve Accounting For Storms

The RD stated that CPB's arguments were persuasive and recommended that the Company be permitted to establish a storm reserve in the amount of \$5.6 million dollars, subject to true-up, and to accrue interest. CPB questions whether the recommended dollar level was a typographical error (because it advocated \$5 million) and asks for clarification. We hereby clarify that \$5.6 million was not a typographical error, but was intended to recommend an amount that was less than the Company's proposal but greater than CPB's. We find that the recommended amount is a reasonable compromise. We further find that the recommendation, which includes, among other things, a true-up provision, adequately balances concerns about rate levels and impacts and requirements for safe and adequate service. We therefore adopt it without modification.

Labor Expense - Normalizing Adjustment

The judges did not address specifically an issue CPB raised about Con Edison's rate year labor forecast. According to CPB, the Company added about \$3.4 million to its estimate to account for positions that were filled for only a portion of the historic test period (for which a full year's compensation is required) and for positions that were vacant during the historic test period that are expected to be filled during the rate year. CPB claims the Company's adjustment is one-sided and does not account for employees who leave the Company or for the vacancies that can be expected to occur during the rate year. CPB has proposed to reduce the Company's labor expense projection by \$2.46 million.

According to Con Edison, CPB's characterization of the employee payroll expenses forecast is incorrect. The Company states that the forecast reflects a vacancy factor because "any

Thus, a regulatory asset would be created if the spending level does not reach \$5.6 million in the rate year; conversely, a regulatory liability would be created if the spending were greater than \$5.6 million in the rate year.

vacancies that occurred in the historic year are reflected in the payroll costs for that year." Thus, it states, the vacancy durations in the historic period are carried forward to the rate year. As to the vacancies that will occur in the rate year, the Company states that it immediately seeks to fill such positions and it is not practical to attempt to forecast the duration for any particular vacancy due to the amount of time it takes to hire of employees.

A review of the evidence shows that Con Edison projected rate year labor count, before program changes, based on the December 2006 force count that was the final month of the historic test year and which has the highest count in the year. 26 This clearly obviates the need to normalize the labor cost forecast for positions that were filled for only a portion of the historic year. Also, it is unreasonable to assume, as Con Edison has, that the vacancies that will occur during the rate year will be immediately filled. Therefore, we are adopting the CPB-proposed adjustment.

Tax Matters

1. Property Tax Reconciliation Proposal

Con Edison proposed that the amount included in rates for property taxes be reconciled to the actual amount of taxes that are paid during the rate year. DPS Staff opposed the Company's proposal and the judges agreed with Staff that reconciliation is not required for property taxes.

On exceptions, the Company points out that the judges have recommended a reconciliation for certain capital expenditures and it believes that consistency would apply reconciliations to other items. With respect to property taxes, Con Edison claims that they can be highly variable and the taxes are outside its control. For example, it points to the 18.5% New York City real property tax increase that occurred in 2002-03 and the adverse impact it had on the Company. The Company

-56-

²⁶ See, Exhibit 84, Schedule 2, p. 2.

states that the tax amounts for 2007-08 are only known through June 2008 and during the remainder of the rate year they could vary from the amount projected. According to Con Edison, a symmetrical, bilateral reconciliation mechanism would properly protect both customers and investors.

Staff continues to oppose the Company's proposal and states that it should not be insulated entirely from the risk of a property tax increase. Staff acknowledges that the judges recommended reconciliations for some items but none for property taxes; however, Staff believes it is appropriate to use a one-way reconciliation to protect customer interests in instances involving large cost increases while avoiding the use of reconciliation mechanisms for items that can be reasonably forecast. According to Staff, the possibility of an extraordinary or unforeseen event that could affect the amount of property taxes does not mandate the use of a reconciliation mechanism. It notes that the Company may file a petition to defer extraordinary costs that would be decided on its merits.

We find that the judges correctly concluded that the typical approach for a conventional, one-year rate proceeding does not provide a property tax reconciliation. Like most other expense items, the best estimate of this cost should be used to set the level of rates for the upcoming year. The Company's exception is denied.

2. Property Tax Refunds

To achieve the amount of rate mitigation that is needed in this case, we are crediting to ratepayers the New York City property tax refund that Con Edison declared in the August 2, 2007 notification it provided in Case 07-E-0927. Pending the completion of Case 07-E-0927 and a final accounting of the costs the Company incurred to obtain this refund, we are passing back to ratepayers \$11.2 million. The rate amount will be reconciled with the results obtained in Case 07-E-0927.

We are also returning to ratepayers the Town of Stony Point property tax refund declared in a March 17, 2008 notice

provided by Con Edison. Pending the completion of our investigation of the refund and a final accounting of the costs the Company incurred to obtain this refund, we are passing back to ratepayers \$1.2 million. The ratepayer benefit amount will be reconciled to our findings in Case 08-M-0281.

In addition, we have reflected the expected rate year property tax expense savings resulting from the Stony Point settlement. Con Edison has identified an expected \$2.4 million reduction in its rate year property tax expense resulting from its settlement.

3. New Property Tax Estimate

The Company, by letter dated March 10, 2008 to the Secretary, indicated that the Office of Real Property Services was increasing the estimated value for certain properties by Based upon the property tax rates reflected in the Recommended Decision, the Company estimated that this would increase its rate year level of property taxes by \$46 million. Con Edison did not propose any specific treatment of this information in the revenue requirements we determine here. Staff, by letter dated March 13, 2008, states that this item does not qualify as an allowable update under our Statement of Policy On Test Periods in Major Rate Proceedings because it was submitted too late and the effect of the change in the valuation base on actual taxes cannot be estimated with any certainty because the actual tax rate is unknown. Inasmuch as the Company did not specifically request that we include this matter in revenue requirements, there is no reason for us to decide any such issue. In any event, the Company may seek deferral of this expense during the rate year if it qualifies for such treatment under the established standards.

4. Economic Stimulus Act of 2008

The Economic Stimulus Act of 2008 (the Act) which became law on February 13, 2008 enables businesses, including Con Edison, to depreciate for tax purposes a much higher portion

of assets constructed and placed in service in 2008 than is normally available. This produces a significant improvement in cash flow for the Company as the result of reduced current tax liabilities. The improved cash flow is generally reflected in ratemaking as an offset to rate base. Given the Company's forecast of capital additions for 2008, we estimate that the value of the revenue requirement reduction associated with the incremental \$208 million rate base offset created by the Act is about \$22.5 million for the rate year. We will reflect these benefits in our rate determination today. Because the precise level of benefits ultimately depends on the amount of eligible property placed in service, the Company is directed to defer any differences between the amount we authorize and actual results.

R&D Costs

Con Edison has also sought a reconciliation for its research and development (R&D) costs and the judges did not recommend one. On exceptions, the Company claims that all of its research and development projects are warranted and \$22 million is needed to support them. If Staff's \$19 million estimate is used, the Company believes it should have the benefit of a reconciliation mechanism should any higher amount be incurred.

In response, Staff explains the rationale for its \$19 million estimate which takes into account the success of the Company's projects and the credits that the R&D program receives whenever successful projects are capitalized. Staff projects a continuation of such credits and it sees no need to provide any reconciliation mechanism for this expense category.

We adopt Staff's estimate of R&D expenses for the rate year which includes proper recognition of the credits that the program receives for successful efforts. We see no need to provide any reconciliation mechanism for this expense.

Productivity Adjustment

In its rate case filing, Con Edison applied the standard one-percent productivity adjustment that is typically used to encourage more efficient operations. The judges recommended against a three-percent productivity adjustment proposed by NYC Government Customers. They also recommended against a Local 1-2 proposal calling for an end to the productivity adjustment. Both parties have filed exceptions.

From its review of the Company's operations and the capital projects that are planned and in progress, NYC Government Customers believe that there is a much greater opportunity for the Company to achieve cost savings and productivity. They point to the large increase in capital and O&M spending and discuss the analysis of these programs provided by the witness they sponsored. They believe that the analysis shows the potential for productivity savings in the three-percent range.

In response, Con Edison claims that the analysis provided by NYC Government Customers is speculative and increased productivity depends on the nature of the capital and O&M spending and not on the amounts that are spent. The Company states that the opposing witness should have sought to quantify the potential productivity that each project could provide but he did not do so. The Company states that it has, in fact, reflected in its revenue requirements calculation the productivity associated with many of the projects that the witness listed.

Local 1-2 is concerned about the productivity adjustment's potential interference with the collective bargaining process. The adjustment is calculated as a percentage of the Company's internal labor costs. The Union believes that this encourages the Company to reduce the internal workforce and induces poor performance. Local 1-2 believes that the adjustment discriminates against internal labor and encourages the Company to use outside contract labor to avoid the application of the productivity adjustment. Thus, the Union

believes that the ratemaking process has inserted itself into the collective bargaining process to the advantage of outside contractors.

The Company's use of outside contractors also raises other concerns for Local 1-2. The Union believes that outside contractors are capable of providing shoddy work that could detract from the provision of safe, adequate and reliable service. Local 1-2 believes, as well, that outside contractors may use undocumented workers who may present security risks for the electric network.

We find that the one-percent productivity adjustment that is frequently applied to public utility companies is a modest ratemaking convention that does not provide the utility company a perverse incentive to reduce its workforce below the level that is necessary to provide good quality service. We also find that neither the magnitude nor the mechanics of the adjustment are likely to cause utility management to hire unqualified contractors to perform low-quality work or to induce management to incur excessive outside costs or to engage in strategies to minimize its application of the adjustment to its operations.

Emergency Preparedness

Con Edison proposed to increase its O&M expenses by about \$4 million and its capital expenditures by about \$8.4 million to improve its emergency response organization. Staff argued that the Company was not ready to make these expenditures because, at all levels, the Company's emergency preparedness program lacks cohesion and accountability. Before any new funds are committed to the program, Staff insisted that an acceptable business plan be provided which demonstrates better coordinated efforts. The judges accepted the Company's assertion that some of the work it proposed would be necessary in any circumstance, so they provided an allowance for vault replacements used for coastal storm mitigation purposes, a command center and a control center screening group. Con Edison excepts.

The Company urges us to fully fund its Electric Operations Emergency Management group on the basis of the order recently issued that addresses its emergency preparedness. 27 The recent order requires the Company to provide a comprehensive plan addressing the findings and recommendations it contains. According to the Company, the plan it will implement, and the improvements it will make, will require that it spend the amount requested in this case for emergency preparedness. Con Edison also believes that deferral accounting will be needed to allow it to recover from customers the incremental costs associated with the improvements required by the recent order.

We find, at this stage of the process, that it is premature to provide the Company any incremental amounts for emergency preparedness. This does not relieve Con Edison of its responsibility to provide safe and adequate service, and to make adjustments to its corporate policies and procedures where necessary. The Company is provided with over \$1 billion of nonfuel O&M in rates and while we are willing to address the need for proven new programs, we cannot adopt the projections provided by the company. We will, however, reconsider the need for additional funding after more definitive and better supported analysis is submitted by Con Edison in a future rate proceeding or as part of a separate filing. Such an analysis should clearly differentiate incremental costs from those cost which are reallocated from existing resources. At that time, we will also consider the Audit Report implementation plan, its underlying analysis and support, including costs and benefits, as well as actions that the Company will have implemented which demonstrate progress and which will lead to performance improvement.

_

²⁷ Case 06-M-1078, <u>Consolidated Edison of New York, Inc. -</u>
<u>Performance Response to Outage Emergencies</u>, Order Directing the Submission of an Implementation Plan (issued January 17, 2008).

Mandatory Hourly Pricing (MHP)

The Company proposed to expand its MHP program to all customers whose maximum demand is greater than 500 kW in any month during an annual period ending September 30. 28 The judges recommended that Staff's enhanced outreach and education (O&E) plan be incorporated into the Company's proposed expansion of its MHP program, but with respect to approval of the Company's proposal, including its proposed schedule, they deferred to our decision in the MHP proceeding. 29 The Company, Staff, the City, RESA, and SCMC filed exceptions to the judges' recommendation.

The Company, Staff and RESA contend that increasing the number of customers with access to hourly prices and hourly usage information is consistent with Commission policy and should be undertaken. The Company and Staff note that that there was no substantive objection to the Company's proposed expansion of MHP by any party to this proceeding. The Company contends that deferring to the MHP proceeding would result in a delay of at least two years and would frustrate the goals articulated in our MHP Order. The Company states that its MHP proposal and its positions relating to Staff's suggestions should be adopted.

Staff states that clear decisions on O&E, the implementation schedule, the proposed penalty for denying access to replace the meter, and cost recovery will aid in moving the program ahead quickly. Staff argues that the recommendation to defer to a decision in the MHP proceeding for purposes of determining the implementation schedule fails because the MHP

There are currently 1,570 customers with demand greater than 500 kW and up to and including 1500 kW. The Company projects expenditures of about \$6.1 million for meter and meter installations and nearly \$1 million in O&M expense for ongoing associated communication requirements. Tr. 772.

Case 03-E-0641, <u>Proceeding on Motion of the Commission</u>
Regarding Expedited Implementation of Mandatory Hourly
Pricing for Commodity Service, Order Denying Petitions for
Rehearing and Clarification in Part and Adopting Mandatory
Hourly Pricing Requirements (issued April 24, 2006) (MHP
Order).

Order does not address the scheduling of the expansion of Con Edison's MHP customer class. Staff recounts its disagreement with the Company on the pace of the proposed implementation. However, Staff asserts that it and the Company now agree that if we determine that customers should have access to data before being required to switch to MHP, then we should require the program to start after all the meters are installed and the Company has had an adequate opportunity to provide the required data.

With respect to the Company's proposed penalty for denying access to replace the meter, Staff notes that the RD does not resolve the issue, but does correctly state Staff's opposition to the proposal and its reasons for such opposition. Based on those reasons, Staff continues to urge that we not allow the special charge.

Staff opposes the Company's cost recovery proposal and reiterates its recommendation that the meter costs be recovered by a tariffed incremental meter charge, consistent with the MHP Order's directive that utilities should "recover incremental metering costs from the affected customers over time in conformance with normal amortization periods." Staff notes our approval of National Grid's proposal to recover metering costs through an incremental metering charge and argues that Con Edison has not provided sufficient evidence to support a different cost recovery method.

The City argues that the RD erred in finding that "insufficient record basis was provided" for the City's proposed collaborative. It reiterates its concerns regarding customers transferring from conventional to real-time rates, including the need to insure accuracy and fairness of the MSC/MAC mechanism and to reconcile real-time rates to conventional service rates. The City contends that the extensive investment sought by the Company for advanced metering infrastructure and O&M over the next three years evidences the need to ensure that MHP rates are correct.

RESA states that it strongly supports the Company's proposed expansion of the MHP program. In addition to reiterating arguments discussed in the RD, RESA asserts that the provision of the data made available by real time meters empowers customers with the information needed to make informed choices about consumption and patterns of energy use and that ESCOs require access to such data in order to develop products that meet customers' needs, including enhancing the ESCOs ability to offer energy efficiency products. SCMC concurs with RESA.

In its reply, the Company disagrees with Staff's position that it failed to demonstrate that a \$1,000 special access charge is needed. It cites its testimony that "'some customers do not freely provide access for some reason or no reason' (Tr. 831) and that in Westchester, as part of the AMR program, customers refused to allow the Company access to replace the meter (Tr. 3883-3884)." The Company also refers to its testimony (Tr. 3879-3884) that "a customer that does not want to be transferred to mandatory hourly pricing has an incentive to refuse the Company access..."

The Company proposes that the costs of the meters be recovered from all customers through the delivery rate. contends that MHP benefits all customers because reductions in usage by MHP customers may decrease the market price of energy. It adds that its proposal to recover the meter costs in base rates is consistent with its recovery of the costs of meters generally and states that such rate treatment is particularly appropriate for a program where customer participation is mandatory. The Company argues that making customers liable for meter costs may very well give them an incentive to refuse meter installation. The Company asserts that National Grid's administration of its MHP program and its recovery of metering costs should not dictate the results here, particularly since the Con Edison proposal is not precluded by the MHP Order. Finally, the Company adds that Staff provides no explanation as to why the Company's recovery of meter installation costs should be different from its recovery of implementation and outreach and education costs.

In response to the City, the Company asserts that the RD properly concluded that "insufficient record support was provided by NYC for the collaborative it suggests." The Company characterizes the City's exception as confusing because it refers to "AMI offers" without defining what that term means. The Company concludes that the RD properly determined that much of the information sought by the City could be provided through O&E efforts.

In its reply, Staff reiterates the importance of adopting an implementation schedule that would enable customers to avail themselves of historic usage data in order to fully benefit from MHP and enable the program to achieve its maximum effectiveness. Staff urges us to embrace the recommendation to incorporate Staff's O&E enhancements, stating that the Company misinterpreted its position on O&E. Staff cites to its recommended increase of \$400,000 in the Company's O&E budget, an amount it contends is large enough to cover the projected cost of O&E for MHP expansion.

We concur with the parties' arguments that the expansion of the MHP program should not be delayed and find that efforts to move more swiftly to hourly pricing comport with the goals expressed in the MHP Order. Accordingly, we approve the Company's proposal to expand its MHP program to all customers whose maximum demand is greater than 500 kW in any month during an annual period ending September 30. However, our adoption of the proposed expansion is coupled with our adoption of (1) Staff's "enhanced" O&E plan; (2) a modified implementation schedule, described more fully below; (3) denial of the Company's proposed penalty; and (4) approval of cost recovery that is consistent with our MHP Order. Specifically, we concur with the judges' finding that the O&E enhancements proposed by Staff may be a better way of addressing the interests of the customers for whom the expansion is proposed and the parties commenting on this issue. Measures such as live seminars and

communications designed to determine ways to make software packages more customer friendly should better prepare eligible MHP customers for their transition to MHP.³⁰

As to the implementation schedule, we require the program to start after all the meters are installed and the Company has had an adequate opportunity to provide six months of hourly interval data for customers with demand greater than 1 MW up to and including 1.5 MW and one year of interval data for customers with demand greater than 500 kW up to and including 1 MW. We find that adoption of this schedule strikes a reasonable balance between expediency, on the one hand, and, on the other hand, the desire to ensure that eligible MHP customers have sufficient time and data to see how their load is affected by season, production patterns, weather and the like, and to effectively make adjustments to their load patterns in an anticipation of the new Hourly Pricing Tariff.

We are not persuaded by the Company's arguments in favor of a tariffed penalty charge. In short, the testimony to which the Company refers does not provide any specific information regarding the alleged incidents of refusal and does not justify the basis for the proposed penalty amount.

Accordingly, the Company's proposal to impose a \$1000 charge on the bills of customers who deny access to change the meter is denied. If the Company can later demonstrate that its actual experiences and costs warrant it, the Company may file a

30

We are denying the City's request for a RTP/rate design collaborative because, to the extent the request is motivated by a desire to educate and prepare customers to transfer from conventional rates to real-time rates, such concerns should be adequately addressed by the O&E program we have adopted. With respect to the City's concerns about the accuracy and fairness of RTP, reference to testimony that discusses in general terms some of the guiding principles the City would have apply to RTP and rate design, does not, by itself, persuade us that there is sufficient justification for instituting a RTP/rate design collaborative in this proceeding.

petition seeking our authorization to impose an appropriate charge.

With respect to cost recovery, the reasons for allowing recovery of metering costs through an incremental metering charge to the customers who require installation of an interval meter in order to participate in hourly pricing and allowing remaining implementation and O&E costs to be recovered from all ratepayers through delivery rates were set forth in the MHP Order (at 30-31). As stated therein, we found that recovery of metering costs through an incremental metering charge is an appropriate rate mechanism because it recovers the cost over time from those customers requiring installation of an interval meter in order to participate in hourly pricing. We further found that authorizing the utilities to recover the remaining implementation and outreach and education costs (i.e., those unrelated to meter installation and activation) from all ratepayers through delivery rates was appropriate because all customers would benefit from the reduction of peak load and peak prices resulting from the implementation of hourly pricing. These reasons have not been persuasively overcome by the Company's arguments here. Therefore, consistent with our MHP Order, we authorize Con Edison to recover metering costs through an incremental metering charge to the customers who require installation of an interval meter in order to participate in hourly pricing and to recover remaining implementation and O&E costs from all ratepayers through delivery rates.

Electric Production

The Company proposed a number of O&M program changes to its electric production category, increasing projected spending in these areas by approximately \$7 million. The RD recommended approval of the changes, along with one adjustment proposed by Staff.

CPB excepts and renews its request that its adjustments to gas turbine maintenance and facilities maintenance be adopted. CPB claims that neither the record nor

the RD contains explanations for the magnitude of the increases or why approval of the increases is in the public interest. The Company responds that CPB provides no justification to overcome the RD's conclusion that "the Company has demonstrated a sufficient record basis for adoption of its proposed spending levels." It states that CPB simply reiterates its prior statements that there is an increase in costs between the historic year and the rate year. The Company argues that it has explained the reasons for the cost increase (Tr. 907-935), and that the RD determination was proper.

We have reviewed the record evidence cited by CPB and by the Company and we concur with the RD's finding that the Company provided sufficient evidentiary basis for concluding that its proposed program changes should be adopted. We note in particular testimony that some of the reasons for the program changes at issue are that they will help enhance reliability and provide critical black start service for restoration (Tr. 927-928) and will address certain inspection related repairs that are designed to address conditions so that they do not become safety issues (Tr. 928-929). We also note that the RD summarized the relevant testimony and the Company's references thereto, and we conclude that it is this testimony which lead to the finding that the Company provided sufficient basis for its proposed changes. Against this backdrop, we find no support for CPB's assertions that the there is no record explanation for the magnitude of the increases or for why their approval is in the public interest; CPB's exceptions are therefore denied.

Depreciation and Amortization

The Company proposed updating the average service lives of twelve of its primary plant accounts or sub-accounts, so that eight accounts would change toward shorter lives and four would change toward longer lives. In addition, it proposed changing the majority of its primary plant accounts or sub-accounts toward higher negative net salvage factors.

Staff contested some of the changes to service lives and net salvage factors, while NYC Government Customers and Westchester County proposed to modify the recovery of net salvage. The judges recommended that the Company's proposed changes be implemented for the uncontested accounts and that Staff's proposed changes be implemented for the contested accounts. The Company, NYC Government Customers and the County except.

The Company argues that the RD failed to explain why the Staff's consideration of additional historical data and studies is a superior approach. More importantly, according to the Company, the RD errs on a substantive basis because (1) Staff only considered such data for two of the six accounts where average service lives were contested and improperly relied on two inherently inaccurate plant mortality studies in setting the service lives and (2) for the other four contested accounts as to service lives, as well as two additional accounts where Staff contested the Company's net salvage factor proposals, Staff did not consider any additional historical data but instead relied on the work papers supplied and relied upon by the Company. The Company argues that its rebuttal testimony demonstrated why the results derived by Staff from the Company's work papers were incorrect and why the Company's proposal was justifiable. It concludes that the RD errs in not even addressing its demonstration.

NYC Government Customers argue that the RD apparently and erroneously adopted the Company's intergenerational equity argument and, as a result, the Company's rate year depreciation expense is overstated by \$120 million. They state that the current method is inequitable because it usually requires the installation of a new asset to serve a new generation of electric customers which means a prior generation must fund the siting of that new asset. To the extent the RD relied on the facts that the Company's current method is widely used in the industry and the City witness was not recommending the same change for other utilities, NYC Government Customers argue that

the RD erred. NYC Government Customers and the County observe that (1) Pennsylvania and New Jersey expense negative net salvage and (2) the NARUC manual specifically recognizes such an approach.

According to NYC Government Customers, the record establishes that "an extraordinary confluence of events dictates" that their approach should be adopted. They point to their testimony as highlighting such factors (<u>i.e.</u>, the magnitude if the requested increase, the level of net negative salvage in rates, the need to amortize a depreciation reserve deficiency, the recent growth in balances and the extent to which depreciation was contributing to the level of the rate increase).

NYC Government Customers also assert that the RD erred in citing the Company's concerns that changing the treatment of net negative salvage would prevent the Company from recovering current net salvage values and contribute to the need for future rate increases. They state that they proposed to include a \$50 million rate year allowance to prevent against contributing to future rate increases.

Finally, NYC Government Customers state that the RD recognized that the current approach is fraught with "extreme uncertainty." They reiterate assertions that their recommended approach will eliminate (1) the guess work regarding which assets will result in negative net salvage and how much the amount will be, and (2) the current effect of penalizing the customers who contribute to the asset in the early years. NYC Government Customers add that their adjustment will significantly reduce the rate request without reducing safety or reliability.

The County notes that it, NYC Government Customers and CPB identified depreciation for net salvage as an area to explore for savings. It states that given the extraordinary amount of money requested in this case, we should consider all alternatives to aggressively reduce rates, and one such alternative is funding negative net salvage by expensing current

costs. The County observes that Con Edison Gas has used this approach in the past. The County states that the RD did not discuss the benefits to ratepayers of changing to a system where removal costs are expensed or review its counter arguments to the Company.

The County reiterates that, while it could have advocated its approach for all accounts, it did not do so, but instead identified the transmission and distribution accounts because they are long lived assets. In response to Con Edison's claims that the County's proposal is inconsistent with current rate and accounting principles, the County counters that its proposal does nothing to the actual amounts collected for net salvage, it only changes the rates that ratepayers pay at this time. The County concludes that since Con Edison will get all of its money for net salvage, its proposal does not violate any accounting principles. The County also adds that Con Edison failed to mention that utilities in Pennsylvania and New Jersey expense the costs of removal without any apparent harm to their accounting.

In response to NYC Government Customers and Westchester, the Company replies that the RD implicitly (and correctly) recognized that NYC Government Customers' and Westchester's proposals suffer from multiple deficiencies identified by the Company, particularly the creation of intergenerational inequities. The Company states that neither NYC Government Customers nor Westchester adequately addressed its concerns.

The Company characterizes NYC Government Customers' statements that "negative net salvage almost always results in the installation of a new asset to serve a new generation of electric customers" and "requiring a prior generation of customers to fund the siting of that new asset by paying for negative net salvage in depreciation promotes 'intergenerational inequity,' not 'intergenerational equity'" as "logical misdirection." The Company argues that NYC Government Customers are misconstruing the fundamental purpose for including a net

salvage factor in depreciation rates — which is to properly reflect, over the life of an asset, the anticipated cost of its retirement, including the cost of removal. The Company argues that its proposed approach fairly provides for payment by current customers of a small portion of negative net salvage each year over the life of the assets that provide their electric service. It contrasts this approach to NYC Government Customers' "misdirection" approach, which it says "speciously assumes current customers are the appropriate customers to pay for the removal of facilities and assets installed to serve the prior generation of customers."

The Company continues that NYC Government Customers' claims that their proposal will not prevent the Company from recovering current net salvage values cannot disguise the fact that NYC Government Customers would underfund the Company's current net salvage expense. The Company cites to its testimony that, by employing a ten-year average approach, NYC Government Customers' and Westchester's net salvage proposals would prevent it from recovering its current net salvage costs, and will create a shortfall that will need to be recovered in future electric rate cases.

With respect to NYC Government Customers' arguments that adoption of their proposal will remove guesswork and provide certainty, the Company agrees that NYC Government Customers' proposal provides certainty but says it is the certainty that the Company will not recover its net salvage expenditures on a current basis.

In response to Westchester, the Company asserts that Westchester's proffered "selective application" does not "transform an ill-conceived proposal into good public policy." The Company adds that the lack of a technical violation of accounting principles, or the fact that two other nearby states may have adopted it does not provide a compelling rationale for adopting Westchester's proposal.

Staff contends that the Company incorrectly states that it did not consider any additional historical data for the

certain accounts addressed in its testimony and relied solely on the very work papers supplied by the Company. Staff cites to its testimony for proof of its assertion that it relied on the Company's 2005 and 2002 mortality studies and the Company's workpapers for its recommended changes in average service lives. Staff asserts that the Company, in fact, incorrectly relied on the results of just one study to determine its proposed depreciation factors for certain contested accounts (i.e., Accounts 9514 and 9526). Staff adds that, the Company's analysis was solely based on a single current study and therefore, as to depreciation parameters, did not consider other factors, such as changes in operating procedures and accounting procedures; labor costs; equipment replacement programs; requirements of governmental authorities; and obsolescence and technological changes. Staff combined the Company's current study with other factors in order to develop its recommended depreciation parameters. Staff argues that, as a result, it properly arrived at more thorough and supportable depreciation and amortization adjustments than did the Company.

We have considered the arguments presented here and below, and we generally concur with the recommendation espoused in the RD. We find, on this record, and given the particular circumstances of this rate request and this Company, an approach that considers other factors, such as changes in operating procedures, changes in accounting procedures, labor costs, equipment replacement programs, requirements of governmental authorities, obsolescence and technological changes, results in a more thorough and balanced outcome. For example, the magnitude of the Company's expenditures on capital projects in just the last three years, suggests to us that reliance on only one study may be too limited in scope. In addition, a proposal to change current recovery practices, particularly given the magnitude of the dollars at issue, should have more to recommend it than statements that other jurisdictions have approved it or that the NARUC manual recognizes it. And, while the City, County and CPB note the magnitude of the requested increase, the

level of net negative salvage in rates, the need to amortize a depreciation reserve deficiency, the recent growth in balances and the extent to which depreciation was contributing to the level of the rate increase as factors or events that warrant a change, all suggest that we address the reserve deficiency in some manner. Because we recognize the significant level of the rate increase produced by our determinations in this proceeding and the effect of such an increase on the company's service territory, we see merit in limiting the extent of the reserve deficiency amortization. We will limit the recovery of the depreciation reserve deficiency to a 15-year amortization of \$162.5 million which is the amount in excess of the minus 10% level of the tolerance band that we have traditionally employed to measure the significance of reserve deficiencies.

Transmission and Distribution

The Company projected O&M expenditures for Transmission and Delivery projects, excluding interference work, increasing by nearly \$100 million in the rate year. The Company's proposal includes 44 new programs in which the Company spent zero dollars in 2006. These new programs total \$36.4 million in cost.

The bulk of the increased O&M programs are in Electric Operations. Notable are unit substation repairs and inspection, maintenance of remote monitoring systems, underground structure inspection program, overhead inspection program, stray voltage testing, network transformer vault cleaning, line clearance, and maintenance associated with capital work.

Substation Operations projects will support new substation facilities and a structural integrity/station betterment program. System and Transmission Operations increase expenditures over a wide range of programs, notably improving

Though the City would include a \$50 million rate year allowance to prevent against contributing to future rate increases, it appears such a proposal only reduces, not prevents, contributing to future rate increases.

overhead transmission restoration capability, manhole inspection and refurbishment, and several advanced technology programs, including maintaining the Company's alternate energy control center.

Staff expressed reservation regarding the large increases in inspection programs and stray voltage testing. Staff reserved a recommendation, however, explaining that any changes to the operation of these programs should be handled under Case 04-M-0159. Staff also emphasized the importance of these programs.

With the exception of the underground inspection programs, the RD recommended adoption of Staff's recommendation to consider safety inspection expenses in the context of Case 04-M-0159, with any resulting decreases in program costs being credited to customers. We concur, with the additional exception of the overhead inspection program, as discussed below.

1. Underground Inspection Program

The Company projected that it will conduct 75,447 inspections in the rate year at an average cost of \$463.92 per inspection, as the fourth year of its five-year underground inspection program. CPB recommended that this sum be reduced by \$19 million. The Company must conduct 275,000 inspections over a five-year period; 44,728 inspections were conducted in 2005 at a cost of \$8.5 million and 45,067 in 2006 at a cost of \$11.1 million. According to the Company's Brief on Exceptions, only 35,000 inspections were performed during 2007.

a. Average Cost per Inspection

The average cost of an inspection was \$190.04 in 2005 and \$246.30 in 2006. The Company explained that the increase in cost per repair was due to the increased number of repairs directly related to safety inspections, as opposed to inspections performed in the course of normal maintenance. In

Proceeding on Motion of the Commission to Examine the Safety of Electric Transmission and Distribution Systems.

2006, approximately 50% of inspections and repairs were completed during normal maintenance. In the rate year, inspections and associated repairs will be performed beyond the scope of normal maintenance work, increasing the incremental cost per inspection.

CPB observed that, assuming the 2005 figure reflects only the lower cost inspection incurred during normal maintenance, the 30% increase in cost per inspection from 2005 to 2006 suggests that the cost of the direct inspections is approximately 60% above the average per-inspection costs of 2005. This would result in an average per-inspection cost of \$319.20, substantially less than the Company's projection of \$463.92 per inspection.

The RD recommended that the figure proposed by CPB be adopted. The Company presents new information in its brief on exceptions. The Company states that it has recently awarded contracts to outside contractors to perform the underground inspections during the rate year. Based on this new information, the Company now calculates the cost per inspection will be \$363, less than its original forecast of \$463, but greater than CPB's estimate of \$319. The Company explains that this estimate reflects the fact that in each of the next two years 3,500 buried facilities must be inspected, which will increase average costs.

CPB replies that the Company has not supported its new cost information and that the new estimate violates the Policy Statement on Test Periods. We agree. For inspections conducted during the rate year, the Company's allowance will be calculated based on the evidence presented in the record, as calculated by CPB and recommended in the RD.

b. Number of Inspections

CPB noted Con Edison testimony that an incremental 50,000 inspections are required and CPB suggests that the expenses allowed for the rate year be limited to 50,000. The RD recommended expenses based on 60,000 inspections, in

consideration of the numbers performed in the first two years of the program.

The Company takes exception, noting that its reference in rebuttal testimony to "an incremental 50,000 inspections" was an inadvertent error and that the necessary number of inspections is 75,447, as presented in their direct testimony. The Company explains that the target of 275,240 inspections must be complete by November 2009 and that because only 35,000 underground inspections were performed in 2007, 75,447 must be performed in the rate year. The Company explains that the low number of inspections in 2007 was "due to operational priorities" and states that while inspections in the rate year must be increased, overall inspection targets through 2009 remain unchanged. The Company's response to Staff's interrogatory number 329.9 indicates an inspection schedule of 55,048 inspections in the following rate year. This would still fail to satisfy the five-year inspection target.

Despite the confusion caused by the Company's testimony on interrogatory response, it does appear that approximately 75,000 inspections must be conducted in each of the two next years. Due to the importance of this program for ensuring public safety, we will adopt the Company's proposed number of 75,447 inspections. Whether the increased number of inspections for the rate year resulted from poor planning, as Staff has suggested, cannot be concluded from the record before us but may be considered in a subsequent proceeding.

2. Distribution Line Clearance and Danger Tree Removal

The Company's initial testimony explained that in early 2007, the minimum allowable distance between electrical lines and tree branches was increased. The Company projected \$13.755 million in expense for its line clearance program. CPB argued that the Company's three year average, including \$9.5 million in 2007, was \$8.025 million per year. CPB recommended an adjustment based on the three-year average. The RD recommended the Company's rate year allowance for this program

be limited to the \$9.5 million estimated for 2007, adjusted for inflation.

On exceptions, the Company presents new information claiming that system-wide in 2007 it expended nearly \$13.6 million on line clearances. CPB again argues that the new information violates the Policy Statement and should not be considered. CPB argues, in the alternative, that if the Commission adopts the Company's figure it should also adopt a reconciliation mechanism for this particular spending category to ensure that the funds are actually spent.

Although the 2007 spending figure provided by Con Edison is untimely, the estimate of \$9.5 million relied upon by CPB does not appear to be included in the record. Because line clearance standards were enhanced beginning in 2007, it is reasonable that the Company's spending would increase substantially. For that reason, we adopt the Company's original estimate for the rate year of \$13.755 million. We accept CPB's recommendation that this figure be subject to reconciliation in the event the Company spends less than \$13.755 million during the rate year.

3. Double Wood Program

The Company projected \$5.235 million for this program, an increase of 489% over the test year cost identified in its filing. The record indicates that in 2004, the Company incurred no costs for removing double wood and it spent \$951,000 in 2005, \$889,000 in 2006, and budgeted \$900,000 in 2007. CPB recommended a complete disallowance in costs. The Company's initial testimony explained that municipalities require removal, but did not identify any recent developments that explain an acceleration of the program. The RD recommended an allowance of \$1 million for the rate year, a slight increase over the average from previous years.

On exceptions, for the first time, the Company explains that in 2007 it expended over \$4 million Company-wide to remove double wood and that the figure of \$900,000 cited in

the testimony of CPB was for Bronx and Westchester only. The Company also argues that the City of Peekskill instituted fines for not removing double wood in 2005, and that other municipalities are "threatening" to institute similar measures. CPB responds that there is no record support for the Company's assertion that it spent \$4 million in 2007 or that the figures provided on the record were only for the Bronx and Westchester.

We concur with CPB; the Company had ample opportunity to clarify the record at earlier stages of the proceeding, and the new and unexamined information provided by the Company on Exceptions will not be considered.

4. Mobile-Stray Voltage

The Company proposed an increase of \$7.43 million over the test year. The RD adopted Staff's proposal to defer consideration of the costs of this program. CPB argues that because standby cost-per-detection have tripled in one year without explanation that an adjustment should be made at this time. The Company replies that the vehicle fleet has been expanded and that eight system-wide scans will be performed in the rate year, versus one in the test year.

Because stray voltage is a critical public safety issue, and because testing methods are relatively new, the Commission will take notice of recent developments and will take a more proactive approach than that which was initially proposed by the Company. 2007 testing data indicate that twice as many stray voltage conditions were identified in 2007 as were identified in 2006. This is in all probability due to the increased number of tests performed in 2007. For that reason, we order the Company to perform twelve system-wide mobile stray voltage testing sweeps, rather than the eight initially proposed. To accommodate the increased cost of these sweeps, the funding for this program will be increased by four million dollars.

The RD noted Staff's reservation concerning the Company's proposal for mobile stray voltage testing in that,

based on the frequency of vehicular usage, the funding request for standby cost may be unreasonably high. Staff did not recommend an adjustment, but rather recommended that Con Edison be required to file a report reassessing the expenses of the program as related to the program's standby cost and reassessing its current operation to optimize utilization of its current fleet of vehicles. Staff recommended this report should be filed with the Department within two months of the Commission's order adopting a rate plan in this case, and that any decreases in program costs resulting from the Company's reassessment should be credited to customers. The RD recommended acceptance of this proposal, and we adopt it.

CPB Exceptions

The RD rejected several adjustments proposed by CPB on the grounds that further information should have been sought during the discovery phase of the proceeding. On Exceptions, CPB argues that three of these adjustments had a basis independent of the discovery dispute.

1. Five-Year Overhead Inspection Program

CPB recommended that Con Edison's proposed increase of \$5.443 million for overhead pole inspections be reduced by one-half. CPB noted that the Company made no expenditures on this program in 2006 or 2007. The Company had asserted in rebuttal testimony that its cost projection was based on costs "incurred in the test year and is based on five years of inspections." CPB argued that the Company was deferring inspections until the rate year.

The Company replies that the program is not discretionary. It performed a complete inspection in 2005 and zero inspections in 2006 and 2007, but has now shifted to a 5-year cycle in which 20% of inspections will be performed annually.

According to its response to a Staff Information Request, the Company spent \$5.1 million in 2005 to inspect the

entire overhead system. Because the Company now proposes to inspect 20% of the system each year, we will allow 20% of the \$5.4 million proposed by the Company for the rate year. We also note with concern that the Company's decision not to begin its 5-year cycle until the rate year means that the final 20% of units to be inspected will have gone a full seven years without an inspection.

2. Network Transformer Vault Cleaning

The Company estimated \$5.488 million in total cost for this program. CPB argued that information provided by the Company only identified components totaling \$4.357 million, and that the Company, again in discovery, identified the vault cleaning project as the least important of the programs in its "Public Safety and Environmental Program" category. The Company did not specifically rebut CPB's arguments either in rebuttal testimony, in reply briefs, or in Reply on Exceptions. CPB's recommended adjustment to \$4.357 million will be adopted.

3. System and Transmission O&M

Con Edison requested an increase in system and transmission O&M expenses of \$7.375 million from spending in the test year. CPB recommended that this projection be reduced by \$3.798 million, due to the absence of supporting information. Based on information provided in the Company's rebuttal testimony, CPB revised its proposal but continued to recommend a disallowance for the "new EMS system license" and "improve OH restoration capability" programs. The RD rejected CPB's proposed adjustment on grounds that it did not exhaust its remedies in the discovery process.

CPB argues that because the Company responded in its rebuttal testimony regarding some, but not all, of the system and transmission O&M programs, that the Company's silence regarding two of the programs "demonstrates that the Company's request was nothing more than a wish list." The Company

responds that CPB had received workpapers and that failure to provide rebuttal testimony is not a test of record support.

We find that the record adequately supports Con Edison's response. CPB received workpapers regarding the EMS system license and did not submit a discovery request.

Regarding the overhead restoration category, CPB submitted CPB IR #7 and the Company responded. CPB's arguments on Exceptions are denied.

Westchester County

Westchester County argues that the number and cost of new O&M programs are excessive and that the Company should be limited to a total of \$50 million for all new O&M expenditures inclusive of Transmission and Distribution.

The County argues that the Company's proposed increases will create an imbalance between rates and reliability and that recent reliability records do not warrant a large incremental increase in expenditures.

The County's argument that the Commission must consider the overall impacts on reliability and rates is correct; however, that consideration must be informed to the extent possible by detailed analysis. In this proceeding the Company has demonstrated a need for infrastructure improvements that encompass both capital and O&M expenditures. Where detailed analyses of the Company's infrastructure-related O&M proposals have been presented on the record, we have made appropriate adjustments. In the absence of detailed analyses, the County's proposed adjustment is denied.

RATE BASE

Average Rate Base

The Company proposed a positive adjustment to its average rate base in order to align its rate base with its capitalization (a.k.a. the "EB/Cap adjustment"). Staff and NYPA opposed the adjustment. The judges rejected the Company's assertions that Staff's adjustment was barred by the previous

rate order or prohibitions regarding retroactive making. They credited Staff's explanation for calculating its adjustment and rejected the Company's criticisms thereof. The judges also rejected NYPA's proposal to eliminate the entire adjustment, based upon a finding that it was premised on an outmoded approach and would inappropriately understate the level of adjustment. Con Edison and NYPA except.

The Company argues that Staff's adjustment violates the 2005 Rate Plan and constitutes retroactive ratemaking. It asserts that the "only reasonable interpretation" of the 2005 Rate Plan Order regarding the prepaid pension balance is that the Company settled "for all time" claims that it unfairly benefited from being off the Pension Policy Statement. 33 It requests that we reverse the RD, stating that if we do otherwise, it would unfairly deprive the Company of a material part of its share of the give-and-take that led to the establishment of the 2005 Rate Plan. It also asserts the RD erred in rejecting, without explanation, the Company's explanation why Staff's calculations understate the benefits to customers.

Staff responds that the RD properly recommends adoption of its proposed rate base adjustment. It challenges the Company's claims regarding the interpretation of the language of the 2005 Rate Plan by noting that the plan's term is explicitly defined as the period "commencing April 1, 2005 and continuing through March 31, 2008." It argues that the recommendation does not violate the current Rate Plan nor does it constitute retroactive ratemaking because the contemplated rates will commence April 1, 2008 and thus not affect the Company's current and past rates. Staff also notes that absent its adjustment the Company will be permitted to earn a return in

Case 91-M-0890, <u>Development of Statement of Policy Concerning Accounting and Ratemaking Treatment for Pensions and Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions</u>, Statement of Policy and Order Concerning the Accounting and Ratemaking for Pensions and Post Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions (issued September 7, 1993) (Pension Policy Statement).

perpetuity on a \$142 million dollar investment it never actually made.

With respect to the Company's assertions that the RD erred in rejecting, without explanation, claims that Staff's calculation of customer's benefits was understated, Staff asserts that such claims were properly rejected. Staff refers to its previously-made arguments and explanations, along with their record support. Staff states that these explanations provide ample justification and basis for the RD recommendation.

In its exceptions, NYPA reiterates arguments that no adjustment of any amount has been justified by the Company. NYPA argues that its balance sheet method is a sophisticated means of estimating the actual requirements for cash and cash equivalents to fund all the Company's needs for cash payments arising from its regulated T&D business. According to NYPA, its method indicates that the Company's cash working capital needs are overstated by about \$187 million as compared to the results of using the FERC 1/8 formula based calculation. NYPA urges us to eschew the FERC 1/8 formula and adopt the balance sheet method's working capital requirement of \$369 million.

In response, the Company reiterates that it identified various flaws in NYPA's balance sheet approach and established that usage of the FERC 1/8 formula is an accepted practice by the Commission. The Company also repeats its assertion that NYPA is being contradictory when it asserts that an EB/Cap adjustment is inappropriate when it results in an increase to rate base, while at the same time claiming that using balance sheet data is more appropriate for calculating working capital requirements than the expense data used in the FERC 1/8 formula. The Company contends that, contrary to NYPA's claims, its use of the FERC 1/8 formula likely understates, rather than overstates, its working capital requirements.

Neither the Company nor NYPA have offered persuasive reasons for rejecting the judges' recommendation. The parties' arguments were set forth and considered in the RD, and we agree with the RD's treatment of those arguments. We concur with the

RD's finding that the current rate plan, which terminates prior to the effective date of the rates we are establishing in this proceeding, cannot bar the Commission from exercising its statutory obligation to set just and reasonable rates here.

Moreover, because the rate adjustment applies prospectively, and to a period not covered by the current rate plan, it is not retroactive ratemaking and does not disturb the previous rate plan.

With respect to Staff's calculation, we have reviewed the explanation offered by Staff and the criticisms levied by the Company and find that Staff has provided sufficient and convincing justification for its calculation that adequately addresses the Company's criticisms.

We adopt the recommendation to reject NYPA's adjustment because we agree with the Company that the proposed adjustment is based on a flawed and disfavored approach.

Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI)

The judges found that our recent decision in the AMI proceeding³⁴ mooted the parties' AMI arguments in this proceeding because it definitively established that AMI implementation and the treatment of related costs will be addressed in the AMI proceeding. They therefore recommended that any rate year AMI costs be removed from this rate case and, that the rate case be updated, if appropriate, to reflect the outcome of AMI proceeding.

NYC Government Customers urge us to expedite the issuance of an order on AMI functionalities and ask that we ensure here that there is sufficient funding for the roll-out of

Case 94-E-0952, et al., <u>In the Matter of Competitive</u>
Opportunities Regarding Electric Service, Order Requiring
Filing of Supplemental Plan (issued December 19, 2007).

Con Edison's pre-deployment pilot program.³⁵ We are denying their request because we find it would be premature to provide funding here and now for a program that has not yet been reviewed. It is possible that we will be in a position to order the implementation of AMI investment either on a pilot or full deployment basis during the pendency of the rates established here. In order to create the appropriate environment for Con Edison to make timely AMI investments, we will provide the Company the ability to seek deferral of any reasonable AMI costs, net of benefits, which are incurred during the rate year as the result of Commission determinations in the AMI proceeding.

Transmission and Distribution Capital Program

The Company presented a plan for spending \$1.819 billion on Transmission and Distribution (T&D) capital projects in 2008. Capital funding is organized into three categories: Substations (\$612.0 million) Transmission (\$224.3 million) and Distribution (\$983.7 million). The plan is unprecedented in size and scope. From an average of under \$450 million per year from 1997 through 2000, the Company's proposed capital spending has increased to approximately 400% of the former average. The level of spending is forecasted to dip only slightly in 2009-

_

The Company observes that the City, in its exception, incorrectly described its AMI proposal; the Company notes that it proposed to install or retrofit with AMI technology 200,000 electric and gas meters in 2008 (not 2,000,000) and 800,000 annually thereafter (not 500,000). Company RBOE at 66.

2011, and the Company does not anticipate a significant reduction in capital needs in the years following 2011. 36

The Company generally attributes this trend to three developments: growth in demand, the aging of the Company's infrastructure, and the cyclical nature of large transmission-level and substation capital projects. A detailed description of the Company's proposed programs is contained in the RD.

No party questioned the need for the Company to engage in improvements to its T&D infrastructure, and no intervenor challenged the importance of any specific project. Several intervenors proposed substantial adjustments based on the need to mitigate rate increases.

The RD found that the intervenors were correct that the rate of increase in the Company's capital budget is extraordinary, and correct that it warrants strict scrutiny from the Commission. The RD found, however, that the intervenors had not provided the Commission with a specific analytic basis for a percentage adjustment to capital spending, and had not specifically rebutted the evidence presented by the Company and Staff that the large majority of the Company's construction program is necessary to maintain the high levels of reliability required by the residents and businesses in the service territory.

The RD concluded that an overall spending adjustment of 8% was warranted. The RD's adjustment differed from the 12% adjustment proposed by Staff in three ways. It reflected a finding that no adjustment for the M29 transmission project was warranted, and it reflected agreement between Staff and the

The Company's forecast of capital spending in 2011 and beyond, as presented in this proceeding, has been thrown into question by its February 27,2008 filing in Case 06-E-0894 of a five-year forecast that presents spending in 2011 and 2012 at levels of \$1.284 billion and \$1.211 billion. That filing has not been analyzed, and a comparable filing in 2007 was subsequently revised upward by nearly \$500 million. Regardless of which information is relied on, however, annual capital spending will continue at levels two to four times higher than levels experienced in the previous decade.

Company regarding adjusted budgets for Paper Insulated Lead-Covered cable replacement and network transformer replacement. The net result of the RD's adjustments was a spending target of \$1.65 billion and a plant in service adjustment of \$62 million.

The third difference between the RD and Staff's analysis was the manner in which the total adjustment was reached. In forming its proposal, Staff had combined numerous specific adjustments based on disparities between the Company's historical spending and proposed spending in the rate year, and adjustments based on a need to mitigate the rate increase. The RD recommended that the Commission need not rule individually on each category. The RD's rationale was that Staff has amply demonstrated the variability of Con Edison's budget forecasting, and the Company had confirmed this with its own updates. The variability demonstrated by Staff, according to the RD, provided a substantial basis for a generalized percentage cut of the type proposed by intervenors.

The RD made its recommendation contingent on the treatment of concerns regarding the Company's capital program that are discussed in the context of the capital spending from the 2005-2008 Rate Year.

Exceptions

Con Edison objects to the RD's finding that a generalized adjustment of 8% is warranted. The Company argues that although the 8% adjustment is derived in large part from Staff's historical analysis adjustments, the RD fails to substantiate those historical analysis adjustments and fails to demonstrate that the 8% generalized adjustment will produce a realistic overall funding level. The Company argues that it had rebutted many of Staff's historical analyses which were not specifically addressed in the RD. The Company also argues that nothing in the record indicates that underspending is likely to occur in other programs, or would not be offset by overspending for other programs or projects.

Staff concurs with the RD that a general adjustment, based on historical data, reflects a realistic overall funding level. CPB notes that the RD contained detailed analysis of numerous proposed capital expenditures over which there was disagreement.

Westchester County excepts to the RD, arguing that the RD reflects a traditional approach to evaluating a rate filing, while the "sheer magnitude of the request was so staggering that it cried out for a totally different regulatory approach." The County advocates a "top-down" approach that would adjust the Company's capital spending based on the overall size of the program, with reference to the general state of reliability on the Company's system. The County argues that the RD gave little consideration to the effect of the proposed increase on ratepayers and the economy of the service territory, and that the County's top-down approach would take this factor into account.

The County observes that Con Edison's reliability levels and its customer satisfaction ratings have improved, and there have been no catastrophic events driving the need for a rate increase. The County further argues that peak load growth has not increased at a rate that would warrant a large increase in capital spending. The County's proposal is to limit net T&D plant-in-service additions to the rate of addition experienced during the past two years.

NYPA observes that, elsewhere in its exceptions, the Company criticizes the RD for an "issue-by-issue" approach without taking the Company's overall financial interest into consideration. NYPA argues that this is inconsistent with the Company's criticism of intervenors for urging an overall approach to capital spending, taking customers' interests into account, as opposed to an item-by-item approach.

Regarding the concerns expressed in the RD with respect to the Company's management of its capital program, the Company and Staff argue that regardless of the treatment of the capital overspend from the current rate plan, there is no basis

for making recovery of rate year spending contingent on an audit.

Discussion

Intervenors' arguments against T&D spending levels, based on recent reliability records, do not take into account prospective planning and the assessment of needs based on aging infrastructure and demand growth in specified areas of the service territory.

The Company's arguments against an 8% adjustment are not persuasive. Given the fluctuating nature of the Company's budget and of implementation timing, it is reasonable to require that the Company reduce its spending by a relatively small percentage by adjusting construction schedules and prioritizing projects. We agree with the RD that specific findings on each of the numerous "slippage" adjustments proposed by Staff are not necessary because the adjustments taken as a whole demonstrate the variability of the Company's budgeting process.

The basis for the adjustment adopted here is not simply one of slippage but rather a reasonable restriction on overall spending, in order to mitigate rate increases, without undue disruption of the Company's construction schedule. The purpose of the adjustment is to reflect a realistic overall funding level, not to discourage the Company from undertaking any particular project. The recommendation of a capital budget of \$1.65 billion, and a \$62 million adjustment to the Company's Plant in Service, is adopted.

The allowance for capital spending authorized here is made in the context of serious concerns regarding the pace of growth of the Company's capital program. The abrupt acceleration of spending raises questions regarding the Company's planning and implementation of capital programs, the potential inefficiencies of highly compressed construction schedules, and the level of oversight and leadership provided by the Company's Board.

The future expenditures authorized in this order reflect the evidence in the record indicating that the projects are necessary and that the estimated costs appear reasonable. However, this authorization is not equivalent to a finding of prudence. The Company must aggressively act to manage costs, and prioritize projects, in order to accomplish necessary future infrastructure improvements at the least possible cost to customers.

The recommendation in the RD that a portion of the revenues attributed to rate year construction spending be collected on a temporary basis subject to an audit will not be adopted. Unlike the capital spending from the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, discussed below, rate year expenditures have not yet been incurred. The Commission, as always, retains its authority to review Company expenditures at any time that grounds for performing such a review arise.

Updated T&D Capital Expenditures

On August 8, 2007, the Company provided Staff with an addendum to its filing that updated cost estimates for several substation projects. The effect of the updates was to increase capital spending by \$71 million. Staff asked for more information, including a "detailed cost breakdown," and on August 30, 2007, the Company responded.

Staff's initial testimony, filed September 7, stated that it did not have sufficient time and information to provide an analysis of the updates. Staff's rebuttal testimony, filed September 28, did not address the updates.

The RD found that the Company's revised testimony did not conform to the guidelines in the Commission's Statement of Policy on Test Periods in Major Rate Proceedings.³⁷

The Policy Statement specifies conditions under which updates should be allowed. The pertinent provisions state:

_

³⁷ Issued November 23, 1977; 17 NY PSC 25-R.

Revisions for changes in estimate will only be entertained when they are based on data which were not available at the time of the original filing. On occasion, significant events may occur between the time of the original filing and the revised estimate which could not have been foreseen at the time of the original filing. Wholesale revisions because of changed circumstances (for example a later view of the company's budget) will not be entertained unless an event beyond the control of the company has occurred.

The intent of this provision is to prevent the Company from presenting a moving target in a rate proceeding. Other than known changes in cost rates (<u>e.g.</u>, a tax law change), revisions will not be allowed unless they are based on developments that were not foreseeable at the time of the filing. Particularly in a case as large and complex as this one, it is essential that there be closure so that the parties can focus their resources on analysis of the filing.

The RD found that the Company had provided no explanation or demonstration that the changes in project estimates were unforeseeable. Without prejudice to the importance of the projects or to the Company's ability to prioritize and complete the projects that it found most necessary, the RD found that the updates would not be considered.

The Company claims that the RD erred with respect to at least two projects because it had demonstrated that the changes were unforeseeable. With respect to the \$39 million in updated 2008 costs for the Newtown Substation, the Company claims that it did make a showing that the acceleration of the substation to 2010 was unforeseeable in time for the Company to have reflected detailed cost estimates with its filing on May 4, 2007. The Company's argument is based on a study report that it submitted to Staff on May 10, 2007--6 days after the May 4 rate filing. The report recommended establishing the new substation by summer 2011. According to the Company, it was urged by Staff to further accelerate the substation to 2010.

The Company argues that it also explained the unforeseeable circumstances causing the update for spare transformers purchases, i.e., that the need was triggered by recent failures of major power transformers coupled with long lead times for major equipment, which necessitated the Company's revision of its transformer inventory strategy.

Staff responds that the information was not provided in a timely manner and that new claims of unforeseeable circumstances are unfounded.

We agree with the RD, that in a proceeding as large and complex as this one, closure of the record is particularly important and the Policy Statement should be strictly but reasonably enforced. A six-day lag between the Company's filing and its report on the substation does not demonstrate that the results of the report were unforeseeable. Moreover, because the Newtown substation is not projected to enter service until 2010, the update would have no direct impact on the revenue requirement in this case. With respect to the Spare Transformer Program, the Company has argued in other contexts that a certain amount of equipment failure is generally foreseeable; there is no specific demonstration here that the transformer failures were so far beyond the norm as to be unforeseeable. Regarding the lead time for purchases, emerging market trends are not unforeseeable in the sense contemplated by the Policy Statement. Therefore, the updates will not be considered.

Streetlight Isolation Transformers

This program is designed to eliminate stray voltage conditions existing in streetlights. The RD recommended funding the program at the Company's proposed figure of \$10.95 million. The Company notes on exceptions that its update filing increased the cost for the Streetlight Isolation Transformer Program from \$6.1 million to \$10.95 million, and that the RD recommended funding the program at the updated amount, despite the RD's general proposal to disallow the Company's update filing. In this instance, the update is allowed as an exception to the

Policy Statement, owing to the urgent public safety nature of the program.

The record contains a discussion regarding the optimal method for installing isolation transformers in the most safe, timely and cost-effective manner. The RD supported Staff's position that the transformers should be installed in service boxes rather than in the bases of streetlights. This method will better serve to eliminate the risk of stray voltage, though it is more expensive and time-consuming to perform. The Company did not object on Exceptions. We concur with Staff and we direct that the Company perform as many installations as can reasonably and cost-effectively be accomplished. In consultation with Staff, the Company should continue its efforts to develop and implement faster and less costly methods of installing isolation transformers in service boxes.

Demand-Side Management and Construction

Before the judges, CPB proposed that in future rate cases the Company should be required to demonstrate that any capital investment could not have been displaced by energy efficiency measures. While not adopting CPB's proposal, the RD found that the Commission should address the need for greater integration of demand-side management (DSM) into the Company's construction planning.

The Company presently conducts a 150 MW program of targeted DSM, increased by 30 MW in this order, for the purpose of deferring capital spending as well as achieving the other benefits of energy efficiency. The Company forecasts spending sums approaching \$2 billion annually on construction, and many of the Company's construction needs will be demand-driven. Company witnesses stated that energy efficiency programs could have an impact on capital needs in coming years.

The RD recommended that the Company should be required to compile a report, as part of its 10-year planning process, identifying demand-driven construction needs, geographic areas in which targeted DSM programs have reasonable potential to

defer or eliminate the needs, and estimates of the economic value of such potential measures. The Company excepts, stating that it already performs this exercise as part of its ongoing planning process and, therefore, the recommendation is unnecessary.

Joint Supporters support the recommendation of a mandatory report but argue that demand reduction providers should be consulted in the compilation of the report and in determining the priorities and resources addressed.

We agree that the integration of demand response and energy efficiency into the Company's infrastructure planning should be encouraged to the extent that such measures can economically delay or displace the need for capital expenditures and provide other benefits. However, at this time we will not require the reporting mechanism recommended by the RD, pending receipt of further information from the Company. Within 60 days of this order, the Company should file an initial report describing in detail the methods and practices it currently employs to integrate energy efficiency and demand response resource planning with its T&D infrastructure planning to maintain the required reliability standards.

The report should explain how major energy and environmental policy initiatives such as the statewide 15 X 15 electricity usage reduction goal and the High Electrical Demand Day (HEDD) Ozone Transport Commission initiative are being incorporated into the Company's T&D infrastructure planning. The Company's report should also explain the manner in which, and the extent to which, the Company identifies specific geographic areas within its service territory where load relief (either in the form of energy efficiency or demand response) has the potential to defer or displace T&D construction. The report should also comment on the extent to which, and the time by which, information about the potential for deployment of load relief measures in certain geographic areas could be made available to providers of demand response and energy efficiency services.

The report should identify and discuss all potentially avoidable costs of construction, and all of the potential benefits that should be considered in evaluating the economic value of demand response and energy efficiency resources (including avoided wholesale capacity and energy costs and the quantification of any potential transfer payments among customers, generators, energy efficiency and demand response providers that may occur because of reduced demand).

Upon receipt of this initial report from the Company, we will publish the report for comments. Department Staff should analyze the report and comments and make recommendations to the Commission regarding further process improvements and analyses that may be warranted to enhance the integration of load relief planning and T&D construction planning.

Advanced Technology

The RD identified advanced technology measures being pursued by the Company. These include measures that will enhance monitoring and control functions and real-time analysis of system conditions, and 3G "System of the Future" network architecture to enhance asset-sharing characteristics. The RD found that in the near future, the Company's plans for advanced technologies do not extend to interactive behind-the-meter functions.

The RD found that the Company's planners face the dilemma of needing to build immediately with available technology to accommodate system needs, while risking that the new construction might not be able to accommodate advanced technologies when they are adopted. The RD found that there was insufficient evidence in the record in this proceeding to evaluate whether the Company is achieving a reasonable balance of those goals, and recommended that this issue be addressed in greater detail in a subsequent proceeding.

On Exceptions, CPB supported the recommendation but urged that a report be issued as soon as possible and no later than the completion of the Company's Management and Operations

Audit. We will require that the Company address this issue in its next rate filing.

Reconciliation for Shortfalls between Budget and Actual Expenditures

The RD adopted the proposal of Staff and CPB that if the Company spends less than its allowance, the difference should be deferred as a ratepayer credit, but that no reconciliation should be provided for expenditures exceeding the allowance. The RD concluded that this reconciliation mechanism was warranted because the circumstances of the case give the Commission a compelling reason to take all reasonable measures to protect the interests of ratepayers.

On exceptions, the Company cites the testimony by its infrastructure panel that its proposed expenditures represent the minimum required to maintain safe and adequate service, and that any slippage in some projects will be balanced by the need to advance others. If overspending is required, the Company would be forced to reduce spending on other projects that are justified when it needs funds for an underestimated or a new project. The Company argues that a reconciliation mechanism that promotes investments needed to maintain a safe and adequate electric system is in the customer's interest. The Company suggests that if the slippage adjustment of 8% is accepted that at a minimum the Company should be permitted to reconcile T&D expenditures up to the level reflected in the Company's filed forecast expenditures.

Staff opposes the Company's proposal that reconciliation be allowed up to the spending allowance in the rate year. Staff argues that a one-way reconciliation mechanism will protect ratepayers.

We agree with Staff and the RD that, given the extraordinary size of the capital expenditures proposed by the Company, the interests of ratepayers require a reconciliation mechanism that ensures any unspent funds will be credited to customers. This will be measured by the revenue requirement effect of any reductions in T&D plant in service from the level

authorized in this order. Conversely, the size of the Company's construction budget emphasizes the need for the Company to control its spending and keep it within the recommended range. For that reason, we adopt the RD's recommendation that there be no reconciliation for plant in service beyond the allowed amount.

Reconciliation of Capital Expenditures from the Current Rate Plan

As part of the rate plan approved in Case 04-E-0572, the Company was allowed in rates a budget for T&D capital expenditures of \$774 million for RY1, \$825 million for RY2, and \$876 million for RY3. These targets were lower than the Company's original proposal by a total of \$531 million. Staff had questioned the Company's ability to complete all of the work identified within the allotted time. In order not to discourage the Company from making needed capital investments, the Commission's order allowed the Company to defer the carrying costs related to capital projects above and beyond what was embedded in rates.

The Company was required to file annual reports identifying project expenditures compared to previously forecasted amounts, along with updated project budgets for the upcoming year. The Company's actual expenditures were \$1.080 billion for RY1, \$1.371 billion for RY2, and (estimated) \$1.704 billion for RY3. Con Edison is expected to spend approximately \$1.68 billion more than the level set in rates during the 3-year period of the current plan. After accounting for plant retirements and other factors, the figure for purposes of reconciliation is \$1.616 billion.

Carrying charges for years 1 and 2 of the extra expenditures, nearly \$200 million, were offset by the application of available customer credits. The Company proposed that carrying charges for the final rate year, approximately \$198 million, be collected in the revenue requirement over a three-year period commencing April 1, 2008.

Staff analyzed the Company's annual infrastructure budget reports, met with the Company periodically, and concluded that the projects were necessary and reasonable.

The RD found that the annual reports filed by the Company satisfied the requirements of the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, and were reviewed by Staff to an extent comparable to the review afforded new expenditures in a rate proceeding. Based on these findings, the RD concluded that a conventional analysis would support full recovery by the Company. The RD continued, however, with a statement that the judges lacked confidence in the record and that the "extreme circumstances of this case warrant the strictest possible review." The RD recommended that a portion of the revenues associated with the Company's capital program should be authorized in the form of temporary rates pending the results of an audit.

The RD articulated three sources of concern regarding the record supporting recovery of capital expenditures. First, according to the RD, a review of capital spending over a 10-year period suggests that the Company under-funded its construction program until financial constraints were removed by the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, with the result that annual construction budgets increased at an unprecedented pace over a short period of time.

Second, the judges found that the record contains very little discussion of any efforts by the Company to adjust its project management systems to accommodate the extraordinary increase in spending. The RD indicated several sources of concern regarding the Company's management of the rapid growth, including the cost premiums resulting from an accelerated construction schedule. Among other concerns, the RD noted that the Company is incurring greater overtime expenses and has not tracked the cost premium associated with increased reliance on outside contractors.

Third, the RD observed that the Company has not had the benefit of a comprehensive management and operations audit pursuant to Public Service Law Section 66(19) for many years. The RD found that Staff's review of the past expenditures was

comparable to the scrutiny given to proposed expenditures in a rate case. The RD found that this level of review was adequate for normal ratemaking purposes, but that the circumstances of this case require an in-depth audit of expenditures.

For purposes of establishing temporary rates relevant to the reconciliation figure, the RD derived a reference figure representing the rate year revenue impact of two numbers: the overspent capital expenditures from the 2005-2008 Rate Plan being added to rate base; and the recovery of carrying charges from Year 3 of the current rate plan.³⁸

Regarding the term of recovery of the deferred carrying charges, the Company proposed to recover the amount over a three-year period. CPB proposed that recovery occur over a 10-year period, to mitigate the impact on rates in this proceeding. The RD recommended that the Commission should select a recovery period that balanced the reduction of rate shock with the desirability of reducing long term costs.

Exceptions

Staff and the Company both oppose the recommendation for audit and temporary rates. Staff argues that PSL §66(19) does not require and does not contemplate a retrospective audit on which a denial of rate recovery could be based. Staff argues that §66(19) contemplates prospective audits, not an examination of historic expenditures, except as historic expenditures would inform efforts to improve the utility's planning and management in the future.

Staff notes that nothing in the 2005-2008 Rate Plan indicates that the "audit and prudence review" provision would be governed by PSL §66(19). Staff takes exception to the suggestion that the review that was conducted and documented in

The RD also recommended a figure representing a portion of the revenues attributed to capital spending in the rate year; those sums will not be considered here for the reasons explained previously.

the record of the case may not have been adequate. Staff notes there has been no evidence presented in the record that its review was incomplete or in any way less than thorough.

The Company interprets the RD as basing its recommendation on a finding that Staff's work is "suspect and unreliable." The Company claims that the RD accepted the argument of CPB, that because Staff proposed no adjustments to the historical expenditures, therefore, Staff's review must be inadequate. The Company points out that the RD does not question the Company's compliance with its reporting responsibilities under the 2005 rate plan and that Staff confirmed that its review of these expenditures was no less rigorous than its reviews of the Company's capital expenditures proposed in this proceeding or any other rate proceeding. The Company also argues that the RD should have required independent verification of Staff's many recommendations adverse to the Company regarding O&M expenditures and its recommendations resulting from major outage investigations.

The Company argues that the RD's proposal would effectively impose a presumption of imprudence for Con Edison's investments, and would "stand on its head the seminal ratemaking principle that an investment incurred by a utility is deemed to have been made in the exercise of reasonable judgment absent a showing of imprudence." The Company agrees with Staff that the audit required by PSL §66(19) should not be used retrospectively for the purposes of a rate allowance review. The Company further argues that because Staff did not exercise a right to conduct a prudence review during the three-year term of the rate plan, the Company was justified in relying on Staff in support of its construction decisions.

The Company also argues that establishing temporary rates under the circumstances of this case would exceed the Commission's statutory authority, because the Commission in this case has all of the relevant facts necessary to render a final

³⁹ Con Edison Brief on Exceptions at 54.

decision. The Company cites <u>Chenango and Unadilla Telephone</u> <u>Corporation v. Public Service Commission</u>, 45 A.D. 2d 409 (3rd Dept. 1974) for the proposition that temporary rates cannot be used to provide an opportunity for certain parties to litigate issues that should have been resolved during the proceeding.

Finally, the Company argues that if it is subjected to continuous second-guessing as to the timing and level of its construction expenditures, despite its ongoing consultation with Staff, it will necessarily be induced to err on the side of spending less than it deems necessary.

CPB supports the RD but requests a clarification that, where the RD refers to evidence that "the individual components of the Company's construction program are necessary, and that their costs are reasonable," this be taken in the context of the reservations expressed by the RD concerning the record.

NYC and NYPA support the audit recommendation, but request that the Commission require the audit to be conducted by an independent entity, citing the concerns expressed in the RD regarding the ongoing strain on Staff's resources. NYC also argues that the Company should have the burden of justifying its expenditures through the audit process.

Westchester County requests clarification that the audit would be more than a review of management practices, but would examine the details of capital spending. Westchester argues that the audit should also focus on new O&M programs.

Local 1-2 argues that the audit will not be complete unless the Company is required to establish and maintain an information system regarding the use of contractor labor.

CPB, NYPA, NYC and Westchester argue that the circumstances giving rise to the audit recommendation are unprecedented, and note that the RD raised substantial questions regarding the Company's management of its construction program. NYC and CPB state that it is the Commission's prerogative, not Staff's, to determine whether further review is required. NYC notes that Staff's position has changed from its Initial Brief, in which it conceded that further review might be warranted.

NYPA states that even if no rate recovery is conditioned on its findings, an audit should be performed.

CPB argues that given the magnitude of the expenditures it is inconceivable that a comprehensive review would have resulted in no adjustments and little documentation. NYECC argues that the Company should not be allowed to benefit from the fact that its own operations have overburdened Staff.

NYECC notes that while the 2005-2008 Rate Plan does not specifically reference PSL 66(19) it also does not preclude reliance on that statute. CPB adds that the interpretation of PSL 66(19) is not the central issue, because further investigation of Con Edison's expenditures need not be conducted under the auspices of PSL 66(19).

NYC argues that the RD does not recommend retroactive ratemaking because the spending under the rate plan was specifically deferred for consideration in this proceeding.

NYC also notes that the Commission has determined in the past that temporary rates are available when additional development of the record cannot be completed within the suspension period. 40 NYC notes that the Commission has ruled that prior costs may be disallowed regardless of whether rates are temporary or permanent. 41 NYC cites Chenango & Unadilla Telephone, supra, in support of the Commission's authority to establish temporary rates.

Westchester observes that Staff should not object to the proposition that its own analysis is not sufficient, when

1

Cases 90-M-2255, 92-M-0138, <u>Proceeding on Motion of the Commission Concerning its Procedure for Settlement and Stipulation Agreements</u>, Opinion, Order and Resolution Adopting Settlement Procedures and Guidelines, Opinion No. 92-2 (issued March 24, 1992)

Case 06-E-1433, Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc. Electric Service, Order Setting Permanent Rates, Reconciling Overpayments During Temporary Rate Period, and Establishing Disposition of Property Tax Refunds, p. 33 (issued October 18, 2007)

the Commission has already noted in public session that an audit of Con Edison is long overdue.

Discussion

Con Edison's Briefs do not respond to the concerns stated in the RD regarding the Company's planning and implementation of capital projects. Rather, the Company relies almost entirely on a mischaracterization of the RD as finding fault with Staff's review. This masks the central issue presented here: Con Edison spent \$1.6 billion more than the targets established in the 2005-2008 Rate Plan -- \$1.1 billion more than its own proposal -- and brought the costs forward in this proceeding without any substantial effort to explain or justify them.

The Joint Proposal adopted in the 2005-2008 Rate Plan states as follows:

The reconciliations in each of RY1, RY2 and RY3 will be deferred and recovered from customers or credited to customers after expiration of this electric rate plan in a manner to be determined by the Commission. However, at the end of each rate year and subject to audit and prudence review, the Company may apply any available credits except credits associated with TCCs to offset the deferred balance. 42

The "subject to audit and prudence review" phrase indicates that the Commission retained the right to question expenditures that were offset against customer credits prior to a rate proceeding. No such provision was needed to address deferrals that would be recovered in this rate proceeding. The Commission would have the authority to review such balance sheet items, particularly rate base items, as a matter of course. In any event, Commission discretion was preserved by the phrase making deferrals subject to recovery "in a manner to be determined by the Commission." Under both phrases, therefore, the deferred amounts would be subject to review.

-105-

^{42 2005-2008} Rate Plan, Joint Proposal, Page 10.

The scale of the Company's expenditures is clearly beyond what was anticipated at the time of the 2005-2008 Rate Order. The Company cannot now feign surprise at the obvious fact that the Commission would have a strong interest in reviewing these extraordinary expenditures. The Company did not seek clarification from the Commission regarding the "manner to be determined" for recovery of the deferred costs, opting instead to seek recovery through a rate case filing.

The overspent amounts have an extremely large rate impact and raise complex issues regarding the reasonableness of the Company's actions to incur costs much greater than anticipated. The Company should accordingly have presented, in its rate filing, a thorough explanation and justification of the overspent sums. The Company also should have presented a comprehensive review of the efforts that it has made to organize its internal controls to ensure cost-effective management of the huge increase in construction spending. Rather than presenting an affirmative case, the Company instead relied on Staff's review of its annual filings, thus essentially placing the burden of proof on Staff, which was not, and should not have been expected to be, in a position to present an affirmative case regarding the Company's management of the extremely large construction program. Such reliance on Staff is particularly unreasonable, when review of costs requires more than an analysis of annual filings.

As a result, the Commission now confronts a record that contains open questions regarding the quality of the Company's expenditures and its management controls. The record does contain some evidence supporting the expenditures, but under the circumstances of this case, the Company has not yet carried its burden to justify their permanent inclusion in rate base. As CPB notes in its Exceptions, the finding in the RD of record support for the expenditures is in the context of other concerns that create a lack of confidence in the Company's planning and management of its construction program. The record as it stands, without the

benefit of additional evidence and review, is not adequate to support either unconditional recovery of these costs or disallowance of any specific costs.

We determine that the revenue requirements associated with the overspent amounts will be recovered through an adjustment clause mechanism. The adjustment clause mechanism must be designed to provide for recovery in the same manner as the Company's delivery revenue requirement is recovered in base This portion of the revenue requirement will continue to be recovered in this manner, subject to Commission audit, review and refund until such a time as we determine that the Company has fully satisfied its burden of proof with regard to the expenditures or until a disallowance determination is made and a refund implementing this determination has been effectuated. The revenues to be recovered through this mechanism total \$236.7 million, consisting of an initial \$19.1 million related to the RY3 deferred carrying charges, and \$217.6 million for the revenue requirement impact of the \$1.616 billion added to rate base including depreciation expense.

We further determine that the Company will be required to support the expenditures by providing to the Department Staff, within 60 days of the date this order is issued, a report providing detailed support for its cost recovery. In addition to the information that is set forth in Appendix 3, the report should provide, at a minimum, a description of the following aspects of the Company's budgeting and construction program management that was in effect during the period affecting the 2005-2008 rate plan expenditures: 1) the capital budget process, including the process by which the corporate mission, objectives, goals, priorities and strategies are determined by management and Board to direct the T&D capital program; 2) the role of system and construction program planning models, forecasts and assumptions; 3) the methodology for project identification, cost estimating, prioritization, appropriation process, approval requirements and variance reporting; 4) the procurement process, starting with the bid package development

and supporting scope of work and specifications for the job, including the use of open contracts; contract acquisition, make/buy decisions including make/buy decisions regarding contract management, contract formation, and approval of contracts; 5) management controls associated with the purchase, requisition or procurement process; 6) the work planning process including definition of roles and responsibilities, the timely preparation of construction plans and work planning and management; 7) work management systems used to schedule and manage crews, transportation, equipment and materials; and 8) management processes for monitoring project and construction management performance and implementing timely and effective corrective action to deal with cost and schedule issues.

Upon submission of these materials by the Company, the Department Staff, or its designee, will conduct an investigation into the expenditures and into the Company's budget creation and construction program management during the period affecting the 2005-2008 Rate Plan expenditures.

Such filing and subsequent investigation will be performed in a continuation of this proceeding. The Company is directed to designate a senior officer to coordinate the Company's participation in the investigation and in such other efforts as may be directed. We anticipate that the Company will act promptly to provide the above-described compliance filing, as well as any further information that Staff or its consultants may request. We hope to conclude this phase of this proceeding as promptly as possible.

At the conclusion of Staff's investigation, it will prepare and submit to us a report that will include its recommendation for any action we should take with respect to the rate treatment for these capital expenditures. Staff will distribute a copy of its report to all active parties in the proceeding along with a notice to parties inviting the submission to us of comments on the report.

The Company's argument that continued scrutiny of its expenditures would reverse the presumption of prudence is

misplaced. No finding of imprudence has occurred, and the Commission has identified several bases for questioning the Company's expenditures, as detailed in the RD.

The Company is correct that PSL Section 66(19) does not strictly require retrospective audits, and that its ordinary application is in the context of prospective implementation.

More importantly, however, a precise interpretation of PSL 66(19) is not necessary here, because the investigation ordered here is conducted pursuant to the Commission's authority and responsibility to establish just and reasonable rates.

Regarding the amortization period for the revenue requirement associated with the amount by which Con Edison's actual capital spending exceeded the amount reflected in the third year of the Company's expiring rate plan, the RD supported a three-year amortization period but noted that the Commission should consider a longer term in light of the overall impact on ratepayers of the rate increase authorized in this proceeding. We are concerned about the level of the rate increase, and while we determine that it is reasonable to amortize this amount, with interest, over a ten year period, we will further reduce the amortization in the first year to provide additional rate mitigation. As such, the amortization reflected in the revenue requirement for the rate year will be \$9.5 million.

COST OF CAPITAL

Capital Structure

The judges recommended that we adopt and use the capital structure developed by DPS Staff and that we not use the one provided by Con Edison. The two capital structure proposals are as follows:

	DPS Staff	Con Edison
Long-Term Debt	49.65%	48.88%
Common Equity	47.98%	48.68%
Preferred Stock	1.13%	1.21%
Customer Deposits	1.24%	1.23%

The judges selected Staff's capitalization figures because they comport with the established practice to use the consolidated capital structure of the parent company (in this case Con Edison, Inc.) adjusted for the relative business and financial risks of the subsidiary companies. Con Edison takes exception to the judges' recommendation.

According to the Company, its "stand alone" capital structure is the appropriate basis for establishing its allowed rate of return. It objects to Staff's allocation of equity capital away from utility operations and to the non-utility firms. The Company does not believe Staff should speculate about the non-utility subsidiaries' financial practices or their credit evaluations. Con Edison denies that the non-utility operations have a greater amount of business risk than the utility operations. And, without an indication that Con Edison, Inc. is engaged in "double leverage", the Company believes there is no reason for using the Staff approach.

Pointing to financing practices of competitive electricity companies, Con Edison asserts that some firms with non-investment grade ratings have substantially lower equity ratios than the one proposed here by Staff. Thus, the Company concludes that Staff's position does not square with financial reality. Nor does the Company believe that Con Edison, Inc.'s investments in unregulated subsidiaries have any material impact on its financial rating.

Con Edison is concerned that the use of the Staffproposed capital structure would result in our regulating the capitalization and financing of the unregulated subsidiaries. Such action, according to the Company, could impose higher costs on the competitive operations and could foreclose some of their business opportunities. Con Edison does not believe that the unregulated subsidiaries should be disadvantaged in their capital-raising activities particularly if no such disadvantages apply to a foreign corporations and new market entrants.

In support of its position, Con Edison points to the Commission's recent decision authorizing the merger of National Grid and KeySpan. 43 It claims that a "stand alone" capital structure was employed in that case. The Company states that we should maintain a consistent policy and we should reject Staff's approach which puts it at a financial disadvantage to attract capital on competitive terms.

Finally, Con Edison states that its affiliate,
Consolidated Edison Development, Inc. is selling its entire
fleet of generation assets and it will retire its outstanding
debt. If executed, the sale will have the effect of increasing
the amount of equity capital for the unregulated subsidiaries.
According to the Company, the sale of the generating assets
would remove the basis for Staff's adjustment and create a basis
for allocating equity capital away from the non-regulated
operations and to the regulated firms. If for no other reason,
Con Edison believes its "stand-alone" capital structure should
be used.

In response, DPS Staff states that the Company's arguments are flawed and the "stand-alone" structure proposed by the Company does not necessarily reflect the actual amounts of capital being used, or the use of rational or reasonable capitalization policies. Staff does not consider it reasonable to apply lower equity ratios to the unregulated subsidiaries than those indicated for the regulated operations. Were this to occur, Staff asserts that the non-regulated operations would obtain favorable access to capital at the cost and expense of the utility company ratepayers. Staff is certain that the non-utility operations face greater amounts of business risk and competition than the utility companies. It points out that the

Case 06-M-0878, <u>National Grid PLC and KeySpan Corporation - Merger and Acquisition</u>, Order Authorizing Acquisition (issued August 23, 2007).

published guidelines of financial advisory firms indicate that non-utility businesses have more risk than utility businesses and they are expected to have higher levels of equity at comparable bond ratings.

Addressing the practices of competitive energy companies, Staff states that, if Con Edison, Inc. were allowed to follow a similar approach, ratepayers would have to support more equity capital than if there were no investments made in non-utility operations. For this reason, Staff believes the Company's proposal should be rejected.

Staff also denies that the use of the capital structure it proposed amounts to regulation of the non-utility operations. It states that its capital structure proposal is warranted to assign costs properly and to ensure that the non-utility investments do not increase the costs paid by utility customers.

With respect to the Commission's approval of the National Grid and KeySpan merger, Staff observes that the capital structure used in that case was part of a joint proposal that the Commission adopted with modifications. It states that trade-offs were made and financial protections were applied that have no counterpart in this rate proceeding. Staff denies that a "stand-alone" capital structure was used in that case and it states that the equity ratio used in that case does not reflect other ratemaking concessions made in the case that inure to the benefit of customers.

As to the potential sale of the Consolidated Edison Development, Inc. generation assets, Staff states that it is premature to adjust the capital structures pending the sale of the assets and the actual retirement of the outstanding debt. At this stage of the proceeding, Staff does not believe that we should entertain any update as uncertain as this one.

We find that Staff has used a proper approach for calculating the capital structure to be used for public utility ratemaking purposes. Staff's approach considers the capital structure of the consolidated operations and it assesses the

amounts of capital used by the regulated and the unregulated firms. For our ratemaking purposes here, it is proper and necessary to determine the amounts of debt and equity capital that Con Edison is employing for ratepayers to be assured that they are only paying for the costs that the Company is incurring to support regulated operations and for no others. Con Edison's point about "materiality" is not logical, as it suggests that when competitive operations are small, cost assignment is not necessary, and therefore the subsidy can be ignored. Ratepayers should not be providing credit support for competitive operations regardless of their size.

The recent case involving the National Grid and KeySpan merger and acquisition does not provide any support for Con Edison's position here. A "stand alone" capital structure was not adopted in that case and the specific ratios adopted for those firms are not instructive for the calculations and determinations that must be made here. No valid comparison can be made between our action adopting the multifaceted joint proposal that permitted the two utility companies to merge and the ratemaking action that is called for in this case. Our standard practice is to adopt the results indicated by a review of the consolidated operations in which a utility company exists and to adjust the consolidated capital structure in the manner that Staff has done in this case.

This approach does not begin to regulate the non-utility operations as the Company alleges, nor does it subject the non-utility operations to a competitive disadvantage. Consolidated Edison, Inc. is entirely at liberty to conduct its non-utility operations as it sees fit, and we will assign the appropriate cost responsibility in the ratemaking process. However, the consequences of its non-utility operations cannot be allowed to have an impact on the public utility operations or add to the costs that ratepayers incur for their utility services.

Con Edison's argument that our assignment of higher capital costs to more risky competitive operations puts those

businesses at a competitive disadvantage is tantamount to saying that competitive operations can minimize their cost of capital through the use of high debt ratios which imply non-investment grade credit quality. This view is at odds with the financial presentations of virtually all the State's energy utilities over the last 30 years. If Con Edison indeed believes that high leverage and non-investment grade bond ratings lead to a lower cost of capital, then the company should not only explain the basis for this position in its next case but also why it should not be applied to utility operations as well.

Finally, the issue of the appropriate capital structure cost assignment for competitive subsidiaries was recently addressed in a National Fuel Gas rate case. In that case we stated:

We also note that the Company criticized Staff's equity/debt allocation of 60%/40% for competitive subsidiaries based upon evidence suggesting that the S&P 500 Industrial Companies have an average equity/debt mix of 40%/60%. This perspective, however, does not address a key element of our approach. It is not our intent to remove competitive operations at average competitive company capitalization ratios. We are removing competitive operations at ratios that would support the parent's rating at the level that it currently has. The Company's suggestion that competitive operations should be removed at a 40%/60% equity/debt mix is therefore antithetical. 44

Con Edison's exception is therefore denied.

Cost of Equity

1. The Exceptions

The judges recommended a 9.0% rate of return for Con Edison as proposed by DPS Staff, CPB and as supported by various other parties. For the most part, DPS Staff and CPB followed

⁴⁴ CASE 07-G-0141, <u>National Fuel Gas Distribution Company</u>, Order Establishing Rates for Gas Service (issued December 21, 2007), pages 35-36.

the guidance provided by the Generic Finance Case which established the general approach that the Commission has used for rate of return determinations in many cases for many years. The Commission has used the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) Method and, to a lesser degree, the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) to arrive at its cost of equity determinations. These methods are applied to representative proxy groups whose results are adjusted for the utility company being considered. Con Edison and Consumer Power Advocates except to the judges' recommendation.

According to Con Edison, cost of equity matters should not be limited by any particular party's view of the results of the Generic Finance Case. It points out that the Commission has never formally rendered a final decision in that proceeding. It also notes that Staff at one time supported the use of the Comparable Earnings Approach but ultimately changed its position without providing any explanation. The Company also observes that the parties to that proceeding agreed to an ongoing review of such matters as the Arbitrage Pricing Theory and the Fama-French model. Con Edison asserts that the Commission has not uniformly applied the Generic Finance Case approach over the years and that it has made modifications when warranted.

Con Edison claims to have identified a fundamental error in the Generic Finance Case approach and in Staff's use of the DCF Method. According to the Company, the essential flaw in the Staff approach is the direct application of market-derived values to the book measures used to set the allowed return. It states that the two financial concepts are vastly different and a methodology is needed to translate market returns into book returns. In support of its position, Con Edison states the following:

The Company does not claim that returns on historic book investment, rolled forward to the test year, is the wrong basis for regulating returns to providers of capital. Rather, the Company asserts the Generic Finance Case approach misstates, and in the current environment understates, the required return on book. It has

this error because its determinations of required return are all based on market variables, including the very basis on which it measures return—the significantly higher market prices of the equity of the peer universe (rather than the book values upon which the Commission actually authorizes returns).⁴⁵

According to the Company, there is no validity to the assumption that market value and book value should be equal, particularly given the current aggregate market value for the S&P 500 index which is 2.9 times the historic book equity investment. Making a similar point with the proxy group that Staff used, the Company states that this group has an average market-to-book ratio of 1.9 times. The Company states that such market-to-book ratios have persisted for decades in the electric utility industry. It therefore believes that the DCF and CAPM results should be much higher than Staff has recognized.

The Company also criticizes the Generic Finance Case approach for assigning to it the lowest return on equity in the nation, placing its stock among those of the troubled and weak companies. The Company does not believe that it should receive a return that will reduce its stock price to book value which, in its view, would contravene the Hope Natural Gas doctrine and recent industry trends. The Company believes that no rational investor would expect to incur a reduction in Con Edison's stock price to book values. It believes an adjustment must be made to book value so as not to understate the required return.

Rather than receive the lowest return on equity in the nation, Con Edison asserts that it requires a return that is at least 200 basis points higher in order to reach the average return for the proxy group Staff used in this case. Even if

Con Edison's Brief on Exceptions, p. 67. The Company also believes that the application of the Capital Asset Pricing Model calculation of a market return and its application to a book value of equity serves to dramatically and incorrectly understate the Company's fair return.

Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Co., 320 U.S. 591 (1944).

variations in risk are considered, the Company insists that an additional 200 basis points is necessary to avoid an abnormally low rate of return that could adversely affect its credit strength and financial viability. In the Company's view, it is in the long-term interests of customers to provide it adequate support for the infrastructure improvements that are being undertaken. Given various other recommendations made by the judges concerning energy efficiency matters, negative incentive mechanisms, the revenue decoupling mechanism and temporary rates (all of which in the Company's view increase its regulatory risks), Con Edison does not consider a 9% allowed rate of return on equity to be either just or reasonable.

The Company specifically proposes, in addition to the proper application of the DCF and CAPM methods, that we credit additional methodologies presented by its expert witness. Alternatively, the Company proposes that we provide equal weight to the DCF and CAPM approaches which would reduce the amount of reliance placed on the DCF method which, according to Con Edison, is subject to serious theoretical flaws, restrictive assumptions and severe measurement challenges.

The Company does not believe that the CAPM method suffers from the "beta creep" suggested by Staff. It notes that the betas for other New York utilities are also increasing which it believes is related to equity returns that are at historic lows and are subject to regulatory risk.

Staff applied a credit quality adjustment to its results of its analysis to which the Company objects. The adjustment was made for the bond rating difference between Con Edison and the proxy group. The Company claims there is no empirical market evidence of a relationship or correlation between credit quality and the required equity returns. It believes that the existence of any such relationship is refuted by the efficient market hypothesis that operates in modern capital markets.

Further, the Company objects to a 10 basis point adjustment Staff made for the revenue decoupling mechanism that

will soon apply to the Company. Con Edison would distinguish use of such mechanisms (and the need for any adjustment) from the cases involving natural gas distribution companies, like the National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation. If anything, the Company believes that the revenue decoupling mechanism will increase its regulatory risk should it be denied timely recovery of any sizable deferred balances. In any event, Con Edison does not believe the mechanism is sufficiently well formulated or tested to warrant any adjustment to the allowed return on equity at this time.

In sum, the Company believes that the judges failed to accept the results of acceptable financial models and they employed attributes of approaches that have no theoretical foundation and they avoided making adjustments in the Company's favor. Further, Con Edison fears that, if the judges' recommendation is adopted, the Company may not be able to retain its "A" bond rating without which its capital program would be more costly to finance. It states that Con Edison has already experienced weakness in dealings with the insurance firms that provide assurances for corporate and mortgage bonds. If the Company's earnings deteriorate due to an inadequate return allowance and other adverse ratemaking treatments, Con Edison states that it will not be easy to reverse a downward spiral in the Company's financial health and bond ratings.

Consumer Power Advocates agree with Con Edison that the judges' rate of return recommendation is too low. It urges us to allow the Company a 9.7% return on equity to help it raise the capital needed for infrastructure investments. This party states that the Company should not be provided the lowest return in the nation nor should the financial community be given any cause for concern. If the Company's ability to raise capital is seriously inhibited, Consumer Power Advocates believes that the costs for consumers will increase.

2. The Responses

DPS Staff continues to support a two-thirds weighting of the DCF method and a one-third weighting of the CAPM approach that the Commission has used repeatedly and has recently confirmed. 47 Staff acknowledges that no formal decision was entered in the Generic Finance Case; however, it notes that this framework has frequently been used, endorsed and accepted by the Commission. Staff supports the DCF method because it is used by other regulatory commissions and it employs readily available data and provides an analysis of investor behaviors. Staff accepts the CAPM method as a check on the DCF results; however, it has reservations about this method due to its reliance on a market risk premium, and an average beta, that has been increasing in recent years. Staff attributes the change to an increase in utility diversification and not to regulatory action in New York. Due to "beta creep," Staff acknowledges that the CAPM is producing higher return on equity estimates than it once did.

Addressing the Company's arguments concerning the application of market-derived returns to book measures of equity capital, Staff points out that one of the Company's witnesses stated that this practice is universal and has published a book which states that it is not unreasonable to apply market-based return estimates to book measures of equity.

In response to the argument that the Company's rate of return would be understated and the value of its stock impaired, Staff states that the Company's total return to stockholders has exceeded market returns over a recent, 25 year period (1981-2006) and, in the last five years, the Company earned higher than the S&P 500. It also observes that Con Edison has been able to issue debt and equity on reasonable terms.

Case 06-E-1433, Orange & Rockland Utilities, Inc. - Electric Rates, Order Setting Permanent Rates (issued October 18, 2007), p. 14; Case 07-G-0141, National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation - Rates, Order Establishing Rates (issued December 21, 2007), p. 40.

According to Staff, a significant flaw in the Company's proposal to adjust allowed returns upward for companies with high market-to-book ratios is the upward spiral it would create. Higher allowed returns would produce even higher market-to-book ratios which, in return, would require even higher allowed returns. Conversely, Staff states, very low market-to-book ratios would force reductions to a company's allowed return that would further depress its earnings and imperil its operations.

In response to the Company's claim that it should receive a higher equity return to match the returns allowed the other companies to which it has been compared, Staff asserts that Con Edison's allowed return for a one-year period should not match those set for multi-year periods. For example, Staff notes that a lower rated electric company in a neighboring state earlier this year was allowed a 9.4% equity return for a two-year period. According to Staff, this example demonstrates the reasonableness of the judges' recommendation in this case.

Staff also observes that current returns are lower than those determined over the last few years because interest rates have fallen to near-record lows. Since the time Con Edison filed its rate case, Staff observes, the yield on tenyear Treasury bonds has decreased by over 100 basis points.

Staff notes, as well, that Con Edison's lower-than-average cost of equity is consistent with its S&P business profile score which indicates that its risks are lower than those of most other electric companies. For this reason, Staff believes that the Company should not expect to obtain an equity return equal to the national average for electric companies.

With respect to the Company's reference to a 200 basis point spread between its allowed return and the group average, Staff states that the data Con Edison used for other companies is out-of-date, for multi-year rate plans, are for earnings-sharing thresholds, and apply to lower rated/higher risk companies without revenue decoupling mechanisms and weather normalization clauses. All of this leads Staff to conclude that

there is little support for believing that there is any such spread between Con Edison and other firms.

In support of the adjustment it applied for Con Edison's higher credit rating than the proxy group, Staff firmly believes that its adjustment is warranted given the different business and financial risk levels between the Company and the proxy group. Also, with respect to the revenue decoupling mechanism adjustment, Staff states that this adjustment is needed to recognize the reduction in risk for revenues, weather fluctuations, economic conditions and customer usage. Staff does not expect the Company's revenues to be as volatile as they once were.

Finally, in response to the Company's arguments concerning its financial integrity and credit rating, Staff states that Con Edison exaggerates the likelihood of a downgrading. Staff is opposed to the Company obtaining an unwarranted equity return allowance at an additional cost to ratepayers.

CPB supports the application of the Generic Finance Case approach to Con Edison and agrees with the judges that the Company's arguments for a different approach, and a higher allowed return, are not new. It defends the Commission's use of this approach over the years and the minor changes that have been made to the approach. CPB asserts that the Commission has, over the years, affirmed the Generic Finance Case approach in numerous cases.

CPB denies that there is any flaw in this approach related to the use of market and book values. It states there is no reason to modify the DCF method or to assign to it any less weight. With respect to the assertion that a 9% allowed equity return would be the lowest in the nation, CPB insists that this is the fair return for the Company given the risks to which it is exposed and that the return is consistent with the Commission's recent decisions in other rate proceedings.

Addressing the 200 basis points Con Edison claims between it and the average equity return for the proxy group,

CPB states that the Company's data suffers from substantial infirmities which place the claimed difference in doubt. Responding to Con Edison's assertion of circularity problems with the DCF and CAPM methods, CPB observes that the Commission dismissed these assertions in the recent case involving Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc. 48 Similarly, the Commission adopted, over the utility company's objections, a two-thirds DCF and a one-third CAPM weighting of the two approaches. 49 And, like Staff, CPB doubts that the judges' proposed return on equity would jeopardize the Company's credit rating.

NYC Government Customers also support a 9.0% equity return allowance. They understand that the Commission has repeatedly used the Generic Finance Case approach, has relied on the approach for over a decade, and recently affirmed its use with unequal weightings for the DCF and the CAPM methods. NYC Government Customers fail to see any flaw in the Generic Finance Case approach or in the DCF method. They also state that Con Edison has not demonstrated any material, recent change in financial circumstances to warrant a rejection of the DCF method.

NYC Government Customers also believe we should reject Con Edison's challenge to the allowed return by comparing it to other utility companies across the nation. It states that the allowed returns in other jurisdictions are irrelevant due to a lack of comparable regulatory actions from one state to another. If anything, NYC Government Customers states that the return proposed here for Con Edison is entirely consistent with the returns that the Commission has allowed other New York utility companies in recent months.

They also believe that the average return for the companies in the proxy group is distinguishable in many respects due to time differences and differing financial circumstances,

Case 06-E-1433, Orange and Rockland Utilities, Inc. - Rates, Order Setting Permanent Rates (issued October 18, 2007), p. 10.

⁴⁹ Id., p. 11.

including negotiated results, multi-year rate plans, and different regulatory practices and ratemaking policies. Also, the credit rating differences between the group and Con Edison, according to NYC Government Customers, supports a lower allowed return for Con Edison.

On all of these, and various other points raised by Con Edison, NYC Government Customers agree substantially with the positions stated by Staff and CPB. Westchester County also supports the 9.0% return on equity recommendation which, it states, is consistent with the returns recently allowed to other utility companies in New York.

3. Discussion and Conclusion

We find no merit in Con Edison's claim that the DCF method and the Generic Finance Case approach are flawed and should not be used without an upward adjustment applied to the indicated equity return allowance. The Company is correct that market-to-book ratios for many electric utility companies are currently, and have been for a time, substantially above unity. However, the existence of higher market prices does not necessitate an adjustment, in any way, to the calculation of the equity return estimate applied to the regulated company's book value for ratemaking purposes. The Company's argument suggests that it wants its rates set on the market price of its stock and not its rate base. This not only goes against the foundation of historical cost rate base regulation, but it creates the potential upward or downward spirals depending on whether stock prices are above or below book value. Moreover, Con Edison has provided no technical analysis in support of its premise and academic literature written by one of its own witnesses contradict this hypothesis. We are satisfied that the DCF method remains a valid and proper method in these circumstances and we are not inclined to modify it for the reasons presented here by Con Edison.

With respect to the Company's claim that it should not receive the lowest allowed equity return in the nation or one

that is 200 basis points below the average return for the proxy group, we do not find the Company's argument persuasive. The parties have demonstrated to our satisfaction that it is not clear that 200 basis points separate Con Edison from the group average. No such comparison or conclusion is possible on the record presented here.

The parties have noted a number of problems in the Company's position. Current returns are not available for all the companies in the proxy group and some of the companies in that group have returns that were established as part of multiyear rate plans and rate settlements. The returns set in such circumstances are likely to reflect the higher risks of multiyear plans and the trade-offs that often occur in reaching a settlement agreement. There are also risk differences between these companies and Con Edison, as evidenced by Con Edison's higher bond rating and lower business risk profile. 50 Also, many jurisdictions do not use a fully forecast test year as New York does or provide the same level of reconciliations and true-ups as is present in New York. Further, the equity return we are setting for Con Edison is entirely consistent with the method and results had for other utility companies in New York in these times of low interest rates. Finally, we find the Company's arguments regarding the risks created by the use of a revenue decoupling mechanism unpersuasive. Con Edison's concerns about the timely recovery of deferred balances are a red herring. Absent the existence of a revenue decoupling mechanism, Con Edison would have no ability to recover such balances in the first place. By contrast, the parties have adequately explained why a revenue decoupling mechanism will reduce the volatility of the Company's cash flows and earnings, and therefore its risks.

The equity return allowance we are setting in this case is fully intended and designed to sustain Con Edison's financial integrity and to provide it the resources it requires to attract capital. The ratemaking actions we are taking here provide it a fair opportunity to earn a reasonable return as the

⁵⁰ See Exhibits 253 and 254.

investors in the stock of this company would expect. Also, the adjustments made to the DCF and CAPM results on account of the risk differences between Con Edison and the proxy group as measured by bond ratings, and for the reduction in the Company's financial risk due to the introduction of a revenue decoupling mechanism are entirely proper and necessary. We are therefore rejecting the exceptions filed by Con Edison and Consumer Power Advocates and upholding the judges' recommendations for the reasons advanced by the parties who have supported the 9% equity return allowance.

We will, however, recognize two impacts on the cost of capital -- one that results from recent events in the bond insurance market and the other related to the overall risks created by our decisions on various issues in this rate case. First, Con Edison currently has about \$635 million of auction rate tax-exempt debt that is insured by Ambac Financial Group, Inc. and XL Capital. The cost of this debt is currently reflected in the revenue requirement at a rate of approximately 3.6%. In the past, this debt has consistently been among the lowest cost sources of financing to the company. The sub-prime mortgage crisis has, however, resulted in increased scrutiny for bond insurers and has caused the auction rate debt market to be very unsettled at this time. As a result, the recent actual cost of this debt, while still low relative to most other sources of capital, has been higher than the rate we have set in rates and more volatile than in the past. Recognizing this uncertainty, we will allow the company to true-up the interest expense associated with these issues, both positive and negative, from the amount reflected in rates. This will serve to insulate the company from this financial risk, and allow ratepayers to continue benefiting from this low cost debt.

Second, while the revenue decoupling mechanism reduces earnings volatility and necessitates a 10 basis point downward adjustment in the return on equity, the rate mitigation measures and additional revenue adjustments we have adopted create risks and uncertainties which obviate the need for a 10 basis point

RDM adjustment. More specifically, while the additional revenue adjustments are within the company's ability to control, and the rate mitigation measures have no direct effect on the company's earnings, they create added uncertainty about the Con Edison's future financial results. It is difficult to precisely quantify the specific risks associated with any of these items. However, we believe it is reasonable to conclude as a whole that the risk factors identified above offset the effects of adopting an RDM. Thus, we recognize the overall risks inherent in this rate case decision when concluding that no specific adjustment to the 9.1% base cost of equity is warranted.

Con Edison's overall rate of return will be set as follows:

Component	Percentage	Cost Rate	Weighted Cost
Long-Term Debt	49.65%	5.78%	2.87%
Preferred Stock	1.13%	5.34%	0.06%
Customer Deposits	1.24%	3.76%	0.05%
Common Equity	47.98%	9.10%	4.32%
TOTAL	100.00%		7.30%

COST ALLOCATIONS

NYPA Cost Allocations

Con Edison presented a fully allocated embedded cost of service study in this case showing that the New York Power Authority's cost allocations should be increased by about \$30 million. If the cost study results are adopted, in full, the Authority's rates would be increased by this amount and by the general rate increase that applies to all customers. The cost study results are opposed by NYPA, NYC Government Customers and Westchester County.

DPS Staff accepted the Company's embedded cost of service study results and proposed that a load diversity study be performed in the next rate case. Pending the results of the load diversity study, Staff has proposed that a broader tolerance band be used for determining the interclass revenue allocation in this case. Thus, Staff proposed that only a portion of the \$30 million be applied to NYPA at this time.

The judges recommended that one-half of the indicated deficiency, or \$15 million, be applied to NYPA to provide a more gradual rate change for the customers served by the Authority. NYPA, NYC Government Customers, Westchester and Con Edison take exception to the judges' recommendation. For its part, the Company continues to support its position that the entire \$30 million deficiency be applied to NYPA. Only if we set rates for a multi-year period would Con Edison support the use of a longer phase-in period for implementing its cost of service study results.

1. NYPA

The Authority urges us to fully consider the cost of service study and to decide this matter for the next three years. It believes the cost study should be rejected and that no changes should be made to the interclass cost revenue allocations for the next three years. If we adopt the judges' recommendation, NYPA believes that the \$15 million allocation should be for all the next three years. It firmly opposes the implementation of the entire \$30 million deficiency either in this case or over the course of several rate cases.

NYPA believes that the judges did not consider the embedded cost of service study to the degree, depth or detail that is warranted. Rather than render an overall determination, the Authority requests that we rule on each technical point it has presented.

To begin, NYPA states that Con Edison's Embedded Cost of Service (ECOS) study is flawed because the Company did not use contemporaneous data. According to NYPA, using the 2005 historic ECOS data to allocate 2008-09 revenue requirements does not accurately reflect the implementation of the Company's infrastructure expansion program. NYPA claims that the 2005 data does not reflect load growth differences that may have occurred among the service classes, particularly between the Authority and Con Edison's other customers. NYPA notes that four cost allocators set using the 2005 data (D03, D04, D08 and

D09) directly influence the allocation of about 82% of Con Edison's rate base. NYPA insists that the four allocators should be adjusted for the changes that have occurred in customer demands since 2005.

Next, NYPA objects to Con Edison's substitution of its recent earned return (9.03%) for the 2006 allowed rate or return (8.08%). According to the Authority, the return allowance determines the fair amount that should be collected from customers. It believes that the 2006 allowed return is the fair return that customers should pay. By using a higher rate of return, NYPA claims that the Company has improperly exaggerated the magnitude of the NYPA deficiency.

Given the alleged flaws in the embedded cost of service study, and its inherent imprecision, NYPA believes that the tolerance band used with the study should be increased from the standard +/-10% to a +/-20% range. It points out that Staff supports a +/-15% tolerance band in this case and the Commission has departed from a +/-10% tolerance band in other cases that required such action. If for no other reason, NYPA believes its +/-20% tolerance band should be used because the Company increased its overall return from 8.08% to 9.03%, an amount that exceeds ten percent. 51

On exceptions, NYPA also addresses the high tension and low tension system cost allocators. The Company used the highest summer or winter non-coincident maximum class demands to allocate the high tension system. NYPA agrees that the non-coincident maximum class demand should be used but only those for the summer period. In support of its position, it points out that the Con Edison service area peaks in the summer. NYPA claims that the summer non-coincident peaks are the most appropriate in these circumstances. The use of the allocator that NYPA prefers would decrease its cost deficiency by \$1.3 million.

⁵¹ This percentage increase is 11.7%.

Con Edison allocates its low tension system costs using an average of class non-coincident peak (NCP) and individual customer maximum demands (ICMD). For three classes, it uses 75% of the NCP and 25% of the ICMD for its allocator. NYPA claims that the allocations for the low tension system should only be made using individual customer maximum demands. This approach is supported by the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC) manual. Its use would reduce the NYPA cost deficiency by \$16.8 million.

NYC Government Customers also believe that Con Edison's cost study is materially flawed, claiming it allocates too much of the system costs to NYPA. They also claim that the functionalization of the Company's working capital, and the allocation of administrative and general expenses, contain numerous errors.

Addressing the allocation of transmission plant, NYC Government Customers state that a more accurate and precise measure of the system peak should have been used. The Company used the highest peak demands on five days using four-hour averages. Instead, NYC Government Customers believe that the Company should have used the highest five-day, single-hour peaks. They state that this would capture the "pure peaks" and avoid "near-peak" hours. It would not dilute the cost causation signal and would track costs better according to NYC Government Customers.

2. NYC Government Customers

Like NYPA, NYC Government Customers oppose Con Edison's high tension plant allocator. They contend that the Authority should have been treated as a single class to provide it the diversity effects that exist among NYPA's 14 subclasses. Diversity of demand allows utility planners to build plant on the premise that not all customers' peaks occur simultaneously. NYC Government Customers allege that Con Edison has overstated NYPA's non-coincident demand, and cost responsibility, by not using the 14 subclasses for cost study purposes.

NYC Government Customers also allege that the high tension plant allocator is flawed because of Con Edison's inconsistent use of two different demand factors. For all but three classes, the Company uses the higher of the summer or winter demand. However, for three classes (SC 7, SC 12 and SC 12 TOD), it uses the classes' summer demands even though they are far exceeded by the classes winter demands. According to NYC Government Customers, Con Edison should be consistent and use either the summer demands or the maximum demands for all classes. They state that the Company should not be allowed to selectively target NYPA to receive a greater allocation of the high tension system costs.

NYC Government Customers also object to the Company's cost study not having a customer component in the allocation of line transformer costs. They state that this is a clear error at odds with the NARUC Manual. To correct this alleged error, NYC Government Customers would reclassify certain underground and overhead transformers as part of the minimum system, and arrive at a 13.7% customer allocation factor. This would decrease the NYPA deficiency by \$2.6 million.

With respect to the low tension system, NYC Government Customers disagree with the amount of diversity benefits that Con Edison assumes for this system. They state that there are limited diversity benefits at the secondary voltage level of the distribution system. By adjusting the demand allocators the Company used to reflect slightly less diversity benefits on the low tension system, NYC Government Customers would decrease the NYPA deficiency by \$6.4 million.

NYC Government Customers also criticize the Con Edison cost of service study for using the same demand allocators for the underground and the overhead low tension systems. They believe that this is illogical, unjustified, inaccurate and unsupportable. They point out that Manhattan has very few overhead facilities contrary to the cost allocations that the Company made.

NYC Government Customers also disagree with the amount of working capital Con Edison included in its cost study and the way it was assigned. Working capital is up by \$1.2 billion and is four times greater than the amount that was used in the last cost of service study. They consider this to be unreasonable. They also disagree with the amount of working capital assigned to NYPA which, at \$143 million, is almost half of NYPA's total revenues. NYC Government Customers consider this an excessive amount and doubt that NYPA takes a long time to pay its Con Edison bills as this working capital figure suggests.

Addressing the functionalization of administrative and general expense, NYC Government Customers believe that this expense should be proportionate to the amount of operation and maintenance expenses. Con Edison allocated a disproportionate amount of administrative and general expense to the transmission and high tension categories which, according to NYC Government Customers, penalizes NYPA.

NYC Government Customers also allege that there is a disparity between the amount of the historic test year investments and costs and the forecast rate year amounts which makes the cost of service study results unreliable. Given the magnitude of the difference, and the difference in the cost structures for the two periods, NYC Government Customers believe that the 2005 cost figures are not relevant or reliable for interclass revenue allocation purposes.

For all of these reasons, NYC Government Customers believe that we should not reallocate revenue requirement responsibilities with a cost of service study that is as infirm as the one the Company has presented here. In their view, a uniform across-the-board increase should be applied to all customer classes with NYPA receiving an equal percentage increase on the current net-of-fuel, transmission and distribution revenue. If this proposal is rejected, NYC Government Customers propose alternatively that we correct the errors identified by their witness, and the NYPA witnesses, and

reduce the claimed \$30 million NYPA deficiency to a \$5 million deficiency.

3. Westchester County

Westchester agrees with New York City that there should be no re-allocation of revenues among the services classes at this time. Instead, it claims there should be another cost-of-service study collaborative process to examine the alternate methods for allocating demand-related plant. According to Westchester, the unprecedented expansion in the Company's plant additions places into doubt the previous allocators that the Company used. If we adopt the results of the Company's cost of service study in this case, Westchester County proposes that we limit the amount of the rate increase for NYPA, and any other individual serviced class, to no more than one and one-half times the overall average percentage increase. It points out that NYPA serves the County and 100 municipal entities in Westchester. They would incur about \$7 million in added costs under the judges' recommendation which would be passed on to residents and businesses as tax increases.

4. Con Edison and Staff Responses

The Company supports the judges' recommendation to use the cost of service study results and reflect one-half of the \$30 million NYPA deficiency in rates. Con Edison continues to believe that it is proper to implement the entire \$30 million; nonetheless, it concurs with the judges' finding that a range of competing views is possible due to the expert opinion and judgment that is required to functionalize costs, apply cost allocators, and assign costs to the customer classes. The Company points out that any amount NYPA does not properly shoulder will become the responsibility of other customers who would provide NYPA a subsidy.

Con Edison asserts that NYPA, NYC Government Customers and Westchester County have not presented new arguments in support of their positions and they have not demonstrated errors

in the results of the cost of service study. It does not believe that the opinions of witnesses sponsored by the opposing parties, about the alternative ways that the costs can be allocated, are sufficient to put aside the judges' recommendation. Con Edison states that the testimony it provided has been mischaracterized by the parties. The Company insists that its cost of service study is proper and the results can be used to align the costs borne by NYPA and other customers.

The Company considers unreasonable NYPA's proposal to resolve the cost of service study issues for the next three years absent a three-year rate plan. It observes that cost allocation matters should remain open beyond the rate year and the information presented in the next rate proceeding should be examined on its merits.

DPS Staff denies NYPA's assertions that it did not defend the cost of service study; that Staff only performed a cursory analysis of the study; and it did not seriously engage in the issues that were raised by the Authority and other parties. Staff responds that it performed a detailed review of the Company's cost of service study and has recommended additional load diversity studies as a result of its review. Staff also points out that it recommended that a +/-15% tolerance band be used in this case. Staff supports the use of the Company's cost of service study as a basis for resolving revenue requirement allocations along the lines that the judges have recommended.

5. Discussion and Conclusion

Some parties believe that the capital projects and improvements the Company has implemented since its last ECOS study differ from the past projects and this provides a basis for not applying the cost of service study results provided in this case. We do not accept the parties' premise, nor has it been shown on the record, that the new construction is for purposes that differ. To the contrary, it appears to us that

the current construction and plant additions are of a kind and nature that makes them comparable to the activity performed in the past. Moreover, it has not been established to our satisfaction that demand growth and system requirements have abruptly changed from when the cost data was obtained. We cannot conclude on this record that the demand allocators that the Company used would differ had more recent data been used. We therefore reject the notion that the 2005 cost of service study does not provide a valid basis for determining the cost responsibility for the various customer classes for the upcoming rate year. The study was prepared for this purpose and we find that it is acceptable and can be used.

The parties also ask us to modify the cost of service study results by picking and choosing among the expert opinions provided by the consultants and engineers hired to challenge the deficiency indicated by Con Edison's study. We are reluctant to do so for reasons similar to those provided by the judges and because there has not been an adequate showing here demonstrating that Con Edison has materially altered its cost of service study methodology and parameters from those used in prior cases, which the Commission found to be acceptable. Nor has any party shown that the Company failed to properly implement suggestions for which there was a full consensus during the most recent cost-of-service study collaborative process in which the parties aired their views about the mechanics of the cost of service study.

In this case, we are neither troubled by Con Edison's use of the 2005 data for the rate year cost allocations nor are we averse to the use of a more recent earned return for cost study purposes. Neither of these actions constitutes an error or an inadequacy requiring redress.

We find that the judges' recommendation to implement only one-half the indicated NYPA deficiency at this time is justified by the amount of rate increase all customers will experience and the need to avoid abrupt rate changes.

Gradualism is warranted here. As to NYPA's request that we

address cost of service study matters for the period beyond the rate year, it is not proper to do so in this case. Our ratemaking actions pertain directly to the upcoming rate year and without prejudice to subsequent rate periods.

Street Lighting

The judges recommended that the charges for street lighting facilities be increased by the system-wide average percentage rate increase. They recommended against using the 2005 cost of service study results to increase further. Con Edison excepts.

According to the Company, the current rates and charges grossly understate the street lighting service class's cost responsibility. The Company states that it has been under-recovering its street lighting costs for at least five years.

Next, the Company asserts that its street lighting costs increased significantly from 2002 to 2005. Contrary to the judges' understanding, the Company states that the amount of work it performed on street lighting equipment during 2005 was not abnormally high. It claims that a comparable amount of work was performed in 2006 and in 2007. For these reasons, the Company believes that we should accept the 2005 cost study results.

The Company also explains that it did not assign all of its stray voltage program costs to the street lighting service class. It assigned only the portion of these costs to the street lighting customers that are for the testing of the street lighting facilities. It states that the majority of the stray voltage program costs are paid for by all customers and not by the street lighting service class.

In response, New York City insists that the amount of street lighting costs incurred during 2005 were aberrational. The City states that Con Edison performed thousands of repairs during 2005 to meet the goals of the incentive ratemaking provisions that apply to street lighting facilities. From 2000 to 2004, the City states that street lighting service was

deplorable and an average of 3,645 facilities were out of service annually. It notes that the Company performed extra work in 2004 and 2005 to eliminate a backlog and in 2006 and 2007 the number of repairs dropped by half.

In response to Con Edison's argument concerning the assignment of stray voltage program costs, New York City continues to object to the direct assignment of any stray voltage program costs to the street lighting service class. In no other instance has the Company made any such direct assignments to any other service classes. New York City believes that all the stray voltage detection program costs (including those incurred for inspections made of street lighting facilities) should be generally allocated to the entire body of customers which was the Company's practice for 2,600 underground structures, 240,000 service boxes, and numerous manholes and vaults that required testing.

We find that the evidence does not demonstrate conclusively that the amount of work performed during 2005 on street lighting facilities is representative of the amount of work that will be performed during the upcoming rate year. New York City has shown that the number of facility points in need of repair went down appreciable after the Company eliminated its backlog.

With respect to the costs that Con Edison has shown for 2005, the cost figure is inflated by amounts the Company has incurred for the stray voltage detection program. Given the nature of this program which applies broadly to the Company's facilities, and whose scope is neither limited to nor exclusively directed towards the street lighting facilities, we find that the direct allocation to the street lighting class is not necessary and such an allocation should not be made solely for purposes of justifying a higher than average percentage increase for the service class. We reject the Company's exception and accept New York City's position.

RATE DESIGN

Customer Charges

The judges recommended against Con Edison's proposal to increase the customer charge for residential customers to \$15.21. It is unclear whether the judges intended to recommend that the existing charge at \$11.78 be retained or whether it should be increased to \$12.20. By examining the Company's 2005 embedded cost of service study, they determined that there was no support for an increase as large as the one the Company proposed.

On exceptions, Con Edison asserts that the judges' recommendation understates the amount of costs that should be recovered through the customer charge. The Company points out that the 2005 cost of service study showed for SC 7 customers costs at \$17.37 which supports a greater customer charge for these customers even if it does not do so for SC 1 customers. Con Edison also refutes CPB's claim that it is better to recover additional costs in usage charges to promote conservation and efficiency. According to the Company, efficient pricing would suggest otherwise and there is no evidence that an increase in the customer charges would negatively impact the use of energy.

Addressing the application of customer charges to low-income customers, Con Edison states that about 239,000 customers receive a \$5.00 monthly reduction. If the low-income program remains funded at \$12.5 million and the customer charge discount is reduced to \$4.25, Con Edison states that the program can provide benefits for 245,000 customers. The Company is opposed to Staff's proposal to increase the funding for this program but is quick to point out that an increase in the amount of benefits for these customers must be covered by a commensurate increase in the revenue requirements. As it has done previously, the Company proposes to defer for future disposition any difference between the targeted funding level and the actual discounts provided to customers.

Staff supports no increase in the customer charge for low-income customers. It proposes that the funding for this

program be increased if we determine that the customer charges for other residential customers should be increased. For the customers in SC 1 and in SC 7, Staff proposes that the customer charge be increased to \$13.38 which is consistent with the overall percentage rate increase that Staff has supported.

According to Staff, a larger amount of fixed costs should be reflected in the customer charge and the Company's volumetric charges should only be used to recover variable costs. Also, with customer charges at a higher level, less revenue would be subject to reconciliation through the revenue decoupling mechanism and this would reduce the amount that could affect customer bills.

CPB states that the Company's cost of service study only supports a \$12.20 customer charge for the SC 1 customers. It is aware that the cost of service study supports a \$17.37 customer charge for SC 7 customers but it points out that there are only 16,000 of these customers and 2.6 million SC 1 customers. It states that the established practice has been to apply to the SC 7 customers the same customer charge that applies to the SC 1 customers and not the reverse.

The 2005 embedded cost of service study provided by Con Edison in this case is not the best source of information for purposes of setting the residential customer charges. Commission typically examines the results of a current, marginal cost study to make this decision; however, the Company did not provide any such results in this case. Nevertheless, it is safe to deduce that any such study would have provided higher cost figures than those presented in the embedded cost of service study presented here. For this reason we will adopt DPS Staff's proposal to use the overall percentage increase found warranted in this case to increase the residential customer charge for all but the low-income customers. We agree with Staff, that the low-income customer charge should remain at the current level and it should not be increased. This action requires, as Con Edison points out, that the revenue requirement amount be increased. Also, as the Company has proposed, the targeted

funding level and the actual results for the current and the upcoming rate year should be reconciled and the difference deferred for future disposition.

BIR Discounts

Consumer Power Advocates proposed that additional Business Incentive Rate (BIR) discounts be provided for non-profit biomedical research facilities. The judges accepted Con Edison's position that an additional allocation was not needed.

On exceptions, Consumer Power Advocates claim that Con Edison presented erroneous arguments and, contrary to the Company's assertions, an additional allocation is needed. It states that the biomedical research portion of the BIR program is fully subscribed. It also states that biomedical sector has been successful in assisting economic development and growth. This party observes that non-profit organizations cannot take advantage of other economic development power programs. It also believes it is desirable to retain matriculated graduate students, and the firms they join, in New York. According to Consumer Power Advocates, there is a need to expand buildings and provide new facilities for this growing sector.

In response, Con Edison states that there is no evidence demonstrating a need for additional BIR discounts for biomedical research facilities. The Company does not believe that the BIR allocations need be increased.

We find that overall the BIR program is not fully subscribed and there remain discounts that should be available for the non-profit biomedical research sector. Accordingly, we see no need to modify the program at this time.

An exception was also filed by ARE-East River Science Park, LLC (ERSP) concerning Con Edison's proposed changes to the tariff provisions for the BIR program. The Company has proposed to reduce the amount of the BIR discount available to electric chillers in buildings that are within 250 feet of a steam main. The tariff revision would encourage the users of such equipment

to attach to the steam system where it is available. The judges recommended that the tariff revisions be implemented.

According to ERSP, the policy and practices used to support the economic viability of the steam system should not apply to economic development programs like the Business Incentive Rate. If the costs to own and operate steam-powered chiller systems are greater than the costs of using electric-powered systems, ERSP believes it is unreasonable to require the BIR program participants to pay the higher costs.

In response, Con Edison states that the proposed tariff revisions are needed to avoid disincentives for customers to use the steam system for cooling purposes. The Company notes that the capital and operating costs for electric chillers are generally less than those for steam chillers.

We find that the proposed tariff revisions are consistent with the long-term plans for the viability of the steam system. As such, we find the proposed tariff revisions to be acceptable. The party's exception is denied.

Monthly Adjustment Clause (MAC)/Market Supply Charge (MSC)

The judges recommended that, with the exception of the proposal regarding inclusion of RGGI costs, "other environmental initiatives" and recovery of unforeseen commodity related charges in the MSC tariff provisions, the Company should be allowed to implement its proposed MAC/MSC changes. They further recommended adoption of the Staff proposal that we order the Company to file a plan, within 60 days, to revise its MSC charge so that it reflects actual day-ahead market prices that were in effect during each customer's billing period, identifying specific issues that will need to be resolved and including a proposed implementation schedule.

The judges were persuaded by the County's concerns regarding the proposed scope of recoverable RGGI and other environmental or "unforeseen costs"; and accordingly found that the categorization of such costs was overly broad and the proposal itself was premature.

The judges found that the Company persuasively rebutted the arguments of RESA, the County and CPA by citing sufficient record evidence demonstrating that the proposed changes will result in rates that better reflect cost causation, consistent with the Hedging Order⁵³ and the January 23, 2006 "Order Concerning Petitions for Rehearing and Clarification" in Case No. 04-E-0572. The Company, RESA, SCMC, Reliant Energy, Inc., and the County filed exceptions.

The Company argues that the presence of testimony that the RGGI and other environmental costs here at issue will be incurred by the Company to meet the demands of its full service customers, and its claims that the RGGI program will become effective during the rate year (January 1, 2009) and may cause the Company to incur compliance costs as early as June of 2008, support the adoption of its proposal to recover these costs through the MSC. The County responds that the proposal is "too early" and that, even if some portion of such costs are "flowed through", others portions may more appropriately be capitalized or treated as standard O&M costs. In any event, the County urges that such costs should undergo regulatory review to decide whether and to what extent such they should be recovered. find that the Company has not overcome the concerns regarding the breadth of such costs or their potential for being premature. Thus, if such costs are in fact incurred during the rate year, the Company should petition for approval to begin recovery of such costs.

RESA, SCMC, and Reliant argue that the Company's proposal, if approved, would mask accurate pricing signals, harm the existing and developing retail market in the Con Edison territory, be inconsistent with the "15 x 15 initiative" and conflict with goals of accurate pricing and the encouragement of

Specifically, the April 19, 2007 "Order Requiring Development of Utility-Specific Guidelines for Electric Commodity Supply Portfolios and Instituting a Phase II to Address Longer-Term Issues" (Case No. 06-M-1017, "Hedging Order").

efficient energy usage set forth in the 2005 MHP⁵⁴ and Hedging Orders. They also assert that adoption of Con Edison's proposal to shift certain costs from the MAC to MSC conflicts with our policy initiatives supporting the development of competition. In the alternative, Reliant argues that if the proposal is approved, it should be approved on a temporary basis and, after some interval, be reevaluated to determine the effect on the retail market.

The Company responds that RESA, SCMC and Reliant have focused their exception on an allegation that the Company's proposal would adversely impact competitive markets and interfere with the State's 15 x 15 goal, but notes that none of these parties have put forth any evidence to substantiate their speculations nor have they provided a basis for continuing indefinitely a rate design whereby all customers bear certain costs that unequivocally are incurred solely on behalf of full service customers. The Company argues that its proposal as adopted by the RD satisfies RESA's objective of providing customers accurate price signals. It asserts that maintaining the status quo would continue to mask the true cost of providing service to the Company's full service customers. observes that, contrary to RESA's assertion, the RD recognized that the Company provided ample evidence that the costs it proposes to recover through the MSC were incurred on behalf of full service customers.

In response to Reliant's request for disclosure of pricing information, the Company asserts that such issues are being addressed in Case 06-M-1017, and thus should not also be considered here (or, if they are considered here, should be rejected).

_

Case 03-E-0641, <u>Proceeding on Motion of the Commission</u>
Regarding Expedited Implementation of Mandatory Hourly
Pricing for Commodity Service, Order Instituting Further
Proceedings and Requiring the Filing of Draft Tariffs (issued September 23, 2005) (2005 MHP Order).

The Company argues that Reliant's recommendation that the Company's proposed MAC/MSC changes be placed into effect on a temporary basis should be similarly rejected. It asserts that the relief sought is unclear and reflects a misapplication of Public Service Law §§ 114 and 72. The Company argues that these PSL provisions authorize the Commission to increase or decrease a utility's rates on a temporary basis if rates are deemed not just and reasonable, but are not relevant to a rate design issue in a permanent rate proceeding. The Company adds that (1) no party to this proceeding, including Reliant, raised any issue regarding the Company's right to recover the costs at issue and (2) adoption of its proposal would not result in any change in its revenues or the aggregate amount of costs to be recovered. The Company states that the RD correctly concluded that the Company's proposal is supported by sufficient record evidence and is consistent with Commission policy, and, as such, Reliant's exception should be denied.

Staff also opposes the exceptions of RESA, SCMC, and Reliant Energy, stating that the Company's proposal complies with the Commission's orders in case 06-M-1017 and, therefore, should be adopted.

We note that Reliant's arguments, like those of RESA and SCMC, are premised on the assertion that the costs being moved from MAC to MSC are not incurred solely to benefit full service customers or, as Reliant seems to intimate, are "below market fixed term costs." Neither RESA, SCMC nor Reliant persuasively demonstrated the veracity of their underlying premise. The Company, on the other hand, demonstrated that the costs at issue were incurred on behalf of full service customers. In addition, the proposal complies with our orders in Case 06-M-1017. Accordingly, the exceptions of RESA, SCMC and Reliant are denied. With respect to Reliant's request for pricing information and for approval of the MAC/MSC proposal on a temporary basis, for the reasons argued by the Company, the requests are denied.

The County renews its arguments against the adoption of the Company's proposal to simplify the calculation of MAC estimates by switching to a flat MAC rate per kWh, commencing May 1, 2008. The County claims that since some of the MAC costs are demand-related and some are energy-related, the current recovery mechanism, which reflects that difference, should continue. The County also repeats its claims that the proposed change will have a significant rate burden on the SC1 class. The County suggests that instead of approving the Company proposal, we could require meetings between Con Edison and parties to determine other ways to simplify the MAC calculation.

The Company responds that there is ample Commission precedent for recovering both demand-related and energy costs through an energy-only charge and argues that it is important to note that not all energy-only classes will experience an increase as a result of this change. The Company states that, in terms of customer impacts, the effect of its proposal on typical County and New York City residential customers for the 24-month period ending April 1, 2007 would have been an average bill increase of \$0.55 and \$0.34 per month, respectively.

The County's exception is denied. The County's arguments regarding the potential for significant rate impacts have been persuasively rebutted by the Company both as to amount and scope. In addition, we note that the proposal will be revenue neutral as to the Company. As a result, we find that the goal of simplifying the MAC calculation prevails and therefore deny the County's exception.

With regard to Staff's recommendation that the Company file a plan to revise its MSC charge as detailed above, we adopt that recommendation and will allow the company 90 days instead of the proposed 60 days to make that filing. Given the technical nature of this change, the additional time will allow the company to consider all the implications and to include a detailed implementation plan with the filing.

RETAIL ACCESS

New Customers

Retail Energy Supply Association (RESA) proposed that Con Edison expand its ESCO referral program to include customers who contact the Company for new service. The judges recommended that the Company fully evaluate RESA's proposal and report whether it is feasible to provide new customer referrals to ESCOs.

In its brief on exceptions, Con Edison states that if the Commission adopts the judges' recommendation the Company should be provided not less than six months to submit its report. The Company would also address its cost recovery for any expansion of the ESCO referral program in the report it provides.

As long as the Company's evaluation comports with an outstanding and applicable Commission order, Staff states that it does not except to the judges' recommendation. Staff notes that in an order issued on April 27, 2007 in Case 07-M-0458, the Commission determined that it may be appropriate to review ESCO referral programs to determine their effectiveness in removing barriers, to examine the costs of such initiatives and the extent to which the costs are borne by ratepayers.

We accept the judges' recommendation and the Company's proposal to submit a report. In its report, the Company should address how the HEFPA regulations will be met. Specifically, it should address Section 11.3 (4) which states that a distribution utility is obligated to provide service to any applicant who meets the requirements within five business days. The Company should demonstrate how RESA's proposal would not present an impediment to the timely provision of service as required by law. We expect the Company to provide its report in 60 days.

Customer Information for ESCOs

RESA proposed that Con Edison examine with interested parties ESCO access to customer lists, consumption information, and other data that could be used to develop tailored products

for specific customer needs. The judges recommended the use of a collaborative process to address this matter.

On exceptions, Con Edison states that the uniform retail access business practices that the Commission has fostered establish the customer-specific information that must be provided to ESCOs and customer privacy protections. It therefore believes there is no need for a Con Edison-specific collaborative process to pursue any such matters.

DPS Staff agrees with Con Edison and states that the uniform business practices provide a standard approach to the procedures that are used by New York utility companies in their dealings with ESCOs. Staff does not believe that any of the uniform business practices should be modified or discontinued without following the process that was used to adopt them. Staff states that consideration should be given to customer privacy and the protection of their information.

In response, RESA claims that a collaborative process should consider how to enhance competitive choice in Con Edison's service area. It is aware of the need to protect customer privacy and of the requirements continued in the uniform business practices. In its view, a collaborative process could explore the additional access that can be provided to ESCOs without violating any privacy rights and remain consistent with the uniform business practices. It states that the ESCOs want to develop a wider variety of products for consumers and to provide them additional benefits and choices. It believes this subject should be examined by the parties in a non-litigious environment to see if revisions to existing corporate policies and practices can be made. In its view, there would be no infringement of customer privacy rights or the provisions of the uniform business practices by conducting a collaborative.

RESA is not opposed to Staff's proposal that proper notice of in the collaborative be provided to the parties who participated in the development of the uniform business practices. It disagrees with the Company's assertion that there

are no Con Edison specific issues to warrant a collaborative process. RESA points to the Commission having recently directed a collaborative for KeySpan, and believes that it would be useful to consider Con Edison's service territory as well.

In Case 98-M-1343, the Commission addressed a similar matter raised by a petition filed by Accent Energy LLC. The Commission found insufficient reason to allow ESCOs direct access to customers' distribution utility account numbers. Instead, customers have had real-time remote access to their account numbers and their protection was maintained by ensuring that this access was secure. As a pre-condition to the release of the customer account number, the requestor would have to provide the non-public information known only by the customer.

This issue can continue to be considered in the review of the plans that were filed in Case 98-M-1343, as well as our review of uniform business practices in that case. We are not establishing the collaborative that RESA requested.

Customer Information for Non-ESCOs

Consumer Power Advocates (CPA) has stated that it is difficult for some electric customers to take advantage of competitive opportunities without adequate access to their account information. It proposed that customers, and their consultants, have the same access to the information that is provided to ESCOs. The judges recommended that Con Edison demonstrate that it is providing its customers and their representatives a fair opportunity to make informed decisions concerning the supply offers they receive from ESCOs.

On exceptions, Con Edison states that it provides customers and their consultants information that is available to ESCOs in the Retail Access Information System (RAIS). The company has offered a spreadsheet showing the information it has provided to the customers represented by CPA since August 2006. According to it, this demonstrates that the customers and their authorized representatives have been given an equivalent opportunity to obtain the same information that ESCOs obtain

through the RAIS. Further, Con Edison states that it is willing to develop for interested customers and their consultants access equivalent to the RAIS access for ESCOs. When such access becomes available, the customers and consultants will be able to view and download account-specific information one account at a time. This will reduce the manual labor that is currently needed to prepare the spreadsheets that contain the customer information.

In response, CPA states that Con Edison has not adequately demonstrated that it is providing customers and their authorized representatives a fair opportunity to make informed decisions about the supply offers they receive from ESCOs. CPA reiterates that an interested customer must request information in advance and the information is provided on an account-by-account basis that requires a long and laborious collation. Since this information is provided to ESCOs on a complete and continuous basis, CPA believes that it should also be shared with the customers in the same manner. It urges us to direct the Company to provide customer access to RAIS without delay.

We find that Con Edison should provide interested customers, and their authorized representatives, the means for obtaining access equivalent to that which the RAIS provides to ESCOs. Con Edison should provide to Staff and interested parties an implementation plan and timetable for achieving equivalent access for non-ESCOs. It should do so in 45 days.

DEMAND SIDE MANAGEMENT (DSM)/ENERGY EFFICIENCY

In Case 07-M-0548, <u>Proceeding on Motion of the Commission Regarding an Energy Efficiency Portfolio Standard</u> ("EEPS"), the Commission established a goal of reducing electricity usage 15% from expected levels by 2015. The Commission identified the rationale for the EEPS goal as "to reduce consumer bills, mitigate increasingly volatile fuel prices, prevent stress on the State's delivery system and reduce fossil fuel-related emissions"

The Company has proposed a program to achieve 500 MW of permanent energy efficiency reductions by 2016. The program target date and the reduction goal reflect the NYISO 2007 Reliability Needs Assessment, in which the NYISO determined there was need for 1,000 MW in new capacity in the downstate area by 2016. The Company's proposal consists of a targeted initiative focused on load relief in certain T&D load areas, where the proposed levels of DSM reductions would result in deferral of Company planned load relief projects (approximately 150 MW) and programs designed to reduce demand throughout the Company's service territory (approximately 350 MW). Although the goals of the program would be expressed in demand, all measures to implement the program would achieve permanent energy efficiency reductions.

Under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, Con Edison administers a targeted program to achieve 150 MW of permanent energy efficiency reductions, targeted to load areas to provide deferral of necessary load relief projects. Under the rate plan, NYSERDA also administers a 150 MW system-wide demand reduction program. The budget for each program was established at \$112 million, not including administration and evaluation fees. For the targeted program, additional expenditures are allowed up to the present value of construction revenue requirement reductions achieved by the deferral of planned T&D investments. At the conclusion of the rate plan, any funds collected by NYSERDA for the system-wide program that have not been committed will be returned to the Company.

Con Edison's costs under its targeted program have been approximately \$1,000/kW, which represents the outer limit authorized by the Commission and includes an allowance for deferred construction costs. Con Edison explains that this price is influenced by the fact the targeted program has geographic limits because it must target specific load areas.

The RD adopted Staff's recommendation that the Commission not authorize any new efficiency programs pending a determination in the EEPS proceeding of the optimal role to be

played by utilities in delivering energy efficiency services. The RD noted that the Company had proposed a six-month ramp-up period for the initiation of any new programs, and stated that it would be counterproductive for the Company to expend the resources to ramp up new programs while there is a possibility that a generic decision in the EEPS proceeding might determine a different role for the Company. The RD also found that the Company's proposals lack sufficient detail, and that a collaborative would be needed to develop detailed programs.

The RD found that the target for a new Con Edison program would be difficult to enumerate outside the context of an EEPS decision, in which the participation of other providers toward meeting the 15×15 goal would be determined. The RD also found that the Company's proposed 500 MW target would not, in itself, meet the 15×15 goal and would not fully address the Company's demand-driven construction needs.

The Company suggested in its Reply Brief that, short of implementing new programs, it is important for the Company to begin the market research component of its proposal. The RD found that market research is a priority, but that the Company could undertake market research with existing funds, under the assumption that market research could result in higher incentive payments.

As an interim measure, to maintain continuity until the EEPS proceeding produces a long term program, the RD recommended that Con Edison's Targeted Program be continued on its existing terms, with the Company authorized to contract for up to 30 MW in the rate year. The RD further recommended that NYSERDA's System-wide program be continued for the same reason.

For purposes of the interim program, the RD proposed that Con Edison continue to receive the \$22,500/MW incentive that it receives under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, without establishing a precedent for incentive policies to be developed in the EEPS proceeding. The RD did not specify whether this incentive should apply only to the Targeted Program or, as

provided in the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, to the System-wide program, SBC programs, and NYISO demand response programs.

Parties' Positions on Exceptions

New Programs

Con Edison argues that the RD errs in not authorizing it to proceed with its proposed 500 MW Energy Efficiency Program. Con Edison is joined by the New York City Government Customers and by NRDC/Pace in arguing that targets should be established and programs authorized in this proceeding. NYC notes that the City has already committed to invest 10% of its energy bill, or \$80 million in the fiscal year, to fund energy efficiency initiatives and that nowhere in the State is the need for increased energy efficiency more pronounced than in New York City. NYC further notes the January 24, 2008 Ruling in the EEPS proceeding declining to pursue a "fast track." NYC argues that the Commission should take action in this proceeding to avoid a delay in implementation of new DSM programs that could extend well into 2009. NYC states that Con Edison could expand its DSM initiatives and begin implementation no later than the summer of 2008.

NRDC/Pace observes that, while the EEPS proceeding will address certain generic policy issues, those matters could be decided in the case at hand, and there is ample evidence in the record to do so. NRDC/Pace argues that Con Edison should be assigned a 15% reduction target, consistent with the EEPS proceeding. NRDC/Pace opposes the suggestion that program size could be based on the extent of the Company's demand-driven construction needs. NRDC/Pace also notes that the issue of performance incentives has been more thoroughly examined in this proceeding than it has in the EEPS proceeding and is ripe for determination here.

Finally, the Company argues that at a minimum it should be allowed to begin to study market potential. The Company objects to the denial of \$2 million in labor costs necessary to begin ramping up, which would include funds for

employees to conduct market studies. The Company opposes the RD's rationale that it could initiate its own market research work which would likely pay for itself in the form of performance incentives. The Company notes that the Commission has authorized customer funding for a DSM Market Study Program for Orange and Rockland Utilities. The Company proposes that, if the Commission is reluctant to authorize the full increased labor expense, then it should at a minimum authorize a customerfunded study between \$500,000 and \$750,000, which could be used by the appropriate program administrator.

NYC and NRDC/Pace argue that the Company should be allocated a target based on its share of the goal. The Company responds that these parties do not take into account the potential contributions of other factors including building codes and appliance standards.

NYECC responds that Con Edison's request on Exceptions for market study funding does not identify an error in the RD and is not supported in the record.

Staff responds that it is troubling that the Company proposed specific budgets and program goals without identifying programs. Staff disagrees with the Company's alternative proposal to begin spending on marketing studies, arguing that they are not always essential and that some programs, e.g., the "fast track" proposals of the EEPS, are able to proceed without market studies.

Staff responds to NRDC/Pace by arguing that its position would undermine the progress of the EEPS proceeding which will determine policy on a statewide basis. Staff also argues that a collaborative process, if formed, should result in a proposal for the Commission's approval rather than authorizing the Company to unilaterally select programs.

Joint Supporters observe that a collaborative structure of stakeholders already exists and can be readily mobilized to assist in setting priorities for an interim program.

Interim Programs

Staff concurs with the rationale for continuing the existing programs on an interim basis, with three provisos. First, Staff notes that the current rate plan allows for lost revenue recovery by the Company. Because an RDM will be in place, the Company should not be eligible for recovery of lost revenues. The Company agrees, but argues that for the same reason it should not be required to institute a revenue decoupling mechanism unless new DSM programs are authorized.

Staff also urges that the Company be required to conduct an independent evaluation to measure program effectiveness. Staff argues that an independent program evaluation is essential because as the RD noted, simply meeting targets does not imply that the program cannot be made more cost-effective. Staff notes that independent program evaluation is a requirement for most major energy efficiency programs. Staff notes that Con Edison has not administered a major energy efficiency program portfolio in more than ten years and that its references to its former program are irrelevant to its present capability to conduct programs.

NYSERDA and NYECC agree with Staff that the Company should be required to provide measurement and verification data on the targeted program. The Company states that it does not object to independent valuation prospectively if it does not delay progress in establishing a program.

NYECC argues that there is no clear rational basis for recommending 30 MW of efficiency measures in the rate year, because Con Edison's revised request for continuation of its targeted program over an eight-year period estimated zero megawatts of installed reductions during the first year. The Company responds that installations in the first year are irrelevant to a program targeted to load relief, so long as installation schedules conform to the scheduled need for load relief.

Staff urges that the Company and NYSERDA be required to consult with Staff to develop the terms of interim programs.

The Company responds that it has met with Staff continually and there has been no showing that these meetings are inadequate.

Joint supporters urge that the Targeted Program be modified to include demand response and more effective deployment of distributed generation. The Company responds that the Targeted Program utilizes energy efficiency measures to establish permanent load relief that does not rely on intervention to reduce demand.

Staff supports continuation of the NYSERDA program, noting that it has exceeded its target at below-budget costs. Staff states that it is open to meeting with the Company and NYSERDA to consider updating the terms of the program.

Staff notes that an extension of the NYSERDA system-wide program needs to clarify whether the extension is up to the original target of 150 MW, or up to the budget allowance of \$112 million. The Company also notes that the program should not be extended for two years where the RD's recommendations are applicable for the most part to the rate year only.

The Company objects to any extension of NYSERDA's system-wide program, arguing that it has resulted in demand response, not permanent energy efficiency. 55 NYSERDA responds that the record demonstrates 55% of the MW reduction achieved through its program are either energy efficiency or distributed generation, both of which are permanent measures. The Company also argues that the Con Edison territory has not received a fair share of SBC funding. Staff agrees with the RD that this rate case is not the proper venue for considering the issue of SBC allocations.

Regarding the System-wide program, Joint Supporters support its continuation but urge that it be modified to enable smaller systems to participate.

The Company also claims that NYSERDA's programs cost Con Edison's customers more than Con Edison's programs when the same amount of money is spent, because NYSERDA requires prepayment for its programs. Con Edison's example of programs of equivalent cost is hypothetical.

NYC opposes the continuation of interim programs in lieu of immediate measures to establish new programs. NYC proposes that an immediate collaborative effort be ordered to produce a program proposal within 60 days. The Company does not oppose this proposal on condition that the collaborative be merely advisory and have no decision-making power.

Incentives

The Company urges the Commission to adopt, in this proceeding, the principle that utility DSM incentives should be at least as profitable as supply-side investments. The Company also argues that the proposed interim \$22,500/MW incentive would be plainly inadequate as a permanent incentive, and even on an interim basis should be adjusted for inflation.

Staff urges the elimination of the \$22,500/MW incentive and states that even if it were applied to the targeted program, it should no longer apply to the NYSERDA System-Wide SBC 3 Program and NYISO Demand Reduction Programs. The Company notes this is an interim measure, lasting at most one year, and that there has been no demonstration of a need to change the incentive during its expected short remaining life.

NYECC excepts from the recommendation to allow the continuation of the \$22,500/MW incentive, arguing that no incentives should be awarded for demand side management programs. NYECC argues that there is no inherent entitlement to incentives; that Con Edison did not request an incentive in the previous electric rate case; that a revenue-decoupling mechanism eliminates a need for an incentive; and that in no event should an incentive be granted for attainment of any goal that is less than superior in achievement.

NRDC/Pace urges the adoption of an incentive mechanism based on the structure recently adopted by the California Public Utilities Commission, which authorizes an incentive of 9% of net benefits upon achievement of 85% of the base energy savings goal, increased to 12% if the Company meets or exceeds its goal.

The CPUC model also provides for negative adjustments if the Company fails to meet a specified percentage of its target.

NYC states that an appropriate incentive payment can be included in the design of new programs within the 60-day period that it recommends.

The Company argues that negative incentives are unnecessary and unjustified. The Company analogizes to incentives for promoting retail access, which were not accompanied by negative adjustments. The Company argues that promoting efficiency is not a duty under the Public Service Law and that in no event should the Company be held responsible for voluntary decisions of customers.

Staff argues that the development of Con Edison's incentive proposal was not based on an economic analysis of its return on supply side investment. Staff notes that under the California incentive system, a utility would have to achieve 125% of its target to receive incentives amounting to 20% of program budget, and that the California mechanism also includes negative adjustments. Staff also argues that the parallels drawn by the Company between incentives for property tax refunds and for DSM programs ignore the testimony of the Company that it has reasons for pursuing DSM independent of financial incentives.

Other DSM Issues

NYC urges the Commission to adopt its proposal to create a DSM coordination board that would apply the expertise of its members to optimize the results of Con Edison's DSM Program. NYC claims that without proper coordination, money will be wasted and the achievement of targeted goals may suffer.

Joint Supporters argue that the Board proposed by NYC would not provide adequate stakeholder participation. Staff continues to maintain that a Board has the potential to delay planning and implementation and should not be adopted outside the context of the EEPS proceeding.

The RD did not recommend that the City's proposal be adopted, but recommended that it be considered in the context of the EEPS or in a subsequent proceeding. The RD noted that Con Edison is unique in having most of its territory represented by a single municipal entity that has committed substantial financial resources to energy efficiency.

NYC also urges the Commission to adopt two proposals: (1) that Con Edison reduce contributions in aid of construction that it charges to customers if they fully participate in DSM programs for new construction; and (2) that Con Edison amend its BIR tariff to require customer participation in applicable energy efficiency programs as a condition to receiving the BIR discount. Although the RD found that the proposals had merit but lacked specificity, NYC argues there is sufficient evidence to support a Commission order requiring Con Edison to develop draft tariffs so that other parties could comment, or for the Commission to require a small collaborative to develop the details of these proposals.

The Company responds that customers implementing DSM will reduce the need for CIAC and there is no justification for further reductions. Regarding the BIR proposal, the Company states that it is willing to discuss the proposal with NYC but there is no need for the Commission to order such a meeting.

Con Edison states that the RD errs by failing to specify the form that a collaborative would take if, as it recommends, a collaborative becomes necessary due to delay of a final determination in the EEPS proceeding. Con Edison urges that the Commission should specify the collaborative model approved in the Con Edison gas rate proceeding for developing an efficiency program for the last two years of the gas rate plan. This is a collaborative model that requires consultation but does not prevent the Company from moving forward with programs in the absence of a consensus.

Discussion

We agree with the RD that policy decisions regarding energy efficiency programs should be made in the EEPS proceeding. No new programs will be authorized at this time. In the context of the continuation of the targeted program, as discussed below, new measures may be adopted in consultation with interested parties and Staff.

Taking notice of developments in the EEPS proceeding, our assessment is that it is likely the proceeding will result in substantial utility involvement in delivering efficiency programs. In anticipation of further decisions to be made in the EEPS proceeding, we will authorize funds for hiring personnel, program development and market research. Because a lead time is needed to develop staffing and programs, it is reasonable to authorize the company to begin these activities now, without predetermining the outcome of the EEPS proceeding. The Company's proposal for \$2 million will be adopted, provided that the costs will be recovered through the MAC. A minimum of \$250,000 of that sum will be spent on market research, in coordination with Staff and interested parties, and the results of that research will not be deemed proprietary. The Company will submit to Department Staff within 30 days of this order its plan regarding the expenditure of the \$2 million. In the event that an order is issued in the EEPS proceeding that is not consistent with the efforts authorized here, any uncommitted funds will be credited to customers.

The RD found that the Company is meeting its targets within the budget established by the Commission, and that while the program could potentially achieve more cost-effective results, continuation of the program is justified by the need to maintain continuity pending a determination in the EEPS proceeding.

We concur with the RD and accept the recommendation that the Company be authorized to contract during the rate year for up to 30 MW of targeted energy efficiency measures, subject to the funding limits and other terms established under the

2005-2008 Rate Plan. The Company will consult with interested parties and will present an implementation plan for Staff review and comment.

In light of our determination establishing a revenue decoupling mechanism, no lost revenue recovery mechanism will be applied to the Company's Targeted Program or to any other efficiency programs.

We also agree with Staff that an independent evaluation of the Targeted Program must be performed in order to assess that general effectiveness of the Company's program as well as the effectiveness of targeted programs versus systemwide programs. The evaluation should be performed by an outside contractor selected through a competitive process in consultation with the parties to the collaborative formed under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan. Staff will review the RFP, the contractor selection process, and important draft work products. The results of the evaluation should be submitted to the Commission within eight months of this order. Funding for this evaluation should be recovered through the Company's MAC.

The results of the evaluation shall be available to the public. The evaluation shall include: (a) evaluation of program design, delivery, and implementation including opportunities for program improvement; (b) quantification of energy and demand savings and other potential impacts such as environmental benefits; and (c) a net to gross analysis.

Regarding incentives, the Company has noted the probable short duration of the interim Targeted Program. The rationale of providing program continuity on an interim basis does not support the extension of any incentives at this time. This decision should not be interpreted as a precedent with respect to any consideration of incentives in the context of the EEPS proceeding.

NYSERDA's administration of the system-wide program under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan has been consistent with the intent of the program, including the proportion of permanent efficiency represented by energy efficiency and distributed

generation programs. NYSERDA has exceeded the program target at a cost below the amount of funds that Con Edison's customers have provided through the MAC. Using the funds already provided to NYSERDA under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, the system-wide program administered by NYSERDA should be extended for the duration of the rate year, under the terms established in that plan. The extension of the system-wide program will not be limited to any specific MW level, but will be limited to the spending rate experienced under the 2005-2008 Rate Plan; NYSERDA may commit up to \$5 million per quarter, as well as administration and evaluation costs. Prior to commitment of funds, NYSERDA will also consult with Staff and the collaborative to update its system-wide implementation plan.

Under the terms of the system-wide program, NYSERDA is required to return all unencumbered funds plus interest to Con Edison. The contract will be amended - or a new contract will be executed - to allow NYSERDA to continue the system-wide program under the terms described above, for no longer than the rate year. All other unencumbered funds will be returned to Con Edison as originally scheduled under the existing agreement, and any unencumbered funds that may be held by NYSERDA if the continuation of the system-wide program is preempted by a decision in the EEPS proceeding will be returned to Con Edison.

Such funds returned to Con Edison will be reserved, with interest, and dedicated toward funding of EEPS programs implemented by program administrators authorized by the Commission in a future order in the EEPS proceeding. The Company is also ordered to add to this reserve by continuing to collect, through the MAC, funds that were formerly dedicated to the system-wide program, at a monthly rate of collection equal to that which was utilized for the last six months to fund the system-wide program. Such funds will also be reserved and dedicated toward funding of EEPS programs pursuant to a future order of the Commission in that proceeding.

The extensions of the Targeted Program and the System-Wide program are both subject to revision or revocation pending a determination in the EEPS proceeding that may be inconsistent with the continuation of either program, provided that any contracts previously entered into shall be honored.

Regarding the proposal of NYC to establish a separate DSM coordinating board, the issue of how efficiency programs will be structured among interested parties should be determined in the EEPS proceeding. NYC's proposal to reduce Contributions in Aid of Construction will not be adopted at this time, due to the potential impacts on ratepayers. NYC's proposal to require participation in efficiency programs from recipients of economic development power discounts is an issue that should be considered in the context of the EEPS proceeding.

RELIABILITY PERFORMANCE MECHANISMS

The 2005-2008 Rate Order established a reliability performance mechanism (RPM) for Con Edison. ⁵⁶ The RPM consisted of seven performance metrics to encourage the Company to provide reliable service both generally, and with respect to several parameters of special importance. Four special metrics applied to the repair of poles, removal of shunts installed as temporary repairs, renewal of service to street lights and traffic signals, and the replacement of circuit breakers with high fault-current levels (over-duty breakers). General metrics measure system-wide frequency of outages and duration of outages, as well as major outages. Exclusions are provided for incidents beyond the Company's control such as major storms or other catastrophic events.

Staff proposed: 1) that the RPM continue into the rate year; 2) that adjustments under the system-wide duration index

Case 04-E-0572, Consolidated Edison of New York, Inc. Electric Rates, Order Adopting Three-Year Rate Plan, issued
March 24, 2005 (the 2005-08 Rate Plan). The Commission
expressed a strong preference for performance-based
ratemaking in Case 94-E-0952, In the Matter of Competitive
Opportunities Regarding Electric Service, Opinion and Order
Adopting Principles to Guide the Transition to Competition,
June 7, 1995, at 8 (Opinion 95-7).

be increased from \$4 million to \$5 million to bring it to par with the frequency index; 3) that two new performance measures be established; and 4) that the amount at risk in the street light and traffic signal category be increased from \$1 million to \$1.5 million. Staff proposed that the metrics be placed in effect as of January 1, 2008.

The frequency index, or System Average Interruption Frequency Index (SAIFI) and the duration index, the Customer Average Interruption Duration Index (CAIDI) are divided into separate standards for network and radial distribution systems. The maximum annual exposure for the Company is \$5 million for each of the two SAIFI targets and \$4 million for each of the two CAIDI targets, with a total amount of \$18 million at risk per year. Staff's proposal to increase the CAIDI adjustments would increase the total risk to \$20 million per year. The RD recommended that Staff's proposal should be accepted.

The first new metric proposed by Staff relates to the Company's remote monitoring system for individual network transformers. Staff initially proposed that the Company should have 95% of its remote monitoring system units reporting properly in each network by January 1, 2008. If this was not achieved, the Company would incur a revenue adjustment of \$5 million/network. After January 31, 2008, failure to achieve the target level would result in a revenue adjustment of \$10 million/network with unlimited annual exposure.

The second new metric proposed by Staff would hold the Company accountable for restoration times for all outage events. Restoration targets would be established based on the emergency level created by the outage for overhead systems, and new thresholds would be developed for underground systems. Failure to meet those targets would result in a \$5 million revenue adjustment per event, with unlimited annual exposure.

General RPM Issues

The Company objects to the continuation of the reliability performance mechanism. The Company claims that

performance adjustments are unnecessary and create unintended harmful economic incentives to investors. The Company states that positive incentive regulation, offering the Company a reward for exceeding historical overall service levels, would be more effective. The Company also argues that performance adjustments are "penalties" beyond the Commission's statutory authority under PSL §25. Staff responds that there must be clearly defined consequences for failing to provide adequate service. Staff observes that it is disingenuous for the Company to seek incentives when it has testified that its statutory obligations are sufficient to ensure reliability and quality service.

The Company confuses the Commission's authority to impose performance-related adjustments on utility rates with the penalty provisions of PSL Section 25. PSL Section 25 pertains to the failure to obey a statutory directive or an order or regulation of the Commission. These statutory penalties are independent of our authority to mandate the provision of safe and adequate service at just and reasonable rates. Built-in performance-related adjustments, such as those we adopt here, allow the Company to earn its fair return by meeting its obligation to provide safe and reliable service through the designated service and reliability metrics.

The Commission has authority to reduce rates of return to reflect poor service quality and to index portions of the Company's return for the rate year to achievement of key measures of safety and service quality, as part of the process of establishing just and reasonable rates. Moreover, the Commission has on many occasions approved provisions specifying performance adjustments in the context of approving multi-year rate plans, and these adjustments have been made, when necessary. Indeed, in November 2007, we directed Con Edison, according to its current rate plan, to defer \$18 million for ratepayer benefit because the Company failed to meet the four system-wide reliability targets. In this context, the continuation and further adjustment of these performance

mechanisms which operate when Con Edison's service falls below the metrics we define in this order, provides continuing and consistent incentive for Con Edison to ensure safe and adequate electric service. We find that the reliability performance mechanisms approved in this order are an essential component of just and reasonable rates for the Company.

In implementing the mechanisms, we will continue to utilize the procedure developed under the last rate plan. The Company will submit an annual compliance report. The report will be published for comment pursuant to the State Administrative Procedure Act, after which Department Staff will recommend to the Commission the form and amount of any adjustment that may be indicated. The Commission will base its action on the report, any comments received, and Staff's recommendation.

SAIFI and CAIDI Target Levels

Con Edison argued that existing SAIFI and CAIDI standards must be adjusted to take into account the Company's recent implementation of a new outage management system called "System Trouble Analysis and Response" (STAR). According to the Company, STAR will detect more outages than its previous management system, resulting in a greater risk of exceeding thresholds mainly because the Company has gained better information.

The RD found that the Company has demonstrated that its enhanced outage reporting system is likely to result in higher reporting of outage frequency and duration, but that Staff had raised doubt regarding the degree to which increased outage reports would occur due to STAR. The RD recommended that the existing targets should remain in place pending development of new targets.

The RD also agreed with the Company that a standard based on a historical average should either reflect a standard deviation in setting the threshold levels, or allow for a deviation in the application of the standard. The RD found that

the Company has not demonstrated that its proposed two-standarddeviation deadband is the optimal alternative.

The RD further recommended that the adjustment amounts of the mechanism should be reevaluated. The RD noted that the significance of \$5 million has diminished, relative to the Company's total revenues and relative to the size of the Company's infrastructure program.

Staff objects to the RD finding regarding the need to revise the target levels. Staff argues that, while STAR is an improvement, it is still prone to error. Staff notes that a review of the Company's past performance for the years 2001-2006 has found that performance has fluctuated regardless of the operating area examined or the date when STAR was fully installed. Staff also claims that the target levels already provide the Company with an adequate level of deviation. ⁵⁷

Staff further proposes a doubling of the revenue adjustment to \$10 million for each target.

The Company objects to the RD's recommendation that existing targets remain in place until Staff proposes revised targets. The Company cites Case 00-E-1273, Central Hudson Electric Rates, Order Staying Reliability Targets and Rate Adjustments, Sept. 29, 2003 where the Commission ordered reliability targets to be reevaluated upon installation of a new Outage Management System.

Con Edison objects to the RD recommendation that the adjustment levels for SAIFI and CAIDI should be increased. According to the Company, the recommendation rests solely on an unsupported claim that the Company is unmotivated by the existing level of penalties to provide adequate service. The Company notes that its current exposure under all existing performance mechanisms would be \$95 million or 89.2 basis points. The Company argues that the amount of exposure cannot

The Company correctly objects that Staff's information provided on Exceptions was untimely and unfounded in the record. The information provided on Exceptions is not used to support the finding in this decision.

rationally be increased based on an increase of the Company's gross revenues or on the size of its infrastructure program because any reduction in equity return makes equity investments in the infrastructure program less attractive to investors.

The RD has correctly identified the policy that an improved outage management system may necessitate the reevaluation of reliability targets, if it is shown that the improved system results in indication of declining service that is caused by improved data collection rather than an actual decline in performance. The demonstration must be clear, however, in order to avoid the undesirable result of actual deterioration of service being confused with better reporting.

In the instant proceeding, the Company has not clearly demonstrated an increase in outage reporting caused by improved data collection, to the extent necessary to warrant a revision of the targets. Questions remain regarding the efficacy of modeling versus use of actual data, the efficacy of STAR in network systems as opposed to radial systems, and the extent to which deviations from historical norms should be incorporated into the existing targets. We concur with the RD that existing targets should be maintained, pending further development of facts regarding the efficacy of STAR and a potential revision of the targets in a future proceeding.

The Company is incorrect in arguing that the size of adjustment levels should not be evaluated in light of changes in the Company's revenues and construction program. The Company's overall spending and revenues are directly relevant to the effectiveness of potential adjustments. An adjustment level that was merely nominal would provide the Company with no incentive to achieve performance standards, and a disproportionately large adjustment level would risk encouraging uneconomic behavior. Staff's specific proposal to increase the

adjustment levels will not be considered at this time, but may be considered in a future proceeding. 58

Major Outage Mechanism

Staff's proposed RPM includes a continuation of the major outage mechanism which provides for a \$10 million negative incentive adjustment for each network shutdown event of three hours or more in duration or radial system interruption event in which 70,000 customers are interrupted for three hours or more. The RD recommended that the mechanism be continued, but that the definition of "major outage" should be reevaluated in light of the fact that neither the Long Island City outage nor the Westchester outages of 2006 met the definition.

The Company objects to the renewal of the major outage performance mechanism, claiming that Staff provided no evidence to support the extension and that metrics linked to one-time events are irrelevant to long-term reliability trends. The fact that the Long Island City outage did not meet the definition of "major outage" is deemed irrelevant by the Company, which observes that it suffered adjustments under the SAIFI and CAIDI mechanisms as a result of the outage. The Company also objects that the major outage metric serves unrealistic expectations that significant outage events can be entirely eliminated. Con Edison states that unlike the special metrics, the major outage metric does not directly encourage any positive actions on the part of the Company.

Staff responds that the Company should be accountable for major outages that are within its control and should have an incentive to prevent these outages.

We find that a major outage performance mechanism is not only relevant to reliability but is of critical importance.

5.8

⁵⁸ On February 22, 2008 the Company submitted a letter requesting that the portion of Staff's Brief Opposing Exceptions related to the proposal to increase these adjustment levels should be disregarded. In light of our determination not to consider the specific proposal at this time, the Company's request is moot.

The Company's planning and operations must take into account system-side duration and frequency trends, but also must address the risk of localized major outages and their potentially severe impact on affected customers. A major outage performance mechanism will not, as the Company argues, simply reflect an occasional unfortunate happenstance; it will induce the Company to plan and to implement efficient and effective system improvements under this rate order so as to avoid such events.

In light of the impact on customers of the 2006 Long Island City outage, as detailed in the proceedings pursuant to Case 06-E-0894, it is apparent that the definition of "major outage" should be reevaluated.

Staff offers a proposal for a revised definition of major outage. Staff recommends modifying the threshold for a major outage event on network systems to be the interruption of service to 10% or more of the customers in any network for a period of three hours or more. Staff explains that a 10% threshold would have captured not only the Long Island City network outage, but also the initial network outages in the Washington Heights network in 1999, where 15,000 customers lost service before there was a complete network shutdown. Staff argues that this would address any concern of the Company that the major outage metric would discourage it from shutting down a network even when system needs call for it.

Staff explains that, for Con Edison's network systems, it is necessary to use a percentage rather than a specific number threshold because the networks vary considerably in the number of customers served. Networks with relatively few customers serve mostly large commercial buildings; an outage of 10% is significant regardless whether the network serves a small or a large number of customers.

Staff does not recommend modifying the definition of major outage as it applies to the radial system. Staff explains that the Westchester outages of 2006 were caused by major storm activity, which according to Staff supports the need for a restoration metric but not a redefinition of major outage.

The Company objects to Staff's proposal as untimely and unexamined. The Company is correct insofar as a proposal put forward on Exceptions should not be considered if there is no independent basis for it in the record of the case and there has been no discussion of the issue in hearings or on briefs to the ALJs.

In a continuation of this proceeding, we will publish for comment the Staff proposal for a revised definition of "major outage," and Staff will promptly submit a report and recommendation to the Commission upon completion of the public comment period. The Commission will consider further action at that time.

Remote Monitoring System (RMS)

Con Edison's Remote Monitoring System (RMS) provides near real-time information to operators as to the status of network transformers. This information is critical during major outage events. RMS can provide readings on voltage, oil temperature, oil level, and tank pressure. Components of RMS include transmitters, pickup coils, and receivers. The importance of RMS is highlighted by the numerous specifications and procedures of Con Edison that reference RMS or data derived from RMS.

Because Staff has found that RMS failure contributed to the severity of the outages at Long Island City and Washington Heights, Staff recommended a new performance mechanism designed to encourage RMS readiness. Staff's initial proposal was that the Company should have 95% of its remote monitoring system units reporting properly in each network by January 1, 2008. If this is not achieved, the Company would incur a revenue adjustment of \$5 million/network. After January 31, 2008, failure to achieve the target level would result in a revenue adjustment of \$10 million/network with unlimited annual exposure. Staff did not propose a specific measurement interval.

The Company argued that Staff's proposed RMS performance mechanism was both unnecessary and unreasonably aggressive. The Company's goal for RMS reporting is to maintain 95% availability on a regional basis, with no network at less than 90% availability. The Company first achieved this goal in all three regions in April 2007. The Company claimed that Staff's proposed target of 95% availability in every one of the Company's 60 networks was not realistic, given the Company's sustained efforts to maintain these levels that have been unsuccessful due to inadequate equipment. The Company described in detail its history of dealing with vendors whose transmitters did not perform as promised, and its attempts to develop improved equipment on its own initiative. Approximately 21,500 first and second generation RMS transmitters remain in the field. The current failure rate for these transmitters is 6% per year, and the Company is engaged in a 10-year, \$125 million program to upgrade these transmitters to third generation units.

The RD agreed with Staff that an RMS performance mechanism was warranted, but agreed with the Company that a 95% reporting threshold for each network as of January 1, 2008 was not reasonable. According to the RD, the fact that Con Edison was able to improve its performance in the Long Island City network did not demonstrate that it could readily do so throughout its system. The RD also found that Staff's proposed adjustment levels were excessive, in the absence of a system wide cap on exposure.

The Company objects to the recommendation that a performance mechanism for monitoring systems is warranted. The Company argues that it has attained a high level of RMS performance despite the technological obstacles that it has faced, and that by the end of December 2007, only 16 of 60 networks reported less than 95% availability. The Company argues that it has steadily improved reporting rates but that the record does not show that the benefits of a 95% reporting rate would warrant the increased costs to customers,

particularly since service is not adversely affected at lower reporting levels.

On Reply, Staff proposes a temporary change to the target, establishing a target of 90% for each network, pending the outcome of a study to be submitted by Con Edison by May 1, 2008.

No party disputes the importance of network monitoring in ensuring safe and reliable service. We concur with Staff and the RD that maintaining a high level of RMS reporting is of such importance that it warrants establishing a performance mechanism.

We agree with Staff that 95% reporting for each network is an important goal, but we agree with the RD that a performance standard based on a 95% reporting rate is not reasonable at this time. Based on the Company's stated goal of 90% reporting for each network, we adopt a metric requiring 90% reporting for each network, measured at quarterly intervals commencing June 30, 2008. This is a reasonable standard that is well within the Company's ability to achieve, and the Company is given over three months to address any networks that may still fall below the target reporting level. The adjustment for failure to achieve this standard will be \$10 million per network per measurement interval. A reasonable cap on system-wide exposure is needed, and we adopt an annual cap of \$50 million.

The mechanism adopted in this order is an interim standard, with the intent of adopting a target level of 95% for each network when such a standard is found to be reasonable. The Company will provide a report to the Commission by June 1, 2008 that will: assess the problems that hinder the reporting rate of the RMS system, including any problems in attaining reporting rates of 95% for each network; identify possible

solutions; evaluate solutions as to their feasibility; and conduct a cost-benefit analysis for each solution. 59

Special Projects

Regarding the other special projects--double poles, shunts, street lights, and over-duty circuit breakers--the Company has incurred no adjustments for any special project categories since these measures were established in 2005. The RD recommended that the measures should be continued.

The Company argues that because it achieved each of the performance standards for the special projects, the performance mechanism should be eliminated. We concur with the RD that the fact all targets were met indicates the success of the measures and that it would be premature to eliminate the measures at this time. Because the special project mechanisms are all existing mechanisms that utilize a calendar-year interval as a reference, the RD found that an effective date of January 1, 2008 is reasonable, and we concur.

Regarding the replacement of over-duty circuit breakers, the Company has met the annual target of replacing at least 60 over-duty breakers per year. Replacement of breakers is necessary to allow the interconnection of synchronous distributed generation (DG), and \$8.8 million per year are included in the Company's revenue requirement to continue this program. The Company argued in the main case that the measure may not accomplish the result of facilitating interconnection, because the timing of outages to replace breakers is complex and the measure encourages replacing breakers on a piecemeal basis rather than replacing all of the breakers in a substation, which is necessary for interconnection of a synchronous generator.

_

The Company's letter of February 22, 2008 also requested that the Commission disregard the portion of Staff's Brief Opposing Exceptions related to a 90% RMS reporting standard. Our determination here is based on our own review of the record and information provided by the Company, most recently in its Brief on Exceptions, page 96, where the Company states that it has improved performance in each network to at least 90%.

Based on the incompleteness of the record on this question, the RD proposed that the Company's objection be denied.

Joint Supporters on exception argue that if the existing mechanism is not leading to increased connection of synchronous generators, it should be altered but not eliminated. Joint Supporters suggest a performance mechanism in which the Company faces an adjustment for failure to respond in a timely manner to a request for a substation upgrade to enable interconnection of a synchronous generator.

Staff replies that the complexity of the Company's network systems and the scheduling of construction work render the Joint Supporters' proposal unreasonable. Staff recommends that the existing mechanism remain in place, as the breaker replacement program is performing at near maximum capacity given the constraints facing the Company.

The Company argues that the proposal is untimely. The Company also notes that its website already provides information regarding the substation upgrade program and that the Company is open to input from market participants on targeting specific stations. The Company objects that the proposal of the Joint Supporters is not practical, due to the complexities of scheduling substation upgrades. In addition, the Company notes that the proposal fails to address: the potential for simultaneous interconnection proposals; the varying firmness of proposed DG projects; and the likelihood that some substations will not be able to accommodate interconnection even after an upgrade.

We agree with Staff and the Company that the proposal of Joint Supporters is untimely and not feasible. Because of the importance of demand reduction in the Con Edison service territory, and the potential contribution of synchronous distributed generation, we encourage further consideration of this issue.

Restoration

Staff proposed a performance mechanism that would hold the Company accountable for restoration times for all outage events. Restoration targets would be established based on the emergency level created by the outage. Failure to meet those targets would result in a \$5 million revenue adjustment per event, with unlimited annual exposure. Staff proposed specific threshold targets for outages affecting overhead systems based on estimated restoration times in the Company's emergency plans. Similar estimated restoration times do not exist for the Company's underground systems. Staff recommended that the Company propose underground thresholds within 30 days of the Commission's order in this case.

The Company argued that there are no current performance standards for emergency management and that rather than a performance standard, best practice standards should be developed.

Regarding the restoration mechanism itself, the Company argued that it is based on a preliminary event classification for storms that does not reflect restoration times established upon the assessment of actual damage. The Company pointed out that factors out of its control will frequently affect actual restoration time, while the exception in the mechanism for factors outside the Company's control is not well-defined.

The Company further argued that the restoration mechanism as proposed by Staff could have counterproductive outcomes because it would encourage the Company to focus exclusively on the restoration of customers rather than working collaboratively with local municipalities to address local concerns, and because it could inhibit the provision of mutual aid among utilities.

The RD found that Staff has demonstrated that restoration times are a problem that needs to be addressed, but that the Company's arguments concerning Staff's specific proposal were persuasive. The RD further noted that a revised

proposal for a restoration mechanism should be submitted following a full review of the Audit Report regarding emergency management.

Staff urges the Commission to adopt its proposed restoration metric at this time, arguing that an assessment of the audit report may change the methods the Company uses to achieve compliance but would not change the targeted values proposed in the metric.

The Company argues that the Commission's approach to audit compliance requires forward-looking cooperation as opposed to performance standards.

We find that communication of restoration times, and achieving restoration time estimates, are an essential component of the provision of safe and reliable service. We agree with the RD that Staff has demonstrated the need for a performance mechanism tied to restoration times. We also agree with the RD that the Company's criticisms of Staff's proposed mechanism have merit.

In order to advance the process of developing an optimal restoration mechanism, without placing an undue burden on the Company, we will adopt Staff's proposal on a trial basis with the proviso that there will be no negative rate adjustment for failure to meet the standard. The Company shall file a compliance report with the Commission within 30 days following any restoration period for which the restoration mechanism applies, detailing its performance relative to the restoration mechanism, and noting any exceptions that would apply.

CUSTOMER SERVICE STANDARDS

The judges did not specifically address Con Edison's proposal to discontinue the customer service performance incentive (CSPI) mechanism that was implemented with the three-year rate plan that is about to end. The Company has not proposed any similar customer service standards for the upcoming rate year.

DPS Staff has proposed that the prevailing CSPI mechanism be continued and that certain changes be made to the outage notification incentive (ONIM) portion of the mechanism. Staff also proposed that we double the existing amounts at risk and that conference calls with local public officials be covered by the mechanism. Staff proposed that the total amount at risk for the ONIM be increased to \$8 million and that the total amount at risk under the CSPI be increased to \$40 million. Staff states that its proposal here is consistent with the proposals it made for the reliability performance mechanism. Staff observes that the judges generally endorse the use of negative incentives and recommended increases in the amounts at risk.

In response, Con Edison states that performance mechanisms consisting of monetary penalties are needlessly harmful to the Company. It also believes that they are inefficient and inequitable. Further, Con Edison asserts that a penalty structure is beyond the Commission's statutory authority. The Company proposes that the entire CSPI structure proposed by Staff be rejected and that the performance standards only be used to monitor whether any remedial actions are needed. The Company urges us to establish a separate phase of this proceeding to give thought to a new, symmetrical structure of incentives and disincentives.

Con Edison does not believe that the Commission has subscribed to a negative-adjustment system of performance mechanisms. It states that the Commission previously indicated a willingness to determine the preferred structure for a given company on a case-by-case basis. In 1995, the Company states that its approved rate plan provided it opportunity to earn annual financial rewards and to incur financial adjustments. In recent times, the Company believes that its customer service performance has not warranted either an extension of the CSPI mechanism or an increase in the adjustment amounts. The Company has no objection to reporting its ongoing performance related to

the CSPI and ONIM standards; however, it insists that the adjustment-only measures are unjustified.

We find that the customer service standards that have been in place for the last three years should not come to an end with the end of the existing rate plan. Continuity and adequate protection of customer interests requires that such standards continue to apply until such time as any better standards or approaches are sufficiently supported for us to adopt them. We are not persuaded that we should completely forego the use of negative incentives as the Company suggests. We believe that they are useful and necessary to ensure that the Company seriously considers the customer standards and adheres to them.

Staff has proposed that we increase the monetary incentives for the ONIM portion of the CSPI mechanism and we agree that the higher amount is desirable as a measure of the significance of these standards in the context of the larger program. In a recent rate proceeding involving National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation, and elsewhere in this order, we have addressed our legal authority to require utility companies adhere to the service standards that are support by the use of financial incentives. We find no reason or basis to reach any contrary results for the customer service standards at issue here. Accordingly, we accept the DPS Staff proposals to continue the CSPI mechanism and to increase the amounts applicable to the ONIM portion of the program.

The Commission orders:

- 1. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file cancellation supplements, effective on not less than one day's notice on or before March 28, 2008 canceling the tariff amendments and supplements listed in Appendix 1 to this order.
- 2. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file, on not less than one day's notice, such further tariff revisions as are necessary to effectuate the provisions adopted by this order, including a \$425 million

annual increase to take effect April 1, 2008 as detailed in Appendix 2 to this order. The Company shall serve copies of its filing on all parties to this proceeding. Any comments on compliance must be received at the Commission's offices within 14 days of service of the Company's proposed amendments. The amendments specified in the compliance filing shall not become effective on a permanent basis until approved by the Commission.

- 3. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file, on not less than one day's notice to become effective April 1, 2008, such further tariff revisions as are necessary to effectuate an adjustment clause mechanism to recover, in the same manner as the Company's delivery revenue requirement is recovered in base rates, that portion of the revenue requirement associated with the overspent amounts (\$236.7 million). Such language shall specify that this portion of the revenue requirement will be subject to further Commission audit and review and refund and, continue to be recovered in this manner until such time as the Commission determines otherwise. The tariff amendments specified above shall not become effective on a permanent basis until approved by the Commission.
- 4. The requirement of Section 66(12)(b) of the Public Service Law that newspaper publication be completed prior to the effective date of the proposed amendments directed in Clauses 2 and 3 above is waived and the Company is directed to file with the Commission, not later than six weeks following the amendments' effective date, proof that a notice to the public of the changes made by the amendments has been published once a week for four successive weeks in newspapers having general circulation in the areas affected by the amendments.
- 5. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file within 90 days of the issuance of this order, a plan that revises its Market Supply Charge so that the Market Supply Charge reflects actual day-ahead market prices that were in effect during each customer's billing period, identifies specific issues that will need to be resolved and includes a

proposed implementation schedule along with milestones. The plan shall include draft tariff amendments and will be subject to Commission approval.

- 6. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file further tariff revisions, within 30 days of the issuance of this order, to become effective on not less than one days notice, that contain annual class-specific revenue targets and detailed descriptions of the revenue decoupling mechanism and the reconciliation process to be employed. The requirement of Section 66(12)(b) of the Public Service Law that newspaper publication be completed prior to the effective date of the proposed amendments is waived. The tariffs specified above shall not become effective on a permanent basis until approved by the Commission.
- 7. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to: a) revise its current funding agreement with NYSERDA, as required, in order to extend commitments to system-wide programs at quarterly levels not to exceed \$5 million plus administrative and evaluation costs; b) establish a reserve fund consisting of: unencumbered funds returned from NYSERDA previously collected for purposes of the system-wide program; and continued collection of funds that were formerly dedicated to the system-wide program, at a monthly rate of collection equal to that which was utilized for the last six months to fund the system-wide program; and c) within 30 days of the issuance of this order, submit a report to Department Staff describing the Company's plans regarding the expenditure of up to \$2 million related to energy efficiency for market research, personnel, and program development.
- 8. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file a Report thoroughly explaining the Company's internal management control processes as they were applied in the oversight and control of its capital expenditures during the period affecting by the 2005-2008 Rate Plan expenditures and including, at a minimum, the information set forth in Appendix 3 attached hereto, as well as the descriptions and explanations of

its budgeting and construction program, as detailed within the body of this order. This Report shall be filed within 60 days of the issuance of this order or by some other later date as may be allowed by the Secretary.

- 9. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to provide as part of its next rate case filing, for each year of a five-year planning horizon, a statement of its expected capital needs, (including changes to net plant), all its delivery and supply costs, its sales, and associated revenue requirements, and the future level of both Transmission/Distribution and Supply Prices for each major service classification over the time period. Further, Con Edison is directed to demonstrate that all reasonable means available for mitigating the size of any requested rate increase have been considered.
- 10. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file within 60 days of the issuance of this order a report reassessing the expenses of the mobile stray voltage testing program as related to the program's standby cost and reassessing its current operation to optimize utilization of its current fleet of vehicles.
- 11. Consolidated Edison Company of New York Inc. is directed to file within 60 days of this order, an initial report describing, as detailed in the body of this order, the methods and practices it currently employs to integrate energy efficiency and demand response resource planning with its T&D infrastructure planning to maintain the required reliability standards.
- 12. Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. is directed to file not later than June 1, 2008 a report regarding the feasibility of achieving a 95% reporting rate per network for remote monitoring systems, as described in the body of this order.
- 13. Except as herein granted, all exceptions to the January 8, 2008 Recommended Decision are denied.

14. Except as herein modified, the January 8, 2008 Recommended Decision is adopted as part of this order.

15. This proceeding is continued.

By the Commission,

(SIGNED)

JACLYN A. BRILLING Secretary

C. 07-E-0523 APPENDIX 1
Page 1 of 2

Filing by: CONSOLIDATED EDISON COMPANY OF NEW YORK, INC.

Amendments to Schedule P.S.C. No. 9 – Electricity

Original Leaves Nos. 160-A, 168-C, 168-D First Revised Leaves Nos. 136-A-1, 141, 142 Second Revised Leaves Nos. 144, 158-Y-2, 168-A, 168-B Third Revised Leaves Nos. 34, 59-D, 188, 236, 249, 279 Fourth Revised Leaves Nos. 7, 8, 10, 26, 36-A, 46, 59-H, 278 Fifth Revised Leaves Nos. 9, 158-Y-4, 259-A, 320 Sixth Revised Leaves Nos. 59-B, 159-A, 161, 168, 205, 255, 323, 325

Seventh Revised Leaves Nos. 80-A, 140, 213, 215-A, 237, 296-A

Eighth Revised Leaves Nos. 138, 159, 234, 243, 266, 270, 276

Ninth Revised Leaves Nos. 137, 160, 163-A, 281-A

Tenth Revised Leaves Nos. 81, 164, 281, 316

Eleventh Revised Leaf No. 238-A

Thirteenth Revised Leaves Nos. 59-A, 210, 251-A

Fourteenth Revised Leaves Nos. 89, 143

Fifteenth Revised Leaves Nos. 3, 202-A, 212-A, 240-A-1, 240-C

Sixteenth Revised Leaf No. 311-A-2

Seventeenth Revised Leaf No. 138-A

Nineteenth Revised Leaf No. 163

Twenty-Fourth Leaf No. 162

Twenty-Fifth Revised Leaves Nos. 96, 230, 232, 233, 240,

262, 264, 265,272, 274, 275, 311, 313, 322

Twenty-Sixth Revised Leaves Nos. 245, 314

Twenty-Seventh Revised Leaves Nos. 202, 315

Twenty-Eighth Revised Leaves Nos. 212, 251

Statement of Merchant Function Charge – MFC Statement No. 1

Supplement Nos. 60, 64

C. 07-E-0523 APPENDIX 1 Page 2 of 2

Amendments to Schedule P.S.C. No. 2 – Retail Access

Original Leaf No. 8-C
Second Revised Leaf No. 2-A
Third Revised Leaves Nos. 8-B, 173,
Fourth Revised Leaves Nos. 181, 182
Fifth Revised Leaf No. 180
Sixth Revised Leaves Nos. 177, 179
Seventh Revised Leaves Nos. 4-B, 22, 25, 27, 29, 139, 143, 144, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 178
Eighth Revised Leaf No. 2
Thirteenth Revised Leaves Nos. 8, 13
Sixteenth Revised Leaves Nos. 16, 18, 24
Seventeenth Revised Leaves Nos. 21, 23, 26, 28, 30

Supplement Nos. 22, 25

Amendments to PASNY No. 4

Original Leaf No. 7-B
Second Revised Leaf No. 10-C
Third Revised Leaves Nos. 23, 32
Fifth Revised Leaves Nos. 6-A, 6-C, 6-D, 6-E, 6-F
Eighth Revised Leaf No. 4
Ninth Revised Leaf No. 7-A
Twelfth Revised Leaf No. 5
Thirteenth Revised Leaf No. 3

Supplement Nos. 21, 24

Amendments to Economic Development Delivery Service No. 2

Seventh Revised Leaves Nos. 6-A, 7-B Tenth Revised Leaves Nos. 4, 5

Supplement Nos. 17, 20

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Operating Income, Rate Base & Rate of Return For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Re	Per commended <u>Decision</u>	Adj. <u>No.</u>		Commission Adjustments											As Adjusted By Commission		Revenue Requirement <u>Adjustment</u>		As Adjusted For Revenue Requirement	
Operating Revenues																					
Sales Revenues	\$	6,672,226	1a		\$	(4,600)	\$	6,667,626	\$	425,289	\$	7,092,915									
Other Operating Revenues		187,311	1b	_		76,061		2 <u>63,372</u>				263,372									
Total Operating Revenues		6,859,537				71,461		6,930,998		425,289		7,356,287									
Operating Expense																					
Fuel		3,041,326						3,041,326				3,041,326									
Operation & Maintenance Expenses		1,610,247	Sch. A P	g. 2		(38,609)		1,571,638		2,339		1,573,977									
Depreciation Expense		567,009	1c			(24,763)		542,246				542,246									
Taxes Other Than Income Taxes		1,007,063	Sch AP	g 3		(4,269)		1,002.794		12,333		1,015,127									
Gains from Disposition of Utility Plant		(30,812)	_	_				(30,812)				(30,812)									
Total Operating Expenses		6,194,832				(67,641)		6,127,192		14,672		6,141,864									
Operating Income Before Income Taxes		664,705				139,102		803,806		410,617		1,214,423									
New York State Income Tax		18,304	Sch AP	g. 4		10,579		28,882		29,154		58,036									
Federal Income Tax		54,0 7 4	Sch, A P	g 5		44,548		98,622		133,512		232,134									
Utility Operating Income	\$	592,327		=	\$	83,975	\$	676,302	\$	247,951	\$	924,253									
Rate Base	\$	12,935,238	:	=	\$	(348,376)	_\$	12,58 <u>6,862</u>			_\$_	12,586,862									

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Operation & Maintenance Expenses For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per Recommended <u>Decision</u>	Adj. <u>No.</u>	Commission <u>Adjustments</u>	As Adjusted By Commission
Admin & General Expenses Capitalized	\$ (11,374)			\$ (11,374)
Asbesios Removal	813			813
Bowline and Roseton Charges Bank Collection Fees	373 230			373 230
Benefit Cost - Program Change Labor	7 082			7,082
Betterment Program	-			-
Boiler Cleaning	612 30,574			612 30,574
Building Services / Facilities Central Engineering - Administrative	1			30,514
Central Engineering - Distribution	1,145			1,145
Collection Agency Fees	458			458
Communications - Telephone Company Labor - Program Change	14,503			14,503
Company Labor	556,336	2 a	(18,709)	537,628
AMR / AMI Saturation Savings				-
Consultants Contract Labor	10 517 1 601			10,517 1,601
Corrective Maintenance	4,258			4 258
DC Incentive Program	-			-
Disposal of Obsolete M&S	8,051			8,051
DSM Ouplicate Misc Charges	20,356 (19,970)			20,356 (19 970)
EDP Equipment Rentals & Maintenance	3,769			3.769
Electric and Gas Used	215			215
Employee Pension / OPEBs	81,151		(2.200)	81,151
Employee Welfare Expense - Nel Environmental Affairs	99,594 2,379	2b	(3,369)	96,22 5 2,379
Environmental Programs	1,064			1 064
ERRP - Major Maintenance	7,442			7,442
Exec_and Mgt_Incentive Plan				
Facilities Maintenance Financial Services	4,44B 6,096			4,448 6 096
Gas Turbines	3,108			3,108
Grounds and Buildings	331			331
Information Resources	24,098			24,098
Informational Advertising Injuries and Damages Reserve	4,477 39,601			4,477 39,601
Institutional Dues & Subscriptions	1,421			1,421
Insurance Premiums	25,612			25,612
Interference	91,985			91,985
LIC Outage Corporate and Fiscal Expenses	1,064 3 607			1,064 3,607
Major Maintenance Projects	-			-
Manhour Expense	33,298			33,298
Marshall's Fees Materials and Supplies	1,345 14,934			1,345 14,934
MGP / Superfund	24,739	2c	(12,621)	12,118
NY Power Pool	21			21
Other (Fossil)	2,576			2,576
Outside Legal Services Paving	1,877 271			1,8 77 271
Plant Component Upgrade	292			292
Plant Inspection and Repair				
Postage Preventive Maintenance	13 554 2,356			13,554 2,356
Promotional Advertising	2,350			2,330
RCA - Pension	-			-
RCA - Amortization of Hudson-Farragul	477			477
RCA - Interference RCA - Amortization of Hudson Avenue				-
System Benefit Charge / Renewable Portfolio Standard	118,287			118,287
Real Estate Expenses	2,070			2,070
Regulatory Commission Expenses Rents	26,431 54,433			26,431
Rents (ERRP)	71,162			5 4 ,433 71 162
Rents (Interdepartmental)	4,834			4 834
Research and Development	19,000			19,000
Routine Maintenance Scheduled Overhauls	1 273			1,273
Security	2,278			2,278
Shared Services	(7,989)			(7 989)
Steam Transfer Credit (Fossil)	(1)			(1)
Storm Costs Transformer Installations	5,600 55			5 600 55
Transformer Installations Tree Trimming	55 16,899	2d	4,001	55 20 900
Trenching	7 963		4,007	7 963
Uncollectible	37,124			37 124
Water Water Chemicals	744 88			744 88
Waterside (includes labor)	00			-
Other	127,227	2e	(7,911)	119,316
Total O & M Expenses	\$ 1,610 247 \$	Sch A Pg	1 \$ (38,609)	\$ 1 571 638

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Taxes Other Than Income Taxes For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per commended Decision	Adj. <u>No.</u>	Commission Adjustments	As Adjusted By Commission		•		•		Revenue Requirement <u>Adjustment</u>	Fo	Adjusted r Revenue quirement
Property Taxes New York City Westchester Property Tax Reconciliation Deferral Total Property Taxes	\$ 671,930 81,572 753,502	3 a -	(2,437)	\$	671,930 79,135 - 751,065	-	\$	671,930 79,135 751,065				
Revenue taxes	178,149				178,149	12,333		190,482				
Payroli Taxes	54,426	3b	(1,832)		52,594			52,594				
Subsidiary Capital Tax	4,228				4,228			4,228				
Receipts Tax	15,079				15,079			15,079				
All Other Taxes	 1,679	-			1,679			1,679				
Total Taxes Other Than Income Taxes	\$ 1,007,063	Sch. A Pg. 1	\$ (4,269)	\$	1.002,794	\$12,333	\$	1,015,127				

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service New York State Income Tax For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

		Per ommended ecision	Adj. <u>No.</u>		Commissi Adjustmer			: Adjusted Commission	Rec	levenue quirement l <u>justment</u>	Fo	s Adjusted r Revenue quirement
Operating Income Before Income Taxes	\$	664,705	Sch. A Pg	1 \$	139,	102	\$	803,806	\$	410,617	\$	1,214,423
Flow Through Items: Deduct Non-Taxable Income and Additional Deductions: Interest Expense		391,081			(9,8	394)		381,187				381,187
Medicare Part D Subsidy - Post-Employment Benefits		15,824		_	- (0.1	2041		15,824				15,824 397,011
Total Deductions		406,905			(9,8	394)		397,011		-		397,011
Normalized Items Add. Additional Income and Unallowable Deductions		F0.7.000	C-1- A D- 4		(0.4.	700)		542,246				542.246
Book Depreciation Contributions in Aid of Construction		567,009 1,855	Sch. A Pg. 1	ı	(24,	(03)		1,855				1,855
Capitalized Interest		10,055						10,055				10,055
Pension and OPEB Expenses Per Books		81,151						81,151				81,151
Total Additions		660,070		_	(24,	7631	——	635,307			-	635,307
Total Additions		000,070			(24,	(03)		033,307		-		055,507
Deduct, Non-Taxable Income and Additional Deductions												
NYS Depreciation		585,810						585,810				585,810
Removal Costs		160,688						160,688				160,688
Repair Allowance		14,553						14,553				14,553
Amortization of Capitalized Interest		3,881						3,881				3,881
Loss on MACRS Retirement		44,763						44,763				44,763
Pension / OPEB Expense - Funding		141,739						141,739				141,739
Westchester Property Tax Adjustment		597						597				597
Correction of ADR Tax Amortization		16,059						16,059				16,059
Interest on Federal Income Tax Audit Adjustments - Net		7,404						7,404				7,404
New York State Tax Law Changes		9,207						9,207				9,207
Interest on First Avenue Properties		2,752						2,752				2.752
WTC Expenses		(14,000)						(14,000)				(14,000)
Carrying Charges on T&D Expenditures		(49,883)			40.3	383		(9,500)				(9,500)
Gain on the Sale of First Avenue Properties		30,812						30,812				30,812
Total Deductions		954,382		_	40.3	383		994,765				994,765
Total Boddonia		00.,002			. • , .							
Total Adjustments to Income	_\$	(701,217)		_\$	(55,2	252)	\$	(756,469)	\$		\$	(756,469)
Taxable Income - New York State	_\$	(36,512)		_\$	83,8	350	\$	47,337	\$	410,617	\$	457,954
Tax Computation												
Current NYS Income Tax Payable @ 7 1%		(2,592)			5.9	953		3,361		29,154		32,515
Deferred NYS Income Tax @ 7 1%		20,896				325		25.522				25.522
Total New York State Income Tax		18,304	Sch APg 1	\$	10,5	579		28,882	\$	29,154	\$	<u>58,036</u>

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Federal Income Tax For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per Recommended <u>Decision</u>	Adj. <u>No.</u>	Commission Adjustments	As Adjusted By Commission	Revenue Requirement <u>Adjustment</u>	As Adjusted For Revenue Requirement
Operating Income Before Income Taxes New York State Income Tax	\$ 664,705 18,304	Sch APg 1 Sch APg 4	\$ 139,102 10,579	\$ 803,806 28,882	\$410,617 29,1 5 4	\$1,214,423 58,036
Operating Income Before Federal Income Tax	646,401		128,523	774.924	381,463	1,156,387
Flow Through Items Add: Additional Income and Unallowable Deductions Book Depreciation	567,009	Sch APg 1	(24,763)	542,246	-	542,246
Hudson-Farragut Amortization - Per Books	477			477 10,055		477
Capitalized Interest Total Additions	<u>10,055</u> 577,541		(24,763)	552,778		<u>10,055</u> 552,778
<u>Deduct: Non-Taxable Income and Additional Deductions</u> Interest Expense Statutory Depreciation - at Current Book Rates	391,081 268,443		(9,894)	381,187 268,443		381,187 268,443
Statutory Depreciation - Change at Proposed Book Rates	21,367			21,367		21,367
Statutory Depreciation - Change with Reserve Deficiency	1,648	5a	(13,627)	(11,979)		(11,979)
Removal Costs	160,688			160,688		160,688
Medicare Part D Subsidy - Post-Employment Benefits	15,824			15,824		15,824
Amortization of Capitalized Interest Westchester Property Tax Adjustment	2,039 597			2,039 597		2,039 597
Dividends Paid on \$5 Cumulative Preferred Stock	3,327			3,327		3,327
Total Deductions	865,014		(23,521)	841,493		841,493
Normalized Items: Add: Additional Income and Unallowable Deductions Contributions in Aid of Construction	1,855		(- , ,	1,855		1,855
Pension / OPEB Expenses - Rale Year	81,151			81,151		81,151
Deferred NYS Income Tax	20,896	Sch APg. 4	4,625	25,522	_	25,522
Total Additions	103,902		4,625	108,528		108,528
Deduct: Non-Taxable Income and Additional Deductions Statutory Depreciation - at Current Book Rates Statutory Depreciation - Change at Proposed Book Rates Statutory Depreciation - Change with Reserve Deficiency Repair Allowance Amortization of Capitalized Interest Loss on MACRS Retirement Pension / OPEB Expense - Funding Correction of ADR Tax Amortization Interest on Federal Income Tax Audit Adjustments - Net New York State Tax Law Changes Interest on First Avenue Properties WTC Expenses Carrying Charges on T&D Expenditures Gain on the Sale of First Avenue Properties Total Deductions Total Adjustments to Income Taxable Income - Federal Tax Computation	366,332 (21,367) (1,648) 14,553 1,842 26,426 141,739 16,059 7,404 9,207 2,752 (14,000) (49,883) 30,812 530,228 (713,799) \$ (67,398)	5b	40,383 54,010 (50,627) \$ 77,897	366,332 (21,367) 11,979 14,553 1,842 26,426 141,739 16,059 7,404 9,207 2,752 (14,000) (9,500) 30,812 584,238 (764,425)	\$ 381,463	366,332 (21,367) 11,979 14,553 1,842 26,426 141,739 16,059 7,404 9,207 2,752 (14,000) (9,500) 30,812 584,238 (764,425)
Tax Computation Current Federal Income Tax @ 35%	(23,589)		27,264	3,674	133,512	137,186
Deferred Federal Income Tax @ 35%	149,214		17,285	166,499		166,499
Amortization of Previously Deferred Federal Income Tax Depreciation - ADR/ACRS/MACRS - at Current Book Rates Depreciation - ADR/ACRS/MACRS - at Proposed Book Rates Depreciation - ADR/ACRS/MACRS - Reserve Deficiency Loss on MACRS Retirements Repair Allowance Capitalized Overheads	(38,759) (1,436) (2,539) (3,232) (9,617) (11,197)			(38,759) (1,436) (2,539) (3,232) (9,617) (11,197)		(38,759) (1,436) (2,539) (3,232) (9,617) (11,197)
Investment Tax Credit	(4,771)			(4,771)		(4,771)
Total Federal Income Tax	\$ 54,074	Sch APg 1	\$ 44,548	\$ 98,622	\$ 133,512	\$ 232,134

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Rate Base For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per Recommended	Adj.	Commission	As Adjusted
	<u>Decision</u>	<u>No.</u>	<u>Adjustments</u>	By Commission
Utility Plant Book Cost of Plant	\$ 17.337.861			\$ 17,337,861
Accumulated Reserve for Depreciation	\$ 17,337.861 (3,781,062)	6a	12,381	\$ 17,337,861 (3,768,681)
Net Plant	13,556,799	VG	12,381	13,569,180
	, , .			,,
Non-Interest Bearing CWIP	349,858			349,858
Preferred Stock Expense	2,366			2,366
Unamortized Debt Discount Premium and Expense	135,947			135,947
Deferred Fuel - Net of Tax FIT Refund Deficiency - Include Interest - Net of Tax	37,008 18,971			37,008 18,971
Unamortized Balance - Hudson Farragut	1,800			1,800
Customer Advances for Construction	(206)			(206)
MTA Surfax - Net of Tax	1,789			1,789
Working Capital	540,193	Sch, A Pg. 7	(4,807)	535,386
Excess Rate Base Over Capitalization Adjustment	184,509			184,509
Early Retirement Termination Benefit (1993) - Net of Tax	0.005			0.005
Early Retirement Termination Benefit (1993) - Net of Tax Low Income Fund - Net of Tax	9,095			9,095
Arrears Avoidance Program - Net of Tax	=			- -
DC Service Incentive - Net of Tax	(5,808)			(5,808)
System Benefits Charge/Retail Portfolio Standard - Net of Tax	(3,845)			(3,845)
Amounts Billed in Advance of Construction - Net of Tax	(5,218)			(5,218)
BIR Discounts - Recovery - Net of Tax	-			•
Emergency Demand Response Program - Initial Costs - Net of Tax	-			-
Direct Load Control Program - Net of Tax NOX Emissions Allowances - Net of Tax	•			-
Sale of NOX Emissions Allowances - Net of Tax	-			-
Cogen Technologies - Reimbursement for O&M - Net of Tax	-			-
Sale / Appropriation of Property	~			-
CATV Pole Attachment Revenue - Net of Tax	-			-
Partial Pass Thru Fuel Adjustment - Net of FIT	-			-
Washington Heights & WTC Security Initiative - Net of Tax	-			-
Customer Refund Associated with Divested Plants - Net of Tax Customer Refund Associated with Waterside - Net of Tax	-			-
Electric Reliability Penalty - Net of Tax	-			-
Rate Case Pension Deferral - Net of Tax	-			-
Rate Case OPEB Deferral - Net of Tax	-			-
Expiring Amortization of Deferred Costs - Net of Tax	-			-
Forgoing Rental Income - West 24th Street - Net of Tax	-			-
Rate Case Reconciliations - Net of Federal Income Taxes				-
Refund of Gain From Sale of First Avenue Properties	(46,315)			(46,315)
Refund of Customer Benefits From the Correction of ADR Taxes	(23,758)			(23,758)
Refund of Interest on ADR Tax Benefits	(831)			(831)
Refund of Interest on Federal Income Tax Audit Adjustments	(11,129)			(11,129)
Refund of Over Collection of NYS Tax Law Changes	(12,632)		10.713	(12,632)
Refund of Property Taxes	74.060	6b	(3,746)	(3,746)
Recovery of Carrying Charges on T&D Expenditures Recovery of WTC Costs	74,969 156,508	6c 6d	12,534 (156,508)	87,503
Recovery of DC Conversion Incentive Program	(4,500)	ou	(130,300)	(4,500)
Recovery of ERRP Major Maintenance Unexpended Fund	(5,244)			(5,244)
Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes	(1 642 505)	e.	(200 220)	(4.054.705)
ADR / ACRS / MACRS Deductions Change of Accounting Section 263A	(1,643,505) (298,381)	6e	(208,230)	(1,851,735) (298,381)
Vested Vacation	12,101			12,101
Prepaid Insurance Expenses	(1,729)			(1,729)
Unbilled Revenues	105,914			105,914
Contributions in Aid of Construction	14,231			14,231
Capitalized Interest	4,861			4,861
Advanced Refunding of Mortgage Bonds	0.450			
Repair & Maintenance Allowance - 2002-2006 IRS Audit	6,193			6,193
Customer Deposits Call Premium	33,799 (20,307)			33,799 (20,307)
Excess Deferred SIT (2007)	6,050			6.050
Deferred SIT	(234,315)			(234,315)
T. 10 . B				
Total Rate Base	<u>\$ 12,935,238</u> \$	Sch APg 1	<u>\$ (348,376)</u>	<u>\$ 12,586,862</u>

C. 07-E-0523

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Working Capital Allowance For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per Recomme <u>Decisio</u>		Adj. <u>No.</u>	Commission Adjustments	As Adj By Comi	
Materials & Supplies Liquid Fuel Inventory	\$ 5	5,715			\$	5,715
Materials & Supplies, Excluding Fuel	86	5,787				86,787
Total Materials & Supplies	92	2,502	-			92,502
Prepayments Insurance Rents Property Taxes PSC Assessment Interference EPRI Other Total Prepayments	15 166 7 1	0,747 5,138 6,119 7,949 1,694 173 2,012 3,832	7a - -	1 9		10,747 15,138 166,119 7,968 1,694 173 12,012 213,851
Cash Working Capital Total Operations & Maintenance Expenses Less: Purchased Power Expenses Gas Portion of Fuel Recoverable Fuel Costs Interdepartmental Rents Uncollectibles Pensions / OPEBs Subtotal	2,781 232 25 2	1,137 2,879 5,382 4,834 7,124 1,151	Sch. A Pg. 2 -	(38,609)	2,7	612,964 781,137 232,879 25,382 4,834 37,124 81,151 62,507
Cash Working Capital Subject to 1/8th Allowance	1,489	9,066	-	(38,609)	1,4	150,457
Cash Working Capital @ 1/8th	186	3,133		(4,826)	1	81,307
Add: Cash Working Capital @ 1/12th on Recoverable Fuel	2	2,115	-			2,115
Total Cash Working Capital	188	3,248		(4,826)	1	183,422
Total	494	1,582	-	(4,807)		8 <u>9,775</u>
Add: Working Capital Related to Purchased Power @ 1.64%	45	5,6 <u>11</u>	-			45,611
Total Working Capital	_\$ 540	0,193	Sch A Pg. 6_	\$ (4,807)	\$5	35,386

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Computation of Revenue Requirement For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	Per Commission			
Average Rate Base (Schedule A, page 6)	\$	12,586,862		
Rate of Return		7.34%		
Required Return	\$	924,253		
Income Available for Return (Schedule A, page 1)		676,302		
Deficiency	\$	247,951		
Retention Factor		58.302%		
Additional Revenue Requirement	\$	425,289		
Revenue Requirement	\$	1,206,872		
Difference	\$	(781,583)		

		Revenue
	Percentages	Requirement
Calculation of Retention ("Gross-Up") Factor:		
Revenues	100.000%	\$425,289
Revenue Taxes	2.900%	12,333
Uncollectibles	0.550%	2,339
Subtotal	96.550%	\$410,617
NYS Income Tax @ 7.1%	6.855%	29,154
Federal Income Tax @ 35%	31.393%	133,512_
* Retention Factor	58.302%	\$247,951

C. 07-E-0523 Appendix 2 Schedule B

Page 1 of 3

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service **Explanation of Commission Ordered Adjustments** For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009

	(\$000's)	,		
Adj. <u>No.</u>	Explanation			Amount
	Operating Revenues - Schedule A Page 1			
1a	Sales Revenues Low Income Program To reflect Commission increase to the low-income program. Total Adjustment to Sales Revenues	\$ (4,600)	\$ (4,600)	
16	Other Operating Revenues To reflect the return of deferred property tax refund. To reflect \$9.5 million allowed recovery of deferred T&D carrying charges. To reflect the return of Stony Point Tax Refund. To reflect \$14 million recovery of deferred WTC costs. Total Adjustment to Other Operating Revenues	11,200 40,383 1,208 23,270	<u>76,061</u>	74.404
	Total Adjustment to Operating Revenues			\$ 71,461
1c	Depreciation Expense - Schedule A Page 1 To reflect 15 year amortization of reserve deficiency in excess of 10% Operation and Maintenance Expenses - Schedule A Page 2	band.		\$ (24,763)
2a	Company Labor To reflect an allowance of 20 percent of the 5 Year OH Inspection Program. To reflect the disallowance of Company's Variable Plan Program. To reflect adjustment to Company historic year normalization. To reflect the allowance of 24 Trouble Shooters for Control Center Emergency Screening. Tracking adjustment to reflect escalation on incremental allowed labor cost. Total adjustment to Company Labor	\$ (3,155) (11,200) (2,617) (613) (1,124)	(18,709)	
2b	Employee Welfare Expense Tracking adjustment to reflect increases in allowed employee levels.		(3,369)	
2c	MGP/Superfund To reflect a 10-year amortization of projected costs.		(12,621)	
2d	Tree Trimming To reflect allowance of \$13.755 million for distribution line clearance program.		4,001	

C. 07-E-0523 Appendix 2 Schedule B

Page 2 of 3

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Explanation of Commission Ordered Adjustments For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009 (\$000's)

	(\$UUU'S)				
Adj. <u>No.</u>	Explanation			<u>A</u>	<u>mount</u>
2e	Other To reflect the disallowance of Company's fuel cost update. To reflect 75,447 underground inspections at \$319.20 per inspection. To reflect an allowance of 20 percent of the 5 Year OH Inspection Program. To reflect an allowance of \$4.357 million for network transformer vault cleaning. To reflect an additional allowance of \$4 million for stray voltage detection. To reflect disallowance of stock-based Deferred Compensation Plan. Total adjustment to Other O&M Total Adjustment to O&M Expenses	\$ (366) 4,931 (1,199) (1,131) 4,000 (14,146)	<u>\$ (7,911)</u>	\$	(38,609)
	Taxes Other Than Income Taxes - Schedule A Page 3				
3a 3b	Property Taxes To reflect savings from Stony Point Settlement. Payroll Taxes Tracking adjustment to reflect increases in authorized employee payroll. Total Adjustment to Taxes Other Than Income Taxes		(2,437)	\$	(4,269)
	Federal Income Tax - Schedule A Page 5				
5а	Flow Thru Items: Tracking adjustment for Statutory Depreciation reflecting adjustments to reserve deficiency.		(13,627)		
	Normalized Items:				
5b	Tracking adjustment for Statutory Depreciation reflecting adjustments to reserve deficiency.		13,627		

C. 07-E-0523

Appendix 2 Schedule B Page 3 of 3

\$ (348,376)

Consolidated Edison Company of New York, Inc. Electric Service Explanation of Commission Ordered Adjustments For the Twelve Months Ending March 31, 2009

(\$000's)

	(\$000'\$)			
Adj. <u>No.</u>	Explanation		4	<u>Amount</u>
	Rate Base - Schedule A Page 6			
6a	Accumulated Reserve for Depreciation To reflect depreciation change related to amortization of deficiency.	12,381		
6b	Property Tax Refund To reflect unamortized property tax refund balance in rate base. To reflect Stony Point Tax Refund.	(3,382) (364)		
6-	Deferred TVD Coming Charges	(3,746)		
6c	Deferred T&D Carrying Charges To reflect Commission allowed recovery.	12,534		
6d	WTC Costs			
	To remove WTC costs from rate base.	(156,508)		
6e	Deferred Federal Income Taxes			
	To reflect tax benefits from 2008 Economic Stimulus Act.	(208,230)		
	Subtotal Adjustment to Rate Base		\$	(343,569)
	Working Capital - Schedule A Page 7			
	Cash Working Capital Adjustment	(4,826)		
7a	Prepayments To reflect the tracking adjustment related to the change of prepaid PSC Assessment.	19		
	Total Adjustment to Working Capital		\$	(4,807)

Total Adjustments to Rate Base

Con Edison Procurement/Budget Questions

- 1. Provide the detailed annual Capital Budgets applicable to the 2005-2008 Rate Plan.
- 2. Describe the overall business strategy on which the Capital Budgets identified in Question 1 are based. Provide all engineering, financial and operating forecasts used to develop this business strategy and any related planning documents used in its development.
- 3. Provide the "guidance document" used by management in the preparation of each Capital Budget identified in Question 1.
- 4. Provide the "Capital Budget Request Forms" for each project identified in Question 1.
- 5. Provide the budget documentation that was prepared and submitted by Program and Construction Managers that was required for budget submission for each project identified in Question 1.
- 6. Provide all documents and analyses used by management to develop the budgets identified in Question 1, and all recommendations made by Financial Forecasting and Corporate Budgeting, as well as the Corporate Policy Committee during the preparation of the final budget and as part of the formal presentation before the Board of Directors.
- 7. Provide the budget packages that were submitted to the Board of Directors for approval for each budget identified in Question 1.
- 8. Provide the Board of Director meeting minutes showing the review and approval of each budget identified in Question 1.
- 9. Provide all budget additions and amendments to the annual Capital Budgets identified in Question 1 including supporting documentation. To the extent these changes were reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors, provide the supporting documentation. To the extent these changes were not approved by the Board of Directors, explain why.
- 10. Provide the Capital Budget Status Report for every month starting in April 2005.
- 11. Provide the "post completion review and evaluation" as required for all projects with a total cost of \$2 million or more that are included in Question 1.
- 12. For each project identified in Question 1, in addition to the budgeted cost, provide the original approved authorization amount, original approved inservice date, actual installed cost or current cost estimate, and actual or current in-service date estimate.

C. 07-E-0523 Appendix 3 Page 2 of 2

Con Edison Procurement/Budget Questions

- 13. For each project identified in Question 1, where the actual cost exceeded or current cost estimate exceeds the original budgeted cost, defined as the amount first presented to the Board of Directors, by more than 10%, provide a detailed explanation and justification for the variance broken down between labor, materials, and other categories as needed.
- 14. For the list of projects identified in Question 1, identify each project where the "Current Working Estimate" exceeded the approved authorization and provide the "Capital Budget Request" to increase the authorization and/or appropriation.
- 15. Provide the purchase requisitions for all expedited, emergency, non-competitive or sole-source bids and/or contracts for the period covered by the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, including all documentation supporting the purchase.
- 16. For the period covered by the 2005-2008 Rate Plan, by year, provide a list of contractors or suppliers who provided goods and/or services to Con Edison. Identify the specific contracts and costs in the following categories:
 - •Less than \$100,000
 - •\$100,000 to \$1 million
 - •\$1 million to \$2.5 million
 - •Over \$2.5 million